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Tier 1 17.4 16.8 16.3 16.0 15.5
BIS 1 22.6 24.2 25.2 26.6 26.2
2 7.3 7.0 6.3 6.4 6.0
211,855 205,773 205,797 200,531 198,269
121,638 131,361 151,742 153,223 160,407
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(
71 88 70 79
14
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021 12
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2021 14
2021 IRB
RC AC RC-AC
IRRBB
ICAAP/ILAAP/ ECB
2021 COVID-19
COVID-19
ICAAP/1LAAP
RMF

RMF
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i ALM
ii GDPR
iii RCF iv
v Vi
vii BCBS239
DLL KYC
2021
DLL

IT

2021 2022
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WIN
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DLL BPD

2021

TLTRO
KYC
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PwC
COREP FINREP

CCA

2021

2021

50
25
25
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2021 10
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COVID-19

GMC

GMC

201/559



EDINETOOOO
O000DO00oDO000o0Oo00oOodnoE.s23)
oOoOooodn

2021 14

GMC

2021
GMC
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2021 GMC
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2020
2022 10

KYC
KYC

DLL CEO

EBA/ESMA

@

2016
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PwC
2021
2020
PuC PuC
8.8 8.5 17.3
1.5 0.5 2.0
- 0.3 0.3
10.3 9.3 19.6
2021
PwC PWC
8.7 9.2 17.9
1.6 0.4 2.0
- 0.3 0.3
10.3 9.9 20.2
PwC PwC
)
)
)
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IFRS
IFRS
2021
59
2021
193
2021
2022 10

(IFRS)

) 131

2022

32
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2021 12 31
193
134
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
6 120,533 15,459,563 108,466 13,911,849
7 22,065 2,830,057 21,383 2,742,584
8 2,484 318,598 2,536 325,267
9 2,502 320,907 2,075 266,140
10 22,971 2,946,260 29,638 3,801,370
11 436,471 55,981,770 436,182 55,944,703
12 13,544 1,737,153 15,495 1,987,389
13 2,282 292,689 2,183 279,992
14 678 86,960 740 94,912
15 4,432 568,448 4,565 585,507
16 438 56,178 450 57,717
133 17,059 136 17,443

26 803 102,993 849 108,893
17 10,166 1,303,891 7,508 962,976
18 73 9,363 52 6,670
639,575 82,031,890 632,258 81,093,411

207/559
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
19 73,008 9,364,006 61,162 7,844,638
20 372,031 47,716,696 361,028 46,305,451
21 108,709 13,943,016 113,521 14,560,203
22 1,419 182,001 998 128,003
23 3,817 489,568 5,175 663,746
10 18,710 2,399,745 28,402 3,642,841
24 6,425 824,071 6,647 852,544
25 1,072 137,495 619 79,393
759 97,349 158 20,265

26 343 43,993 430 55,152
28 9,880 1,267,209 13,486 1,729,714
506,173 76,465,149 501,626 75,881,951

30 31,097 3,988,501 27,852 3,572,298
31 7,825 1,003,635 7,822 1,003,250
32 3,978 510,218 4,482 574,861
11,803 1,513,853 12,304 1,578,111

33 502 64,387 476 61,052
43,402 5,566,741 40,632 5,211,460

639,575 82,031,890 632,258 81,093,411

208/559
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
35 12,051 1,545,661 13,362 1,713,810
35 1,212 155,451 414 53,100
35 4,912 630,013 5,779 741,215
35 8,351 1,071,099 7,997 1,025,695
36 2,301 295,126 2,079 266,653
36 293 37,580 299 38,350
36 2,008 257,546 1,780 228,303
37 2,567 329,243 2,294 294,228
37 1,963 251,774 1,814 232,664
37 604 77,469 480 61,565
38 334 42,839 188 24,113

®) (385) 4 513

39 676 86,704 (13) (1,667)
136 17,443 126 16,161

40 63 8,080 220 28,217
12,169 1,560,796 10,782 1,382,899

4 4,657 597,307 4,684 600,770
42 2,035 261,009 1,463 187,644
43 352 45,148 395 50,663
7,044 903,463 6,542 839,077

13, 14 - - 283 36,298
44 474) (60,795) 1,913 245,361
45 722 92,604 548 70,286

4,877 625,524 1,496 191,877

46 1,185 151,988 400 51,304
3,692 473,536 1,096 140,573

2,910 373,237 822 105,430

509 65,284 - -

177 22,702 233 29,885

33 96 12,313 41 5,259
3,692 473,536 1,096 140,573
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2021 2020
3,692 473,536 1,096 140,573
30 555 71,184 (691) (88,628)
30 (155) (19,880) 44 5,643
30 42 5,387 (10) (1,283)
30 33 4,233 (1) (2,693)
30 ©) (1,154) (23) (2,950)
30 - - 26 3,335
30 4 513 (10) (1,283)
30 (65) (8,337) 1) (2,693)
30 (6) (770) 9 1,154
30 1) (2.693) 34 4,361
378 48,482 (663) (85,036)
4,070 522,018 433 55,537
3,271 419,538 193 24,754
509 65,284 - -
177 22,702 233 29,885
113 14,493 7 898
4,070 522,018 433 55,537
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2021 27,852 3,572,298 12,304 1,578,111 476 61,052 40,632 5,211,460
3,596 461,223 - - %6 12,313 3,602 473,536

30 361 46,302 - - 17 2,180 378 48,482

3,957 507,525 - - 113 14,493 4,070 522,018

(509) (65,284) - - - - (509) (65,284)

(178) (22,830) - - - - (178) (22,830)

32 @7 (3,463) (1,282) (164,429) - - (1,309) (167,892)

32 - - 750 96,195 - - 750 96,195

- - “) (513) - - 0 (513)

2 257 35 4,489 (87) (11,159) (50) (6,413)

2021 12 31 31,097 3,988,501 11,803 1,513,853 502 64,387 43,402 5,566,741
2020 28,157 3,611,417 12,713 1,630,569 4717 61,180 41,347 5,303,166
1,055 135,314 - - 41 5,259 1,096 140,573

30 (629) (80,676) - - (34) (4,361) (663) (85,036)

426 54,639 - - 7 898 433 55,537

(234) (30,013) - - - - (234) (30,013)

32 (120) (15,391) (1,760) (225,738) - - (1,880) (241,129)

32 - - 1,000 128,260 - - 1,000 128,260

- - ®) (641) - - ®) (641)

31 (376) (48,226) 376 48,226 - - - -

@) (128) (20) (2,565) (8) (1,026) (29) (3,720)

2020 12 31 27,852 3,572,298 12,304 1,578,111 476 61,052 40,632 5,211,460
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
4,877 625,524 1,496 191,877

44 352 45,148 395 50,663
16, 17 723 92,732 735 94,271
44 474) (60,795) 1,913 245,361
15 ®) (1,026) 122 15,648
14 61 7,824 10 1,283
13, 14 - - 283 36,298
34 4,361 20 2,565

38 (334) (42,839) (188) (24,113)
@) (1,026) 19) (2,437)

39 (676) (86,704) 13 1,667
40 (136) (17,443) (126) (16,161)
3 385 10} (513)

25 545 69,902 114 14,622
(93) (11,928) (106) (13,596)

7, 19, 44 11,165 1,432,023 43,831 5,621,764
8, 39 728 93,373 (679) (87,089)
9 “27) (54,767) (170) (21,804)
10 6,667 855,109 (6,054) (776,486)
11, 44 182 23,343 2,515 322,574
12 (10,332)  (1,325,182) (13,079)  (1,677,513)
12 12,608 1,617,102 10,654 1,366,482
15 (1,119) (143,523) (1,071) (137,366)
15 378 48,482 353 45,276
13 89 11,415 58 7,439
20 11,003 1,411,245 22,492 2,884,824
22 421 53,997 599 76,828
23 (1,357) (174,049) (1,153) (147,884)
10 9,691)  (1,242,968) 4,328 555,109
24 (224) (28,730) (188) (24,113)
(649) (83,241) (329) (42,198)

(745) (95,554) (3,908) (501,240)

23,563 3,022,190 62,857 8,062,039

13 (52) (6,670) “3) (5,515)
13 214 27,448 31 3,976
15, 16 67) (8,593) (129) (16,546)
15, 16 46 5,900 20 2,565
141 18,085 (120) (45,519)

21, 34 38,599 4,950,708 29,913 3,836,641
21, 34 (45,636)  (5,853,273) (43,432)  (5,570,588)
34 - - - -
34 (4,288) (549,979) (1,511) (193,801)
31 (101) (12,954) (1,267) (162,505)
31 104 13,339 1,264 162,121
746 95,682 995 127,619

(687) (88,115) (234) (30,013)

- - @) (9,876)

32 (1,309) (167,892) (1,880) (241,129)
(12,572)  (1,612,485) (16,229)  (2,081,532)

11,132 1,427,790 46,507 5,964,988

108,466 13,911,849 63,086 8,091,410

935 119,923 (1,127) (144,549)

120,533 15,459,563 108,466 13,911,849

11,819 1,515,905 13,324 1,708,936

(4,451) (570,885) (5,492) (704,404)

212/559



30046259

2.1

IFRS

2020

18

1ASB

IAS 39
IFRS 16

EU

1ASB

IFRS
2019

I1AS 39 IFRS IFRS

IASB i)

i)

IFRS
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IFRS 16

IFRS
IFRS



IFRS
IFRS
IFRS

IFRS

IFRS

BV

IFRS 16
IASB 2020

IFRS

2021

I1AS

IFRS
2023
39

2023

2021

1AS

39
IFRS

2021
CovID-19

IFRS 16

IAS 16

1ASB

IAS 37

30

CovID-19
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IFRS
IAS
@
IFRS
IFRS
2018
BV IFRS
IAS 28
CoviD-19
IFRS 16
IASB 2021
2022
46A
CovID-19
2018 -2020
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1ASB

IFRS 17

1ASB 2023 IFRS 17 IFRS 17

IFRS
17
BV

IFRS

I1AS IAS IAS 12 2023
2020

187
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2020

2021 12 31 2021

2020
MTP
IFRS TLA
4.3.6
coviD-19

COVID-19

COVID-19
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COVID-19
2021 12 31
2.3 2020 3.7
COVID-19
IFRS ECL
500 CovID-19
2020 12 31 681
LTV 80
31 13
2021 12 31
2020

2020
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30
COVID-19

25 2020 12
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ooooooo
2021 12 31 105 IFRS
2020 12 31 114
278 2020 12 31 257
TLTRO-111
ECB TLTRO-111
2020 24 2021 23
2021 24 2022 23
50 TLTRO-111
deposit facility
TLTRO-111
IFRS TLTRO-111 TLTRO-111 IFRS
B5.4.5 TLTRO-111
2021
TLTRO TLTRO
IAS 20 ECB
2.32 2021 12
31 TLTRO-111 36
4.9

11
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15
14

IAS 37
25

2.2

2.2.1

100
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50

2.2.2

20 50

2.3
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IFRS IFRS

IFRS IAS 39

IFRS

80 125 IAS 39

IFRS
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IFRS
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2.5

2.6

2.7

0Cl1
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2.8

2.9

SPE

0oCl

SPE

0Cl1

0oCl
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2.10

90
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2.11

2.26

2.12
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2.13

2.14

2.15
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2.16
12
ECL
IFRS
b 12 ECL ECL
a
ECL
PD X
EAD

ECL
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credit impaired

ECL

LGD X



90

PD

30
ECL

ECL

SICR

PD
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PD

PD

ECL

SICR



EU
EBA
90 ii

ECL

SICR

ECL

ECL
ECL

SICR

ECL
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PD
LTV

2.17

2.18
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2.19

25 40
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2.20

40

2.21
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2.22

FTP
FTP

12

235/559



EDINETOOOO
O000DO00oDO000o0Oo00oOodnoE.s23)
oOoOooodn

2.23
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2.16

2.24

projected unit credit method
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2.25

2.25

2.26
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2.27
TLTRO
TLTRO
TLTRO IAS 20 2.1 TLTRO-11I
2.28
2.29

2.30
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2.31

2.32

TLTRO-111

2.33
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3
Tier CET Tier
CRR CRD V
2010
Tier
Tier Tier
CRD V CRR Tier
Tier CRR 104a
CET AT Tier Tier
4_.5% 1.50% 6.0% 2.0% 8.0%
0.98% 0.33% 1.31% 0.44% 1.75%
2.5% - 2.5% - 2.5%
2.0% - 2.0% - 2.0%
0.01% - 0.01% - 0.01%
10.00% 1.83% 11.83% 2.44% 14.26%
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2021 12 31
2020 16.5 2021

Tier
0.9

CRR

CET
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16.9

TRIM

IFRS

IFRS
CET
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2021 2020
32,087 29,234
€)) @
7,825 7,822
(990) (1,382)
(2,097) (1,080)
22 55
Tier 36,846 34,647
3,978 4,441
- 41
(99) 67
Tier 3,879 4,415
Tier 40,725 39,062
7,356 10,816
(96) 33
- (60)
Tier 7,260 10,789
47,985 49,851
211,855 205,773
Tier 17.4% 16.8%
Tier 19.2% 19.0%
22.6% 24.2%
18.8% 18.0%
1
NPL
IRB
2015 Tier CRR
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4.3.1

KYC
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CRR
a)
b)
c)
Central Credit Committee Rabobank Group CCCRG CCCRG

CRC

DLL

Credit Approvals Local Banks CA LB
OLEM

CRC

LQC
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Credit Committee Financial Restructuring & Recovery CC-
FR&R CRC LQC
FR&R

Country & Financial Institutions Committee CFIC CFIC

Loan Loss Provision Committee LLPC
ELC

3a
3b
3b

ToR
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4.3.2
2021 2021
25
26
10
2021 2020

436,471 436,182

2,001 2,028

13,904 17,355

3,408 7,419

417,158 409,380
293,286 71% 293,739 2%
34,793 8% 34,027 8%
41,809 10% 37,387 %
13,068 3% 11,852 3%
7,371 2% 7,456 2%
26,524 6% 24,483 6%
307 0% 436 0%
417,158 100% 409, 380 100%
204,993 49% 202,947 50%

TIS

109,271 26% 110,968 27%
102,894 25% 95,465 23%
417,158 100% 409, 380 100%
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TIS

WER
2021 12 31
4,165 5,273 2,318 - - 11,756
852 4,236 106 - - 5,194
2,996 1,223 1,755 96 - 6,070
6,585 6,932 3,848 - - 17,365
3,695 1,510 1,579 - - 6,784
2,633 1,590 169 - - 4,392
941 482 720 - - 2,143
4,511 11,921 703 - 91 17,226
13,914 3,923 298 1 - 18,136
1,564 365 1,178 - - 3,107
1,758 1,328 2,694 - - 5,780
133 8 540 - - 681
3,186 10 2,971 - - 6,167
745 172 377 - - 1,294
519 1,404 1,253 - - 3,176
48,197 40,377 20,509 97 91 109,271
W&R
2020 12 31
4,297 5,848 2,116 - - 12,261
700 3,555 117 - - 4,372
3,102 1,126 1,569 118 - 5,915
7,059 5,868 3,810 - - 16,737
3,897 1,265 1,652 - - 6,814
2,878 1,880 180 - - 4,938
1,002 611 806 - - 2,419
2,753 16,696 668 - 199 20,316
11,322 3,914 283 1 - 15,520
1,664 323 1,116 - - 3,103
1,894 947 2,635 - - 5,476
172 10 486 - - 668
3,140 32 2,770 - - 5,942
850 264 381 - - 1,495
2,569 1,278 1,145 - - 4,992
47,299 43,617 19,734 119 199 110,968
! 2021
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WE&R
2021 12 31
3,710 19,163 4,058 - - 26,931
3,586 15,142 2,135 - - 20,863
62 3,235 162 - - 3,459
1,816 7,929 384 - - 10,129
8,193 10,872 1,118 - - 20,183
1,139 6,027 2,685 - - 9,851
3,871 4,965 1,851 - - 10,687
14 342 434 - - 791
22,391 67,675 12,828 - - 102,894
W&R
2020 12 31
3,619 18,616 3,346 - - 25,581
3,681 13,697 1,942 - - 19,320
66 2,739 169 - - 2,974
1,774 6,674 369 - - 8,817
8,322 9,817 915 - - 19,054
1,051 5,383 2,668 - - 9,102
4,040 4,297 1,515 - - 9,852
23 332 410 - - 765
22,576 61,555 11,334 - - 95,465
ISDA
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4.3.3

PD

21 RO- R20 D1- D4

D1- D4 D1 90 D2

D3
D4
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2021 12 31
12 ECL ECL ECL

RO-R1 AAA 160 - - 160
R2-R4 AA 274 - - 274
R5-R7 A 16,646 35 - 16,681
R8-R10 BBB 3,204 - - 3,204
R11-R13 BB 1,077 1 - 1,078
R14-R16 B+ 228 4 - 232
R17-R19 B- 168 2 - 170
R20 CCC+ - 1 - 1
D - 1 1
267 - - 267
22,024 43 1 22,068

2020 12 31
RO-R1 AAA 176 - - 176
R2-R4 AA 75 - - 75
R5-R7 A 15,509 - - 15,509
R8-R10 BBB 3,669 - - 3,669
R11-R13 BB 1,080 1 - 1,081
R14-R16 B+ 320 3 - 323
R17-R19 B- 134 1 - 135
R20 CCC+ - - - -
D - - - -
416 - - 416
21,379 5 - 21,384
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2021 12 31
12 ECL ECL ECL

RO-R1 AAA 858 27 - 885
R2-R4  AA 9,387 23 - 9,410
R5-R7 A 75,473 476 - 75,949
R8-R10 BBB 136,050 2,380 - 138,430
R11-R13 BB 106,428 6,722 - 113,150
R14-R16 B+ 56,010 9,832 - 65,842
R17-R19 B- 10,109 7,844 - 17,953
R20 CCC+ 192 1,974 - 2,166
D - - 9,118 9,118
3,652 5 - 3,657
398,159 29,283 9,118 436,560

2020 12 31
RO-R1 AAA 1,152 6 - 1,158
R2-R4  AA 9,508 20 - 9,528
R5-R7 A 73,579 503 - 74,082
R8-R10 BBB 131,574 2,419 - 133,993
R11-R13 BB 102,356 7,922 - 110,278
R14-R16 B+ 53,720 13,176 - 66,896
R17-R19 B- 10,042 8,260 - 18,302
R20 CCC+ 616 1,854 - 2,470
D - - 13,507 13,507
3,198 51 - 3,249
385,745 34,211 13,507 433,463

2021 12 31

12 ECL ECL ECL

AAA- A 12,714 - - 12,714
BBB- B 452 - - 452
cee- ¢ - - - -
D - - - -
202 - - 202
13,368 - - 13,368

2020 12 31
ARA- A 14,358 175 - 14,533
BBB- B 396 - - 396
cce- ¢ - - - -
D - - - -
230 - - 230
14,984 175 - 15,159
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2021 12 31
12 ECL ECL ECL

RO-R1 AAA 2,013 - - 2,013
R2-R4 AA 1,922 1 - 1,923
R5-R7 A 12,845 27 - 12,872
R8-R10 BBB 21,629 272 - 21,901
R11-R13 BB 16,423 806 - 17,229
R14-R16 B+ 6,685 1,095 - 7,780
R17-R19 B- 431 717 - 1,148
R20 CCC+ 11 60 - 71
D - - 481 481
12,675 - - 12,675
74,634 2,978 481 78,093

2020 12 31
RO-R1 AAA 1,509 - - 1,509
R2-R4 AA 1,904 - - 1,904
R5-R7 A 10,760 27 - 10,787
R8-R10 BBB 16,913 260 - 17,173
R11-R13 BB 18,779 536 - 19,315
R14-R16 B+ 5,882 1,431 - 7,313
R17-R19 B- 663 854 - 1,517
R20 CCC+ 29 129 - 158
D - - 664 664
12,420 - - 12,420
68,859 3,237 664 72,760
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4.3.4
ECL ECL
12 ECL
2021 1 - - 1
- - 1
2021 12 31 2 - - 2
2020 1 1 1 3
1 - - 1
- (€ (¢ @
@ - - @
2020 12 31 1 - - 1
ECL ECL
12 ECL
2021 720 846 3,134 4,700
160 16 88 264
(68) (76) (199) (343)
(460) 90 11) (381)
(22) (5) (778) (805)
42 19 1 62
2021 12 31 372 890 2,235 3,497
2020 369 346 3,225 3,940
232 11 131 374
€D (72) (206) (375)
235 561 1,198 1,994
(13) 4) (1,070) (1,087)
(6) 4 (144) (146)
2020 12 31 720 846 3,134 4,700
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ECL ECL
12 ECL

2021 1 - - 1
2 - - 2
@ - - @

2021 12 31 - - 2
2020 1 1 - 2
1 2 - 3
@ @ - @
@ - @

2020 12 31 - - 1

ECL ECL
12 ECL

2021 36 18 88 142
4 - - 4
(43) 14) (105) (162)

30 15 77 122

3 ®) 2 2

2021 12 31 30 16 62 108
2020 31 18 97 146
7 - - 7
(50) 1) (94) (165)

50 27 81 158
@ ® 4 ®

2020 12 31 36 18 88 142
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12 ECL ECL ECL
2021 385,745 34,211 13,507 433,463
(4,524) 4,778 (254) -
137,396 2,627 741 140,764
(126,128) (12,904) (4,130) (143,162)
(23) (D) (840) (864)
5,693 572 94 6,359
2021 12 31 398,159 29,283 9,118 436,560
2020 401,996 20,417 15,090 437,503
(24,181) 22,983 1,198 -
128,983 3,154 2,061 134,198
(112,600) (11,645) (3.337) (127,582)
(14 @) (924) (942)
(8,439) (694) (581) (9,714)
2020 12 31 385,745 34,211 13,507 433,463
4.3.5 SICR
SICR PD
PD PD
1.6
PD
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4.3.6

2.1

PD 12

PD

912 1,990 2020 1,976

ECL

60 2020 12 31
20 2020 12 31 15
2021

NiGEM
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12
PD ECL
ECL
ECL
ECL 517 2020

70
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NiGEM
1,000 NiGEM
20 20
ECL
ECL
ECL
ECL ECL
2021 2020
2022 2023 2024 ECL 12 31 12 31
GDP 3.99% 1.98% 0.07%
2.83% 2.57% 2.60% 308 20%
-0.17% 1.89% 0.08%
GDP 2.67% 1.46% 1.14%
3.13% 3.33% 3.52% 345 60% 355 383
-0.42% 1.52% 0.14%
GDP 0.20% 0.28% 3.07%
3.60% 4.57% 5.05% 434 20%
-0.88% 0.82% 0.29%
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ECL
2021
2022 2023 2024 ECL 12 31
GDP 2.45% 2.56% 1.27%
4.07% 3.21% 2.53% 95 20%
0.27% 2.84% 0.51%
GDP 1.48% 1.65% 1.60%
4.38% 4.00% 3.50% 109 60% 112 149
0.01% 2.44% 0.50%
GDP -0.34%  -0.30% 1.99%
4.79% 5.09% 4.85% 139 20%
-0.47% 1.62% 0.45%
ECL
2021
2022 2023 2024 ECL 12 31
GDP 0.82% 0.83% 0.69%
7.37% 6.05% 4.99% 36 20%
5.50% 3.55% -1.03%
GDP -0.07% 0.50% 1.22%
7.84% 7.26% 6.49% 40 60% 40 68
5.26% 3.12% -1.27%
GDP -1.69%  -0.22% 2.10%
8.48% 8.94% 8.57% 46 20%
4.81% 2.33% -1.69%
ECL
2021
2022 2023 2024 ECL 12 31
GDP 3.57% 2.18% 0.91%
4.04% 2.96% 2.80% 14 20%
-0.37% 1.21% 0.68%
GDP 2.90% 1.60% 1.16%
4.48% 4.10% 4.20% 16 60% 17 17
-0.67% 0.61% 0.57%
GDP 1.74% 0.51% 1.51%
5.10% 5.73% 6.20% 21 20%
-1.18%  -0.45% 0.37%
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15 2020 10 70 2020
80 ECL 2020
2021 COVID-19
25 2020 20
50 2020 60 ECL
2020
2021 2020
291,336 289,076
42,326 40,246
8,078 7,124
17,483 15,812
PD LGD
EAD ECL ECL

PD
LGD

EAD
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PD ECL
ECL 2021 2020
PD PD 273 333
PD PD (192) (241)
10 LGD 77 105
10 LGD (60) (80)
50 EAD 42 32
50 EAD @37 (28)
4.3.7
2.11
1
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2021 12 31

2020 12 31

22,065
107,910
440,185

10,215
580,375

73,633
373,543
105,226

6,474
558,876

21,383
141,714
442,964

7,756
613,817

62,404
363,765
143,280

6,895
576,344
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(84,939)
(3.714)
(49)
(88,702)

(625)
(1,512)
(86,516)
(49)
(88,702)

(112,076)
(6.782)
(248)
(119,106)

(1,242)
(2.737)
(114,878)
(248)
(119,105)

22,065
22,971
436,471
10,166
491,673

73,008
372,031
18,710
6,425
470,174

21,383
29,638
436,182
7,508
494,711

61,162
361,028
28,402
6,647
457,239
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2021 12 31
- (17,079) - - - 4,986
(10,770) (8,331) - - - 3,870
- (13,964) (257,452)  (87,108)  (37,634) 40,313
- - - - - 10,166
(10,770)  (39,374) (257,452)  (87,108)  (37,634) 59,335
- (189) - - - 72,819
- (527) - - - 371,504
(10,770) (4,541) - - - 3,399
- - - - - 6,425
(10,770) (5.257) - - - 454,147
2020 12 31
- (16,290) - - - 5,093
(13,799)  (10,649) - - - 5,190
- (18,097)  (238,950)  (76,146)  (35,992) 66,997
- - - - - 7,508
(13,799)  (45,036) (238,950)  (76,146)  (35,992) 84,788
- (431) - - - 60,731
- (694) - - - 360,334
(13,799)  (13,314) - - - 1,289
- - - - - 6,647
(13,799)  (14,439) - - - 429,001
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2021 12 31
1 - 1 -
9,118 2,235 6,883 4,383
9,119 2,235 6,884 4,383
2020 12 31
13,507 3,134 10,373 6,478
13,507 3,134 10,373 6,478
IFRS
2021 12 31
2,305 -
875 154
22,971 8,587
26,151 8,741
2020 12 31
2,356 -
1,208 208
29,638 10,649

33,202 10,857
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Q)
)
2021
534
2021 12 31 17
2020
4.3.8
ECL 12
ECL 2021 12 31 251
2020 102
ECL
ECL
2021 2020
455 1,043
(69) ®)

386 1,040
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4.3.9
ESG C&E
Net Zero Banking Alliance
ESG
C&E GDP
C&E
TCFD Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
i ii iii (iv
EAD 60 2020
2020
ECB EBA
ESG
ECB
C&E 29 C&E

C&E
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ECB 2022
SFF
Minimum Viable Product SFF

ECL
2.1 ECL
ESG ESG

2030

25

2021 12 31
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PAS
2021
2035 2000 74
2035 2030
2021 12 31

PFAS

2020 PFAS

EU PFAS

4.4 FX

FX

FX 0
FX Gii)FX

FX
FX
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4.5

CET

CET

Treasury
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IFRS
EaR EaR 12
BPV
4.5.1 4.5.2 BPV
4.5.1
12
2021 2021
12 31 33 2020 12 31
74
EaR
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
-33 -74
-40 -75

20
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4.5.2
MD BPV BPV
2021 12 31 0.1 2021 12 31 3.1
BPV 0.3 13.3
BPV
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
% 3.1% 0.1%
BPV -13.3 -0.3
BPV -13.6 -2.1
BPV 1.2 1.8
4.6
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VaR
2021 12 31 35
35 70
56
2020 12 31
52 2021 12 31 111
VaR
97.5
VaR VaR
2021 VaR 2.4 6.3 3.3

2021 12 31 VaR 3.1
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VaR 97.5 )
2021 12 31 2.3 0.8 0.2 0.0 0.8 1.0) 3.1
2021 — 2.9 1.0 0.2 0.0 0.7 3.3
2021 — 4.4 4.4 2.6 0.0 1.3 6.3
2021 — 2.1 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.5 2.4
2020 12 31 3.5 1.7 0.3 0.0 0.5 @.n 4.2
2020 — 4.0 1.8 0.3 0.0 0.4 4.8
2020 — 6.4 4.0 0.8 0.0 2.4 7.5
2020 — 2.9 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.1 2.7
0.01
2021 12 31
84
2021 12 31 2020 12 31

0.0 0.1

0.1 0.0

0.0 0.0

0.0 (0.1)

0.1 0.0
4.7
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12

10.3
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2021 12 31
3,317 785 1,859 58,960 637 7,626 73,184
326,342 9,261 7,143 7,167 22,747 1,051 373,711
6,976 13,459 24,293 40,535 30,895 - 116,158
2,188 1,108 1,146 564 22 149 5,177
3 18 58 257 131 - 467
- 1,419 - - - - 1,419
36 377 466 940 2,272 - 4,001
91 59 1,659 5,463 6,858 - 14,130
338,953 26,486 36,624 113,886 63,562 8,826 588,337
3,868 - - - - - 3,868
45,625 - - - - - 45,625
2020 12 31
2,971 1,004 2,435 44,358 628 9,955 61,351
309,893 10,186 11,219 7,303 23,748 705 363,054
8,194 10,426 23,068 44,777 35,169 - 121,634
1,751 1,640 1,307 324 60 632 5,714
1 14 32 220 271 - 538
- 998 - - - - 998
15 175 1,361 1,577 2,406 - 5,534
23 54 2,482 7,843 7,824 - 18,226
322,848 24,497 41,904 106,402 70,106 11,292 577,049
3,381 - - - - - 3,381
41,877 - - - - - 41,877
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2021 12 31
120,017 11 - - - 505 120,533
12,504 6,633 1,360 82 39 1,447 22,065
221 307 162 409 1,206 179 2,484
30 36 281 32 616 1,507 2,502
1,580 1,596 2,286 2,936 14,573 - 22,971
38,367 15,473 34,178 111,409 233,315 3,729 436,471
348 806 2,044 2,833 7,335 178 13,544
973 1,170 973 1,939 19 5,089 10,163
174,040 26,032 41,284 119,640 257,103 12,634 630,733
3,316 783 1,838 58,842 604 7,625 73,008
326,473 9,247 7,055 6,844 21,361 1,051 372,031
6,945 13,373 23,824 37,902 26,665 - 108,709
1,663 1,985 2,341 3,078 9,635 8 18,710
- 1,419 - - - - 1,419
2,201 1,428 1,240 685 61 149 5,764
3 15 50 227 147 - 442
36 377 465 933 2,006 - 3,817
67 - 1,304 4,115 4,394 - 9,880
340,704 28,627 38,117 112,626 64,873 8,833 593,780
(166,664) (2,595) 3,167 7,014 192,230 3,801 36,953
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2020 12 31

108,138 16 - - - 312 108,466
10,599 7,424 1,034 56 94 2,176 21,383
4 23 98 574 1,657 180 2,536
126 29 569 39 487 825 2,075
1,963 2,200 3,695 3,520 18,260 - 29,638
35,288 15,287 36,179 106,376 234,149 8,903 436,182
389 710 2,027 4,877 7,158 334 15,495
631 1,150 863 1,688 129 3,043 7,504
157,138 26,839 44,465 117,130 261,934 15,773 623,279
2,969 999 2,410 44,263 565 9,956 61,162
309,882 10,189 11,132 6,956 22,164 705 361,028
8,162 10,328 22,592 40,972 31,467 - 113,521
2,208 2,271 3,038 4,502 16,370 13 28,402
- 998 - - - - 998
1,774 1,677 1,371 385 83 632 5,922
1 13 28 198 264 - 504
15 175 1,311 1,559 2,115 - 5,175
- - 1,999 6,201 5,286 - 13,486
325,011 26,650 43,881 105,036 78,314 11,306 590,198
(167,873) 189 584 12,094 183,620 4,467 33,081

2021 12 31 LCR 184 2020 193

DNB
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ORM

RCF

RMC

ORM
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BCM

2021
KYC

COVID-19 2021

Global Fraud Policy

Integrity Investigation

4.9
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4.10
4.10

Global Procedure of Internal
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oTC
CVA CVA

CVA CDS
CDS
oTC
DVA DVA CVA CDS
FVA
FVA

Euribor
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CDS
2021 2020

120,533 120,533 108,466 108,474
22,065 22,063 21,383 21,388
436,471 447,723 436,182 452,017
73,008 72,874 61,162 61,065
372,031 376,334 361,028 366,903
108,709 109,594 113,521 115,351
9,880 11,295 13,486 15,716
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2021 12

120,533

1,519
42
22

10,244

13,474
11,272

36
1,419
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22,061
129,225

109
643
22,889

3,109

72,733
61,732
89,823

23

18,629

3,817

2
318,498

856
1,817
60

191
73

141
314,602
6,297

45

120,533
22,063
447,723

2,484
2,502
22,971

13,544
73

72,874
376,334
109,594

11,295

18,710
1,419
3,817
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2020 12 31

165
2020

9.5

2020

108,474 -
- 21,354
- 128,220
1,950 86
- 704
22 29,558
12,774 2,460
- 60,905
- 70,708
10,061 98,282
15,693 23
21 28,353
998 -
- 5,175
118
166 2020
2020
2021 12 31 1,662
EBITDA

286/559

34
323,797

500
1,355
58

261
52

160
296,195
7,008

28

119

108,474
21,388
452,017

2,536
2,059
29,638

15,495
52

61,065
366,903
115,351

15,716

28,402
998
5,175
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2021
ocl
2021 2021
12 31
500 17 - 809 470) - - 856
1,355 458 - 461 an) 274) 12) 1,817
58 58 - - - (56) - 60
261 - @2) - 3 @ - 101
28 73 - - - (56) - 45
ocl
2020 2020
12 31
74 (10) - 462 (26) - - 500
1,213 (33) - 254 (79) - - 1,355
114 4 - - - (59) ) 58
226 - - 2 (16) - 49 261
66 21 - - - (59) - 28
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2021 12 31

2020 12 31
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17 - 17
446 12 458
29 29 58
44 29 73
(11) 1 (10)
(33) - (33)
(6) 10 4
11 10 21
2021 12 31
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4.10

50

(@) not probable
(b more likely than not

(i)

289/559



EDINETOOOO
O000DO00oDO000o0Oo00oOodnoE.s23)

ooooooo
SME
2021 12 31 2020 12 31 12
Kifid
Kifid Kifid
333
2015
2013 2014 10 2018 30
actio pauliana
2018 28 VEB

2018
10
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Libor Euribor
2013 10 29 Libor Euribor
2013 2019
2019
USD Libor GBP Libor JPY Libor Tibor Tibor
Euribor
Libor Euribor
2021 11 15 2021 10 12 DNB
voorgenomen aanwi jzing 2021 12 23
aanwijzing DNB

terrorisme Wwft
15

KYC

KYC

Wet ter voorkoming van witwassen en financiering van
DNB 2023 12
Wwt
Wwit

Wwt

KYC
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DNB

217

2020 12 31

2021

474

KYC

DNB
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DLL
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10
WeR
2021 12 3l
4,520 2,447 1,147 (23) 261 Q@ 8,351
1,490 433 105 - ®) @5 2,008
76 644 294 401 383 12 1,810
6,086 3,524 1,546 378 639 @ 12,169
2,529 1,288 562 102 189 @) 4,657
1,359 379 202 28 147 (80) 2,035
126 98 26 9 4 89 352
4,014 1,765 790 139 340 ® 7.044
(444) 41 (74) - 3 - (474)
441 218 46 2 15 - 722
2,075 1,500 784 237 281 - 4,877
551 397 209 51 ©5) 2 1,185
1,524 1,103 575 186 306 ® 3,692
! 73.2 56.3 54.1 37.3 n/a n/a 63.8
2 (16) 4 @D n/a n/a n/a @
277,278 140,335 38,595 3,440 179,927 - 639,575
322 - - - . - 322
273,850 108,636 34,484 97 91 - 417,158
1
2 12
W&R
2021 2,303 1,849 602 - - - 4,844
132 41 97 - . . 270
(301) (180) (24) - - - (505)
(235) 85 (109) - - - (259)
(325) (329) (151) - - - (805)
- 56 7 1 - - 64
2021 12 31 1,664 1,522 422 1 - - 3,600
12 ECL 139 203 64 - - - 406
ECL
612 170 124 - - - 906
ECL
913 1,149 234 1 - - 2,297
2021 12 31 1,664 1,522 422 1 - - 3,609
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WeR
2020 12 31
4,615 2,197 1,100 (16) 103 @ 7,997
1,314 361 106 1 © 7 1,780
30 164 292 309 202 8 1,005
5,959 2,722 1,498 204 296 13 10,782
2,633 1,243 537 91 195 (15) 4,684
961 224 200 32 146 (100) 1,463
135 90 27 9 7 127 395
3,729 1,557 764 132 348 12 6,542
- - 70 - 213 - 283
619 883 410 1 - - 1,913
312 149 29 1 57 - 548
1,299 133 225 160 (322) 1 1,49
328 117 61 45 (152) 1 400
971 16 164 115 (170 - 1,096
! 67.8 62.7 52.9 45.2 n/a n/a 65.8
2 23 81 127 n/a n/a n/a 46
275,524 135,457 36,073 3,191 182,013 - 632,258
322 - - - - - 322
271,262 105,889 31,911 119 199 - 409,380
1
2
WER
2020 2,124 1,596 357 14 - - 4,001
199 62 124 - - - 385
(349) (152) 24) (15) - - (540)
829 975 342 2 . . 2,148
(417) (487) (183) - - - (1,087)
7 (145) 14) 6N - - (153)
2020 12 31 2,393 1,849 602 - - - 4,844
12 ECL 312 241 205 - - - 758
ECL
599 136 129 - - - 864
ECL
1,482 1,472 268 . . . 3,222
2020 12 31 2,393 1,849 602 - - - 4,844
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5.2

2021 12 31

DLL 18,746 25,681 3,178 739

BPD
DLL 159 170 69 15
DLL 90 118 14 8
DLL 1,042 735 109 34

BPD

DLL 87 176 35 10
DLL 275 184 79 10
DLL 7 16 1 -
DLL 4 3 3 1
DLL 16 23 4 -
DLL 65 146 (28) 14
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DLL

DLL

DLL

DLL

DLL

DLL

DLL

DLL

DLL

DLL

DLL

DLL

478 791 94 18
DLL 37 49 8 2
DLL 63 150 11 1
DLL 31 33 2 -
DLL 5 9 1 -
DLL 32 80 15 1
DLL 27 78 6 2
DLL 7 33 2 -
26 53 19 5

2,813 2,953 553 85

247 269 67 17

DLL 31 85 4 2
456 805 1 67

44 144 11 5

DLL 7 14 6 2
1 6 - -

55 482 (16) 17

100 143 14 2

- 2 - -

28 81 17 3

135 179 7 1

DLL 11 24 3 1
DLL - 1 - R
938 1,309 259 78

407 450 159 45

1 19 - -

(7,134) - - -

19,337 35,494 4,877 1,185
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2020 12 31

DLL 16,266 24,976 625 153
BPD
DLL 158 167 58 20
BPD
DLL 95 114 22 7
DLL 998 702 o1 29
BPD

DLL 80 159 27 6
DLL 398 172 104 14)

DLL 8 14 1 -

DLL 4 3 1 -

DLL 13 20 @ -
DLL 64 147 (6) )
DLL 523 749 ) 0

DLL 38 46 9 2

DLL 56 146 (63) 1

DLL 35 29 5 1

DLL 6 8 - -

DLL 34 75 17 3

DLL 32 80 8 2

DLL 7 32 2 -

DLL 24 54 14

DLL 2,991 2,947 314 66

DLL 252 265 58 15
DLL 31 79 ®) @

DLL 514 783 89 32
DLL 54 141 2 )

DLL 4 16 1 -

1 3 - -
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DLL 68 547 1) 12
DLL 152 177 (126) 14)
22 225 (20) -
3 3 2 @
DLL 40 9%6 31) @
DLL 173 189 ) @
DLL 11 25 2 -

DLL - 1 - -

DLL 1,017 1,240 211 63
DLL 430 393 104 28
1 19 - _

(5,929) - - -

18,674 34,837 1,496 400

2021
2021 2020

591 87 656 84

1,858 3,012 1,975 3,040

7,718 2,448 5,330 2,178

45 28 40 12

10,212 5,575 8,001 5,314

2021 2020

456 536

120,077 107,930

120,533 108,466

2021 12 3,572 2020 12 3,295
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2021 2020
4,892 5,207
16,590 15,803
536 316
50 58
22,068 21,384
) @
22,066 21,383
2021 2020
875 1,093
542 715
887 548
180 180
2,484 2,536
2021 2020
7 43
868 1,165
1,627 867

2,502 2,075
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10.1

0TC

CDS CDS
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10.2

10.3

IAS 39
IFRS
IFRS
IFRS

0.38 2020 0.58 3.02 2020 3.09
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2021 12 31
121,832 23,777 28,271 69,784
2020 12 31
121,905 13,424 53,712 54,769
10.4
2021 12 31
1,788 661 3,062
131 145 271
232 4 (103)
2,870 390 (1,403)
2020 12 31
39 3,319 (1,275)
7 359 (59)
168 1 22)
3,767 459 1,011
117
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2021 12 31

2020 12 31

IFRS

IFRS

68,398
8,418
8,408

42,729

45,190
6,450

8,700
49,265

304/559

3,408

an
2,374

7,419

10
3,707

100

(3,037)

@71)
(103)
(1,494)

1,249
59

23)
926

4,672
®)

1,596

6,183
54

2,051
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2021 12 31
14 - - 14
n/a n/a 1.41
86 23 15 48
0.78 0.80 0.85
39 7 23 9
2020 12 31
26 - 12 14
n/a 1.18 1.41
88 - 39 49
n/a 0.79 0.85
61 19 33 9
10.4
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2021 12 31
14 - 4
15 €Y
4 1 2
33 1 5
2020 12 31
- 4 7
6 26 14
5 1 2
11 31 23
30
2021 12 31
5 14 @7
2020 12 31
23 (16) (30)
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2021 12 31
4,156 4,156 - -
2020 12 31
3,518 3,518 - -
2021 1.58 2020
1.63 1.67 2020 1.74 6.37 2020
6.45
2021 12 31
- 22 1)
2020 12 31
1 55 278
30
2021 12 31
11 504 146
2020 12 31

(278) 420 146
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1
2021 12 31
5,064,012 21,116 18,316
125,201 1,855 394
5,189,213 22,971 18,710
474,129 4,802 5,949
6,680 98 37
7,406 14 22
332 2 6
488,547 4,916 6,014
0TC 4,360,076 13,872 9,751
0TC 71,696 1,506 1,709
124,470 1 1
4,556,242 15,379 11,461
2,176 141 23
4 - 46
17,043 680 772
5,064,012 21,116 18,316
121,832 1,823 371
141 32 1
3,228 - 22
125,201 1,855 394
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2020 12 31
4,612,409 27,700 24,941
124,745 1,938 3,461
4,737,154 29,638 28,402
396,571 8,968 7,739
4,976 58 88
5,109 6 6
380 7 10
407,036 9,039 7,843
0TC 3,999,005 15,734 14,227
0TC 65,639 2,483 2,527
129,268 1 1
4,193,912 18,218 16,755
1,111 120 10
3 1 1
10,347 322 332
4,612,409 27,700 24,941
121,905 1,937 3,406
175 1 -
2,664 - 55
124,744 1,938 3,461
1 2021 IAS 32
10.5
IBOR 2014
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FCA 2021 2021
LIBOR Libor
2023 IBOR
RFR
I1BOR EONIA IBOR EONIA 2022
RFR IT
2021 12 31
LIBOR
IBOR
2021 12 31
Libor
34,069 14,550
- 100 100
- 32,808 14,445
- 1,161 5
Libor
3,507 2,242
- 2,380 2,021
- 1,127 221
627,491 486,756
IFRS

2.1

IAS 39 IFRS
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@)
()
2021 FCA Libor
2021
IBOR
1BOR
LIBOR
IBOR
LIBOR
Euribor 1BOR
LIBOR 1BOR
1BOR
2021 12 31
Libor - 57 - 57
Libor 35 3,279 5,616 8,930
Libor - - 177 177
35 3,336 5,793 9,164
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EONIA 2021 Libor
LIBOR Libor
11
2021 2020
10,195 11,603
192,492 188,117
20,551 19,907
! 179,270 171,281
18,142 23,166
153 172
1,853 1,862
13,904 17,355
436,560 433,463
3,408 7,419
(3,497) (4,700)
436,471 436,182
1 2021
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2021 2020
6,570 6,282
5,251 5,101
3,987 3,952
2,713 2,846
1,719 1,564
1,541 1,378
21,781 21,123
1,385 1,495
20,396 19,628
308 451
20,704 20,079
780 788
2,288 2020 2,072 2021
2020
12
2021 2020
9,642 9,974
3,571 5,006
153 178
178 337
13,544 15,495
2021 2020
63 107
91 174
24 56
178 337
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2021 10 2021
30
13
2021 2020
2,183 2,308
41 (55)
52 64
(214) (52)
334 188
78) (45)
15) 14)
- (213)
(49) -
28 2
2,282 2,183
18 2020
13.1
2021 12 31
B.V. 31% 31%

45

2020 45
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2021 12 31
2021
2021 2020
1,569 2,184
78,132 81,639
9,805 9,832
89,506 93,655
57,175 58,401
20,083 20,564
1,615 4,131
78,873 83,096
21,235 23,558
468 642
(49) (45)
419 597
2021 2020
10,633 10,559
1,250 1,250
350 350
9,033 8,959
31.14% 30.00%
2,813 2,687
(1,281) (1,232)
1,532 1,455
2021 2020
161 (6)
161 (6)
161 (6)
13.2
BPD 105 2020 68
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BPD
Cv-Bv
VOF Cv-Bv
VOF
Cv-Bv
VOF
2021 2020 BPD
2021 2020

37 23

37 23

37 23
BPD 2021 12 31

2020 70

2020 74
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2021 12 31
322 351 67 740
- 4 1 5
- 98 11 109
- @ o (©)
- 3 (10) Q)
- (80) (25) (105)
- (61) - (61)
322 313 43 678
322 1,479 268 2,069
- (1,166) (225) (1,391)
322 313 43 678

2020 12 31
392 323 114 829
- @ o (©)
- 112 17 129
- (13) ®) (19)
- 25 22) 3
- (84) (35) (119)
(70) (10) - (80)
322 351 67 740
322 1,438 284 2,044
- (1,087) @17) (1,304)
322 351 67 740

317/559
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322 2020 322
10 10
61 2020 10
15
2021 2020
849 948
216 260
3,007 2,924
4,072 4,132
360 433
4,432 4,565
2021 12 31
948 260 2,924 4,132
3 3 156 162
11 46 1,119 1,176
- (29) (378) (407)
18 - - 18
(54) - (118) @a72)
® ) - (15)
23 - - 23
74) (76) - (150)
- - (713) (713)
(18) 19 17 18
12 31 849 216 3,007 4,072
1,942 783 4,823 7,548
(1,093) (567) (1,816) (3,476)
12 31 849 216 3,007 4,072
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2020 12 31
2,447 943 4,705 8,095
(1,242) (668) (1,591) (3,501)
1,205 275 3,114 4,594
1,205 275 3,114 4,594
® (©) (162) (169)
35 48 1,071 1,154
@ (14) (353) (368)
- - 67 67
31 - (103) (132)
(122) - - (122)
87 (84) - 17
- - 727) @727)
@n 38 17 8
12 31 948 260 2,924 4,132
2,322 908 4,583 7,813
(1,374) (648) (1,659) (3.681)
12 31 948 260 2,924 4,132
2021 12 31
2020 122 2021
23 2020
2021 2020
323 393
34 40
3 -
360 433
442 504
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2021 11 2020 19
2021 2020
79 85
17 19
1 1
97 105
16 18
9
2021 66 2020 64
2021 2020
709 417
491 580
333 399
166 256
186 127
133 113
2,018 1,892
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16
2021 2020
521 454
(@)) (83)
450 371
450 371
10 46
an ®)
34 49
(10) -
(18) -
(10) ®)
(©) -
3 2
2 ®)
12 31 438 450
506 521
(68) (@))
12 31 438 450
563 2020 550
RICS
2021 2020

321/559
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67%
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17
2021 2020
1,635 1,743
917 618
4,590 2,590
2,047 1,637
416 433
27 3 3
334 -
224 484
10,166 7,508
2021 2020
1,533 1,372
507 250
7 15
2,047 1,637
2021
24 2020
2021 2021 12 31
392 5 (59) 338
11 3 - 14
12 - (10) 2
415 8 (69) 354
2020 2020 12 31
374 4 14 392
58 3 (50) 11
4 - 8 12
436 7 (28) 415
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2021 2020
1,334 1,059
4 -
(830) (809)
o -
507 250
18
73 2020 52
45
19
2021 2020
1,068 1,068
16,219 19,073
181 439
55,527 40,518
13 64
73,008 61,162
20
2021 2020
126,606 107,706
61,011 56,411
183,581 190,699
527 550
306 5,570
- 92
372,031 361,028
16 2020 12
21
2021 2020
16,809 16,421
8,504 6,740
64,528 77,156
18,868 13,204
108,709 113,521
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22
1,419 2020 998
23
2021 2020
3,073 4,382
744 793
3,817 5,175
173 2020 145
30
77 2020 61
24
2021 2020
4,547 4,452
1,178 1,559
442 504
27 219 221
39 (89)
6,425 6,647
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25
2021 2020
145 292
413 84
4.3.4 108 142
406 101
1,072 619
2021 292 84 101 477
67 355 323 745
(49) (16) (26) 91)
(165) (10) (28) (203)
- - 36 36
2021 12 31 145 413 406 964
2020 271 198 168 637
102 50 89 241
(50) (95) (135) (280)
(31) (69) 1) (121)
2020 12 31 292 84 101 477
4.10
2021 2020
691 370
377 242
4 7
1,072 619

325/559
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26
2021 12 31
453 2020 756
147 2020 82 306
2020 674 2035
63 2020 66
2021 12 31
79 2020 120
2021 12 31
37 - ) (€))
160 (14) 127 -
23 - 3 -
220 - (29) _
152 an @ -
3 O] ©) -
® - - (60)
2 - - 11
@n - - 15
45 - - ©
100 307 (107) -
93 71 (25) -
803 343 (38) (44)
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2020 12 31
34 - - ®)
282 19 (144) -
21 - 6) -
191 - (44) _
123 (15) 161 -
53 ) 60 -
(65) - - 21
13 - - )
(12) - - €))
36 - - 4
112 406 (269) -
61 60 25 -
849 430 @17 9
27
©) ©)
219 221
216 218
115 128
101 90
216 218
27.1
68
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IAS 19
2021 12 31
IFRS
2021
2021 2020
548 569
433 441
115 128
2021 2020
569 545
11 (8)
4 6
(15) (15)
- ®
2 9
5 ©)
3 -
31) 43
12 31 548 569
441 427
6 ®
2 4
11 10
(15) 13)
2 -
8
22) 17
12 31 433 441
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2021 2020
4 6
@ O]
- @)
2021 2020
0.8% 0.4%
2.0% 1.3%
2.0% 1.3%
2021 2020 2021 2020
0.25% (14) (16) 15 17
0.25% 2 3 @) ®3)
0.25% - - - -
15 17 (15) an
2022 2020
16 2020 17
27.2

329/559



EDINETOOOO

O000DO00oDO000o0Oo00oOodnoE.s23)

28
2021 2020
9,880 13,486
9,880 13,486
2029
500 4.00% 2017 2024
1,500 3.75% 2016 2026
1,500 4.375% 2015 2025
1,250 5.25% 2015 2045
1,000 4.625% 2014 2029
50,800 1.429% 2014 2024
588 3.875% 2013 2023
545 4.625% 2013 2023
1,250 5.75% 2013 2043
706 4.125% 2012 2022
500 5.25% 2012 2027
678 3.95% 2012 2022
10 4.21% 2005 2025
10 5.32% 2004 2024
29
2021 2020

3,868 3,381

45,625 41,877

20,634 20,069

70,127 65,327
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710
2020 559
30
2021 2020

(887) (1,412)

136 321

(19 7

78 36

(173) (171)

(130) (109)

32,087 29,234

331/559

31,097 27,852



EDINETOOOO
O000DO00oDO000o0Oo00oOodnoE.s23)
oOoOooodn

2021 2020
(1,412) (742)
548 (978)
[¢5)) 278
(13) 13)
1 43
(887) (1,412)
165 131
1 12)
4 (10)
(56) 149
(100) (93)
14 165
156 177
(65) (15)
31 ®)
- (©))
122 156
41 (26)
41 (62)
11 37
3 4
(14) én
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2021 2020
36 46
(©)) -
46 (10)
78 36
- (26)
- 26
171) (170)
®) -
(6) 9
9 (10)
@173) @171)
(109) (143)
22) 35
1 @
(130) (109)
29,234 28,910
3,596 1,055
(687) (232)
@n (120)
- (376)
(31) -
2 @
32,087 29,234
31,097 27,852
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31
AK Tier
313,005,461 25
AK
ECB 2021 30
2021 12 29 1.21478
2021 1.625
25
2021 2020
7,822 7,449
- 376
3 ©)

7,825 7,822
32
32.1
750

750 3.10 2021 21
2021 29
2028 29 2028 29

3.234
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1,000

2018
12 29

1,250

12

29

1,000

2020
12 29

32.2

1,250

250

12 29

29

12 29

2021 11

4.625

3.25

4.375

2016

2008

4.098
3.702
4.679
16 1,250
2021
10 250

2018

2019

2020

29

EDINETOOOO
O000DO00oDO000o0Oo00oOodnoE.s23)

OoOoOoOoOodno
11
2025 12 29 2025
2019
2026 12 29 2026 12
14
2027 12 29 2027

2022
2021 12 31
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33
2021 2020

476 477

9% 41

17 (34)

- @

@n ®

- @

502 476

AGCO SNC
B.V. 51
76 2020 72
B.V.
2021 2020

28 46

7 12

7 12

3 6

358 525

74 97

258 452

19 24

AGCO SNC 51

111

336/559
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AGCO SNC
2021 2020
45 43
29 19
29 19
14 9
10 -
1,967 1,942
4 1
1,684 1,663
60 62
34
2021 12 31
113,521 13,486 127,007
(7,037) (4,288) (11,325)
3,414 599 4,013
(1,189) 83 (1,106)
108,709 9,880 118,589
2020 12 31
130,403 15,790 146,193
(13,519) (1,511) (15,030)
(4,252) (813) (5,065)
889 20 909
113,521 13,486 127,007
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35
1
2021 2020

61 110

99 79

11,593 12,779

199 187

99 207

12,051 13,362

31 30

14 22

1,083 269

84 93

1,212 414

13,263 13,776

77 117

1,321 1,691

1,487 2,034

16 7

811 785

119 139

566 661

454 315

61 30

4,912 5,779

8,351 7,997

2.1
17 2020 17
0.9 2020
267 2020 344
TLTRO-111 602

334
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2021 2020
829 725
437 417
364 301
382 369
1 1
60 55
228 211
2,301 2,079
181 201
53 45
11 9
48 44
293 299
2,008 1,780
37
2021 2020
1,575 1,354
1,233 1,066
342 288
960 914
719 734
241 180
32 26
11 14
21 12
604 480
38
2021 2020
334 188

339/559
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39
1
2021 2020
370 (55)
350 58
(49) (16)
676 (13)
1 2.1
2020 10
) i)
2021 2020
(140) 471
410 42)
395 (458)
33 (20)
22) 36
676 (13)
40
2021 2020
(124) 3
8 19
179 198
63 220

340/559
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41

2021 2020
2,821 2,656
286 277
430 403
2 -
79 96
3 52
1,036 1,200
4,657 4,684

43,361 2020 43,272

20
100
40 500,000
60
50
50
DRN DRN NYSE
RC DRN DRN
NYSE
DRN
DRN

DRN
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IAS 19
100,000
DRN
2021 12 31 13 2020
26 2020 27 13 2020
200 2020 138
DRN
2021 2020
1,165 1,433
425 291
(563) (525)
12) (34)
1,015 1,165
DRN
2021 12 31
2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
DRN 202.8 6.0 2.8 2.8 1.6 0.1 - 216.1
DRN 10.5 12.8 4.0 2.5 2.5 1.6 0.1 34.0
213.3 18.8 6.8 5.3 4.1 1.7 0.1 250.1
2020 12 31
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
DRN 138.2 6.4 4.9 3.6 1.0 0.0 - 154.2
DRN 16.0 9.3 3.7 2.4 1.1 0.9 0.0 33.4
154.2 15.8 8.6 6.0 2.1 0.9 0.0 187.6
42
2021 2020
542 120
I 387 365
419 375
87 92
56 124
544 387
2,035 1,463
2020 VAT

342/559



EDINETOOOO

O000DO00oDO000o0Oo00oOodnoE.s23)

oOoOooodn

343/559

43
2021 2020
150 171
97 105
105 119
352 395
44
2021 2020
(333) 2,034
1 -
(107) (103)
(35) (18)
@14 1,913
45
2021 2020
214 136
9 10
272 225
227 177
722 548
46
2021 2020
1,182 693
43 (73)
o ©)
(39) 17)
1,185 400
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2020
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2021 2020
4,877 1,496
25 1,219 25% 374
(3.4%) (164) (0.9%) (14)
1.1% 52 2.7% 41
2.3% 111 6.9% 103
(0.0%) @ (0.2%) (©)
(1.3%) (62) (4.8%) 72)
0.9% 43 (4.9%) (73)
(0.1%) ) (1.3%) (19)
0.2% 9 2.2% 33
(0.4%) (19) 2.0% 30
24.3% 1,185 26.7% 400

47

IAS 24
49
27

344/559
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2021 2020 2021
17 79 12 42
5 9 120 6
11 D) @ (36)
12 31 11 17 131 12
12 31 11 17 131 12
5,870 5,910 34 47
1,454 256 165 72
(1,410) (296) (149) (84)
- - - @
12 31 5,914 5,870 50 34
268 261 - -
11 7 - -
255 251 - 1
1 10 - -
267 268 - 1
200 202 - -
46 46 - -
246 248 - -
48
PwC 2021
2021 2020
PwC PwC
PwC PwC
8.7 9.2 17.9 8.8 8.5 17.3
1.6 0.4 2.0 1.5 0.5 2.0
- 0.3 0.3 - 0.3 0.3
10.3 9.9 20.2 10.3 9.3 19.6

345/559



49

EU

537 2015

TLTRO-111

10

346/559
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PwC

55
41
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980 - 28 210 1,218
LKSD 884 20 28 187 1,119
800 - 28 167 995
750 6 28 155 939
CFO 884 - 28 187 1,099
CHRO 650 59 28 131 868
CITO 750 21 28 155 954
CRO 750 20 28 155 953

ClI0O CO00 2021
500 750 19 103 1,372
2021 6,948 876 243 1,450 9,518
7,098 144 252 1,478 8,972
589 14 19 19 641
2020 7,687 158 271 1,497 9,613

2021 DRN 2020 2,761
2021 106,086
2021
1.1 2020 1.2
VAT
VAT

220,000
120,000
90,000

20,000

347/559
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VAT
162
113
2021 14 64
90
2021 12 6
110
110
96
96
2021 22 160
2021 1,006
2020 999
2021 2020 2021 2020

3.5 5.0 1.7 1.8
1.1 - 1.0 -
1.2) (0.3) (0.9) (0.1)
- (1.2) - -
12 31 3.4 3.5 1.8 1.7

%

2021 12 31

0.7 1.5
0.8 1.4
0.8 2.6
1.1 1.6

%

2020 12 31

O O O O
© O 00 -
N w NN O
W oI NN O ol
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2021 12 31
1.2 1.4
0.6 2.4
%
2020 12 31
1.1 1.4
0.6 2.5
2021
2021 12 31
840
1,018
16,084
50
2021 12 31
DLL B.V. 100% 100%
BPD B.V. 100% 100%
N.V. 100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

349/559
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2021 COvVID-19
W&R
o1
51.1
2021 2020
16,590 15,803
13,898 17,265
30,488 33,068
2021 12 31 31,043 2020 34,387
51.2
2021 2020
181 439
527 550

708 989

350/559
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2021 12 31 716 2020 1,125
51.3
2.15
91,189 2020 81,004
89,963 2020 79,118 80
2020 73
2,404 2020 1,941
2,403 2020 1,941
51.4
2021 2020
49 85
1,443 2,174
27,482 28,503
370 692
1,397 2,983

30,741 34,437

351/559
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ABCP
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
5 30 35 7 28 35
2 727 729 35 439 474
25 - 25 57 - 57
542 - 542 649 - 649
3 - 3 4 - 4
105 116 221 85 187 272
682 873 1,555 837 654 1,491
46 - 46 5 - 5
201 - 201 221 - 221
247 - 247 226 - 226

2020

53

353/559
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54
CEO CFO
C0s0 2013
2021 12 31
C0SO 2013
2021 12 31
2021 12 31
273

2022

404
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13

CFO
CRO

2022
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
1 119,707 15,353,620 107,914 13,841,050
2 231 29,628 576 73,878
15,912 2,040,873 15,203 1,949,937
15,272 1,958,787 13,404 1,719,197
3 31,184 3,999,660 28,607 3,669,134
1,746 223,942 1,728 221,633
369,431 47,383,220 382,752 49,091,772
14,129 1,812,186 17,520 2,247,115
4 385,306 49,419,348 402,000 51,560,520
5 77,678 9,962,980 64,242 8,239,679
6 198 25,395 221 28,345
7 15,251 1,956,093 13,986 1,793,844
8 1,586 203,420 1,511 193,801
9 333 42,711 389 49,893
10 1,233 158,145 1,424 182,642
11 6,270 804,190 5,700 731,082
12 24,517 3,144,550 32,565 4,176,787
1,269 162,762 655 84,010
664,763 85,262,502 659,790 84,624,665

356/559
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31

181 23,215 431 55,280

74,384 9,540,492 61,328 7,865,929
14 74,565 9,563,707 61,759 7,921,209

145,548 18,667,986 153,939 19,744,216

121 15,519 150 19,239

218,874 28,072,779 202,799 26,011,000
15 364,543 46,756,285 356,888 45,774,455
16 92,385 11,849,300 95,971 12,309,240
17 59,513 7,633,137 61,001 7,823,988
12 18,771 2,407,568 28,313 3,631,425
1,091 139,932 1,486 190,594
18 1,115 143,010 730 93,630
19 9,880 1,267,209 13,486 1,729,714
621,863 79,760,148 619,634 79,474,257

7,825 1,003,635 7,822 1,003,250

3,978 510,218 4,482 574,861

220 28,217 376 48,226

17 2,180 (666) (85,421)

27,264 3,496,881 27,087 3,474,179

3,5% 461,223 1,055 135,314
20 42,900 5,502,354 40,156 5,150,409
664,763 85,262,502 659,790 84,624,665
28 72,217 9,262,552 68,186 8,745,536

357/559
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
21 11,408 1,463,190 11,937 1,531,040
21 5,654 725,182 6,467 829,457
21 5,754 738,008 5,470 701,582
22 2,109 270,500 1,917 245,874
22 272 34,887 285 36,554
22 1,837 235,614 1,632 209,320
23 2,493 319,752 961 123,258
147 18,854 (167) (21,419)
(739) (94,784) (162) (20,778)
363 46,558 244 31,295
(229) (29,372) (85) (10,902)
(29) (3.720) 62 7,952
9,826 1,260,283 8,040 1,031,210
24 3,579 459,043 3,508 449,936
1,501 204,062 1,184 151,860
291 37,324 329 42,198
5,461 700,428 5,021 643,993
- - 213 27,319
(322) (41,300) 1,182 151,603
25 637 81,702 489 62,719
4,050 519,453 1,135 145,575
26 454 58,230 80 10,261
3,596 461,223 1,055 135,314

358/559
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1
362
RJ
30046259
2
Tier Tier Tier
CRD IV CRR Tier Tier

CRR 104a
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CET AT Tier Tier
4 5% 1.50% 6.0% 2.0% 8.0%
0.98% 0.33% 1.31% 0.44% 1.75%
2.5% - 2.5% - 2.5%
0.01% - 0.01% - 0.01%
8.00% 1.83% 9.83% 2.44% 12.26%

CET 16.2 2020 16.0
4.10
2021 2020

400 73
189 11

360/559
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2021 2020
16 25
215 551
231 576

2021 2020
20,543 20,166
10,641 8,441
31,184 28,607
11,805 11,340
7,334 8,157
5,462 4,019
4,575 2,282
565 611
1,443 2,198
31,184 28,607

16,400 2020 15,965

361/559
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2021 2020

1,746 1,728
369,431 382,752
14,129 17,520
385,306 402,000
77,097 74,165
159,505 157,273
887 548

153 178

857 1,164
383,409 400,110
385,306 402,000
47,571 50,244
16,188 18,133
25,224 28,566
79,831 83,845
211,352 210,975
3,243 8,347
383,409 400,110
17% 17%

24% 26%

59% 57%
100% 100%

12,456 2020 18,097

362/559
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2021 2020

8,223 8,087
69,455 56,155
77,678 64,242
1,429 1,818
76,242 62,381

7 43

77,678 64,242
65,521 50,671
11,610 13,306
66,068 50,936
77,678 64,242

2021 2020

38 61

10 8

150 152

198 221

133 143

65 78

198 221
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7
2021 2020

3,611 3,776

11,640 10,210

15,251 13,986

13,986 14,077

110 291

- (16)

2,374 783

(1,519) (331)

299 (808)

1 (10)

12 31 15,251 13,986
8

B.V.
2021 2020

1,586 1,511

1,586 1,511

1,511 1,632

13 4

®) -

119 170

®) (€D

- (213)

(45) (45)

12 31 1,586 1,511

364/559
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9
2021 2020
389 417
3 1
96 110
) 19)
(96) (109)
(61) (10)
6 @
12 31 333 389
1,212 1,125
10
2021 2020
810 898
164 212
259 314
1,233 1,424
2021 898 212
11 31
- (28)
(69) (61)
® ®
23 -
(36) -
©) 16
2021 12 31 810 164
1,034 469
2020 1,153 218
32 38
@ 14)
(82) (G
(122) -
(31) -
(50) 37
2020 12 31 898 212
1,318 559
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2021 2020
51 161
424 279
3 3
4,590 2,590
1,202 2,667
6,270 5,700
2021 2020
23,562 31,531
955 1,034
24,517 32,565
18,577 28,180
194 133
18,771 28,313
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2021 12 31
oTC 4,487,061 16,028 11,452
123,681 1 1
4,610,742 16,029 11,453
oTC 479,403 5,131 5,922
479,403 5,131 5,922
2,176 141 23
oTC 15,873 509 807
15,873 509 807
56,926 469 46
8,424 1,251 325
65,350 1,720 371
140 32 1

5,173,684 23,562 18,577

367/559
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2020 12 31
0TC 4,063,168 20,653 15,798
126,852 - -
4,190,020 20,653 15,798
01C 398,964 6,738 7,882
398,964 6,738 7,882
1,111 120 10
0TC 9,574 257 321
9,574 257 321
112,320 1,893 3,629
9,586 1,860 508
121,906 3,753 4,137
175 10 32
4,721,750 31,531 28,180

368/559
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13
2021 2020
16 25
887 548
1,429 1,818
150 152
2,482 2,543
215 551
76,242 62,381
38 61
153 178
76,648 63,171
65,510 50,661
63,171 61,794
465 (267)
22,249 9,407
(9,139) (7,764)
(361) 187
263 (186)
12 31 76,648 63,171
89 73
417 351
1,284 911
1,828 3,761
72,992 58,015
38 60
76,648 63,171
7 43
10 8
857 1,164
874 1,215

369/559
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2021 2020
14,755 17,880
4,595 3,713
55,121 40,118
94 48
74,565 61,759
6,378 4,350
855 878
2,258 3,715
56,590 42,006
841 853
7,643 9,957
74,565 61,759
16 2020 12
2021 2020
350,313 338,995
8,422 12,082
5,808 5,811
364,543 356,888
2021 2020
324,431 311,939
6,273 8,411
4,346 7,323
7,189 6,622
21,265 21,830
1,039 763
364,543 356,888

370/559
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16
2021 2020
60,094 67,638
32,291 28,333
92,385 95,971
4,945 7,078
10,946 8,220
20,996 19,435
28,178 29,740
27,320 31,498
92,385 95,971
17
2021
54
2021 2020
53,574 57,326
429 20
5,510 3,655
59,513 61,001
18
2021 2020
168 175
- 24
105 138
842 393
1,115 730
84 2020 96 84 2020
79

371/559
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2021 278 73 42 393
62 351 312 725
(43) (15) 14) (72)
(164) ) (31) (204)
2021 12 31 133 400 309 842
2020 261 183 69 513
90 48 75 213
(44) (89) (83) (216)
(29) (69) (19) (117)
2020 12 31 278 73 42 393
19
2021 2020
9,880 13,486
12 31 9,880 13,486
2029
500 4.00% 2017 2024
1,500 3.75% 2016 2026
1,500 4.375% 2015 2025
1,250 5.25% 2015 2045
1,000 4.625% 2014 2029
50,800 1.429% 2014 2024
588 3.875% 2013 2023
545 4.625% 2013 2023
1,250 5.75% 2013 2043
706 4.125% 2012 2022
500 5.25% 2012 2027
678 3.95% 2012 2022
10 4.21% 2005 2025
10 5.32% 2004 2024

372/559
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20
2021 2020

7,825 7,822

3,978 4,482

220 376
17 (666)

27,264 27,087

3,596 1,055

42,900 40,156

AK Tier
313,005,461 25
AK
ECB 2021 30
2021 12 29 1.21478
2021 1.625
25
2021 2020
7,822 7,449
- 376
3 (€))

7,825 7,822

373/559
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32
2021 2020

4,482 5,264

750 1,000

® ®

(1,282) (1,760)

32 an

12 31 3,978 4,482

2021 2020

) 0

15 163

141 224

78 36

220 376

376 359

38 (@75)

(82) 152

(44) 6

(68) (66)

12 31 220 376

IAS 39
IFRS
IFRS 100

374/559
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2021 2020
605 402
299 343
(887) (1,411)
17 (666)
2021 2020
(666) (106)
159 109
524 (669)
12 31 17 (666)
2021 2020
173) @171)
(130) (109)
27,567 27,367
27,264 27,087
2021 2020
@171) (170)
@ €))
12 31 (173) 171
(109) (143)
22) 35
1 €))
12 31 (130) (109)
2021 2020
27,367 26,059
1,055 2,158
(686) (234)
(159) (109)
46 ©)
@7 (120)
(31) -
- (376)
2 @
12 31 27,567 27,367

375/559
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2020
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2020 1,096
1,055 96

oOoOooodn

2020 41

2021 2020
42,900 40,156
502 476
IFRS ) 43,402 40,632
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21
2021 2020
46 104
155 198
8,260 9,280
199 187
205 398
8,865 10,167
31 30
1,355 1,393
14 20
1,132 309
11 18
2,543 1,770
11,408 11,937
61 96
2,875 3,246
1,485 1,964
16 7
119 139
563 656
490 345
45 14
5,654 6,467
5,754 5,470
22
2021 2020
829 728
446 441
397 310
298 292
2 1
137 145
2,109 1,917
180 200
23 22
11 9
24 21
34 33
272 285
1,837 1,632

377/559
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23
2021 2020
2,374 783
119 170
- 8
2,493 961
24
2021 2020
2,096 1,984
208 212
371 355
61 78
843 879
3,579 3,508
35,372 2020 35,920
3,002 2020 3,363
33,563 2020 34,484
25
2021 2020
179 116
9 10
226 188
223 175

637 489
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26
2021 2020
575 278
28 74)
(149) (124)
454 80
11.2% 7.0%
25.0% 25.0%
2021
11.2 2020 7.0
2021 2020
4,050 1,135
25% 1,013 250 284
(15.6%) (632)  (16.4%) (185)
(0.1%) 0)) 1.5% 17
2.3% 95 6.5% 74
(1.1%) 4  (5.2%) (59)
0.7% 28 (6.5%) 74)
0.2% 7 (1.8%) @1
0.4% 18 2.1% 24
(0.7%) @n 1.8% 20
11.2% 454 7.0% 80
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2021 2020
15,912 15,203
14,129 17,520
30,041 32,723

2021 2020

181 431
121 150
302 581
2021 2020
1,443 2,174
21,349 24,192
1,768 3,674
24,560 30,040
2021 2020
6,234 5,927
42,354 39,116
23,629 23,143
72,217 68,186
12,666 12,734
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29
2021
2021 12 31
DLL B.V. 100% 100%
BPD B.V. 100% 100%
N.V. 100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
30
33
49
31
3,596 686
32
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Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

Consalidaed Staterment of Financal Position
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Consolidated Statement of Income

Consalidared Staterment of income
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

Consalidated Staterment of Compreheniioe oome
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Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity

Comofidated Statement of Changed in Equrty
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Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

Consalidaed Staterment of Cash Fows
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Corporate Information

Rababank 15 an international financial services provider
operating on the basis of cooperative principles. Qur focus

is om delivering all-finance services in the Netharlands and
an serving ouf Foad & Agr custamers internationally. We
create value with our strategy and the products and services
we offer customers in Retall Banking, Whaolesale Bamking,
Rural Banking, Private Banking. Vendor Finance, Leasing, and
Property Development. Rabobank's Consolidated Financial
Satements include the financial information of Cobperatieve
Rabobank WA, and its consolidated subsidianes in the
Netherlands and abroad. Codperatisve Rabobank LA, 58
cooperation and has its registered soat in Amsterdam and
registered office at Croeselaan 18, 3521 CB in Utrecht, The
Netherlands. CoBperatieve Rabobank UA, is registered under
Chamber of Commerce number 30046259 and |15 principal
place of business is the Netherlands. The name of the ultimate
parent of the greup |5 Codperatieve Rabebank LLA_

2.  Accounting Policies

2.1  Basis of Preparation

Rabobank’s Consolidated Financial Statements have boen
prepared in accordance with International Financial Aeporting
Standards {IFR%) as adapted by the European Union (EXU)

and the applicable articles of Part 9 of Beok 2 of the Dutch
Ciwil Code. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the basis of the sccounting palicies et oul in
this section.

Mew and Amended Standards lssued by the
International Accounting Standards Board {|ASE)
and Adopted by the European Union which
Apply in the Current Financial Year

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2 (Amendments fo IFRS 9,
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFR5 4, and IFRS 16 ]

In August 2050, the |ASRissued amendments that complament
those issued in 2019 (Fhase 1) and focus on the effects

af the iwterest rate benchmark reform on a company’s
financial statements that arise when, for example, an intenest
rate benchmark used 1o calculate intenest In a financial

assat is replaced with an altermative benchmark rate. Phase

2 amendments address ssues that might affect financial

Habaobank Anmisl Aepart 2001 - Comsolidated Financlal Strtements

reparting during the relorm of an interest rate benchmark,
including the effects of changes to contractual cash flows

ar hedging relationships. In Phase I, the A58 amended
requurements in IFRS 9 Financial instruments. 1AS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, IFRS 7 Fimancial
instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 4 insurance Contracts and FRS
16 Leade relating 1o i) changes in the bagds for determining
contractual cash flows of Bnancial assets, financial liabiities
and lease labalities i) hedge accounting and il disclosures,

These Phase 2 amendments apply anly to changes required
loy the intedest rate benchmark reform to financial Instruments
and hedging relationships. The amendments are effective for
annual periads beginning on or after January 1, 2021, The
implementation of these amendments did net affect profit or
oquity since the reliel intends to prevent an accounting effect
an profit or equity of changes in contractual cash flows of
financial assets, finandal labilitkes, lease Habilities, or hedging
relationships as a result of the benchmark rate replace ment.

Amendments to (FRS 4 insurance Contracts

Amendments have bean made to IFR5 4 regarding the
deferral of IFRS 8, The amendments to IFRS 4 permit

enfities that predominantly undertake insurance activities
the eption 1o defer the effective date of IFRS 9 untid

Jamvapry 1, 2023, The effect of such a deferral is that the
entities concemed may continue to report undes 1AS 29
Financial Instrumenty; Recognition and Measurement, WS 28
Investmants in Associates and kaint Ventures requives an entity
to apply uniform accounting policles when using the equity
method. Nevertheless, for annual perlods beginning before
Jamuary 1, 2023, an entity is permitted, but not required, to
relaln the relevant accounting policies applied h:,' the associale
of joint wenture as follows: (a) the entity apglies IFRS 9. but
theassociate or joint venture applies the temporary exemplion
from IFRS & or (b] the entity applies the temporary exemption
from IFRS 9, but the associate or joint venture applies IFRS 9.
These amendments ase effective for annual periods beginning
onof after January 1, 2021, Rabobank applies FR59 as of
Jamuary 1, 2008, Achmea BY, an assoclate of Rabobank, that
undertaes insurance aclivities has chosen o we the oplion
to defor tha effective date of IFRS 9 and therefore continues
10 apply 1AS 35, Rabobank uses the temparary exemption 1o
not apply [FRS 9 when measunng Achmea BY accosding to the

equity method under 105 28,

390/559

142



EDINETOOOO
O00OO00O000000000000040d0(ee5923)
Oooooooa

Wlanagement Repon Coporate Goeeprmance Comolidsted Financial Statements Cowmipua vy Fangmarial Shalementy b Infoormution

Amendments o [FRS 18 Leases: Covid-19- Reloted Rent
Concessions beyond 30 une 2021

Im May 2020, the 1ASE Issued Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions, which amended IFRS 16 Leases. The amendments
permit lessees, a1 a practical expedient, not 1o assess whether
particular rent concessions ocourring as a direct consequence
of the Covid-19 pandemic are lease modifications and instead
to account for those rent concesslons as if they are not lease
madifications. The amendment does not affect lessors. In
March 2021, the 1458 propaied an amendment ta IFRS 16 ta
extend the availability of the practical expedient in paragraph
464 5o that it applies to rent concesssons Tos which amy
reduction in lease payments affects only payments orlginally
due on or before 30 June 20232, provided the other conditions
for applying the practical expedient are met. As a lessee,
Rabobank has not ebtained any lease concessions due to
Covid-19. As such, this amendment does not affect profit

or ﬂq‘.lll".

Mew and Amended Standards lssued by the
International Accounting Standards Board {|ASE)
and Adopted by the European Union Which Do
Mot yet Apply in the Current Financial Year
Amendments have been made 1o IFRS 3, 145 16, 1A 37 and the
Annual improvements 3018-2020 which will be effective for
annual pericds beginning on or after January 1, 2022,

Although these now requinemants ane currently being
analyzed and their impact i5 nat yet known, Rabobank does
net expect the implementation of these amendments to affect
jprafit ar equity,

Mew Standards lssued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) but not yet
Endorsed by the European Union

IFRS 17 Insirance Contracts

The IASH issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts with an offective
date of annual petiods beginning on or after fanueary 1,

2023, IFRS 17 establishes the prindples for the recognition,
measurement, presentation, and disclosure of insurance
CONCIACLS within the scope of the standard. The objective of
IFAS 17 iz toensure that an nﬂl!il:,' pravides relewant information
that falthiully represents those contracts, This infarmation
provides 3 basis for users of financial staterments to assess the
effect that insurance contracts have on an entity's financial
position financial perarmande and cash flows. The standard
will affect Rababank's asseciate, Achmea BV, Rababank is
currently assessing the impacton its own financial statements,

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

Other Amendments to IFRS

Minor amendments have been made tolAS 1,185 Band IAS 12
wihich will beeffective for annual periods beginnsng on or after
Januwary 1, 2023. The amendments relate to the classification
of labilities as eument or non-cument, the disclosure of
accounting policies, the definition of accoumnting estimates,
and deferred tax related to assets and liabilives ansing from
a single transaction. Although these new requirements are
currently being analyzed and thelr impact is not yet known,
Rabobank does not expect the implementation of thede
amendments o affect profit or equity.

Reclassification and Change in Presentation

Reclassification in the Consolldated Statement ofincome of 2020
Part of the result of some derivatives used in e hedge
relationship have historically been presented a5 part aof the
ling item "Gainy/ (lasses) on financial assets and Rabilities at
falr walwoe through profit or loss”. This bs inconsistent with

how the results on derfvatives held as economic hedge are
usually treated. I order to align this, these results have baen
reclassified to merest expense. The effect is:

Thee Birve [ tems Tnierest expense’ and Wetinterest income’ have
been adjusted. Net interest income has been decreased by
EUR 187 million and the line item ‘Gains [losses) an fimancial
assets and labdlities at falr value through profitor loss” has been
imcreased by the same amaunt. Prior year balanees have been
reclassified 1o ensune presentation on a comparable basis. This
adjustment has no effect on total Income nor equity,

Change in presentatian

In 2020 Rabobank presented separately on the face of the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position the line item
“Financial assets designated st falr value™ This line item s no
longer prtuf'l'li:d slpbrll:l,rin 2021 ad the amount is Fero as
por Decombier 31, 2021, The 2020 amount was EUR 1 milllon
and has maved to "Other assets”,

Going Concern

The Managing Board considers it apprepriate 1o adept

the going concemn basis of accounting in preparing these
fimancial statements, This is based on Rabobank's medium-
Leem planning (MTP) and budigel process which supparts the
going cencern assumption.

Judgments and Estimates

In preparing the consolidated financial statements
managemand applied judgment with respect 1o estimales
and assumplions that aflects the amounts reparted for
assets and liabilities, the reporting of contingent assets

143
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and liabilities on the date of the conselldated financlal
statements, and the amounts reported for Income and
expenses during the reparting peried. The accounting
principles listed belaw require critical estimartss thar are based
an atsesiments and assumptions, Althaugh management
estimates are based on the most carelul assessment of current
circumstances and activities on the basis of available financial
data and Information, the actual results may deviate from
these estimates.

Imgairment Alkvwances on Financial Asets

Rababank applies three-stage expected credit loss impairment
madcks for measring and recognizing expected cedit
losses which Invobée management jJudgment. Rabobank

uses estimates and management [udgment to determine

the expected credit losses for the model-based impairment
albowanced and 1o maeasure individually assessed financial
assats, On top of the madel-outcomes in certain circumstances
Rabobank appdies Top Leved Adjustments (TLAs) to adjust

Tor elaments that are not captured in the IFR5-9 models.
These TLAS often requises a significant degree of management
Judgment. These TLAS ane described in this section.

Further infarmation regarding the model based impairment
albowances is included in Section 4.3.6 " Judgments and
astimates on Moede | Based iImpairment Allowances on Financial
Assets”. For credit-impaired financial assets that are assessed
on an individual basis, a discounted cash flow calculation

is perfammed, | many cases, judgment is required for the
eatimation of the expected future cash flgws and the weighting
of the three scenarios,

TLA Covid- 18 Impact

The severe impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on seckety inlarge
jparts of the world ks gradually coming vo an end now that
the Dmicron vanant s spreading with milder symptoms than
previods variants. The main markets of Rabobank are ina phase
af recowry and gaing back ta a made nommal situation, The
macre-ecenomic cxpectations are pasitive and this franslates
into lpwer stage 1 and stage 2 impairment allowances, The
impact of the Covid-19 crisks in the Netherlands has been
milder than in many sther countries,

Duig to governmaent suppar in past twa years to Rabobank's
business clients, there b still no increase in dients facing
{re-jpayment difficulties. Rabobank however axpects an
increased inflow in stage 3 after government support ends.
The impact of Cavid-19 pandemic, the related containment
and support measures of the governmen? translate inta a high
lewed al uncertainty surrounding the expé cled oedit [asses
of Rabobank.

Hababani Annial Report 2001 - Cormalidated Financial Ssatements

Management assumes a significant Increase in credit risk for
business lgans exposures. in certaln sectors that ane hit hard
by the government restrictsons o contaln the virus and Tor
wihich the pandemac has lasting negative effects on future
budineis, All sectars warldwide (over 30} where Rabobank has
an exposure, have been analyzed on the impact of Covid-18
to determine the relative strength and outlock of subsectors
within the broad sector grouping, The goal of this analysls was
1o kdentlfy wainerable sectors. Vulnerable sector exposures are
considered to have a significant increaze in credit sk and ane
placed inity entirety in stage I (recognizing a lifetime expected
credit lossh, OF our total private sector loan partfolio, 2.3%
{2020 3,7%) was considered vulnorable at December 31, 2021,
Rabobank expects defaults [predominately In these vulnerable
sectons) to oceur after ending of the government support.
This support delayed ta a cemain extent the direct Ginancial
impack of the Covid-19 restrictions far most of Rabobank’s
business cBonts. As a result the banhruptcies have boan very
low in the Netherdands. The expected delayed defaults in the
wulnsrable sectors will have also a negative impact on the
other sectors. For this reason, management has judged that
for all business loans the IFAS 9 ECL model autcome did not
appropriately reflect the inersase in expected cnedit lodies.
Tharelone a total Covid-15 TLA of EUR 500 milllion (Decermbier
37, 2020; ELUR 887 million| was deemed necessary.

TLA Inferest Only Martgages

Within the well-perfarming resdential morgage pastfolio in
the Netherands, theinterest-only mortgages carry the lighest
risk, especlalywhen tha LTV is high [> B0%) and the customeris
approaching retiremant (leading to an income decrease), Since
afewyears Habobank approaches these customers individually
to make them aware of this risk and to seek possibliities to
prevent possible problems in the future. To a cenain extent,
thie curnent very law interest rate on savings accounts helps te
canvince theds custamen 1o amartize part af their morgage.
Habobank has altered the methodology 1o caloulate the TLA
for this specific subset of mortgage loans keading 1o an TLA of
EUR 25 milllgn |December 31, 2020 EUR 13 millkon),

TLA climate risk

On Decemiber 31, 2021, TLAS for physical risks that ane climate
related were recognized composing of a TLA for draught in
Chile of ELR 2 million {2020; EUR 2 million) and Tor Noads in
Australia of EUR 2 millian (2030 2ora),

Qther TLAs

OnDecember 31,2021, a TLAof EUR 105 million (December 31,
2000: EUR 114 million] nebates to IFRS & model back-test redults,

392/559

Oooooooa



Wanagement Repot

The remainder of the TLAs ks In total EUR 278 millien (Decernber
31, 2020: ELFR 257 rovfllsen).

Classsfication and measurement of TLTRON

Rabobank Is participatingin the third series of the ECB's TLTRO,
According to the terms, interest rates in these operations ane
thie awerage interest rate on the main refinancing operations
minus an Intenest bonus of 50 basls points during the special
interest period from June 24, 2020 1o June 23, 2027, and

the additianal special interest period from June 24, 2011 1o
June 13, 2002, and the average inlerest rate on the deposit
facility during the remainder of the life of the respective TLTRO
I transaction. Lower intenest rates will apply if Rabobank
achbaves certaln predefined lending thresholds. Interest will be
settled Inarrears on the maturity of each TLTRO 1 operation or
on early repayment.

Rabobank measured the TLTRO I according to IFRS 9 and
considers the whaole unconditional TLTRCI interest rate asa
flzating rate in scope of IFAS 9UB5.4.5, The TLTRO NI funding
wias inltially recognized at falr value and is subsequently
measured at amortized cost and presented a3 "Deposits
fram ereditinstitutions.” Rababank achieved the threshoeld
Toe the conditional special interest bonus in the first quanes
af 2021, and revised its estimates of paymenis and receipts,
The conditional special Interest rate bonas bs considened 1o
be a below market interest rate. On that basis, Rabobank
determined that the difference botween the value of the
TLTRO determined at the market interest rate indluding

the conditional special interest banus and the value of the
TLTRE determined at the market interest rate exchuding the
conditional spacial interest bonus is a government grant.
Rabobank considers the ECB as a government or similar
lbody for the purpase of applying 1AS 20. Flease refer to
Sectioen 232 "Government Grant” for the sccounting policy
on government grants. For furthet information on the inlerest
incomie recogniped from the TLTRO NI par December 31, 2021,
see Section 36 "Met intenest income®,

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Irfarmation regarding the detesmination of the fair value
af financial assers and labilites s included in Section 4.9
“Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabifities” and Section
11 "Derivatives”,

Impairment of Goodwill, Other ntangible Assets and
Irvestrmants in Associates and Joint Yentures

Thee other intangible assets and the investrments in associales
and join wertures are tested for impalrment when specific
triggers are [dentified, goodwill is tested at least once a

year. When the recoverable value is lower than the carrying

Habaobank Anmisl Aepart 2001 - Comsolidated Financlal Strtements
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amount, an impairment hoss is recognized. Determining

the recoverable amount In an impairment assessment of
these assets requires estimates based on quoted market
prices, prices of comparable businesses, present value, or
athet valuation techniques, ar a combination thereaf, which
necessitate management to make subjective judgments and
assumptions. Because these estimates and assumptions could
result in significant differences to the amounts reported If the
underlying ciroumstances were to change, these estimatas
are considered to be entical. The impartant assumpliong

far ditermining recoverable value of goodwill are set out

in Section 15 Geodwill and Gther Intangibie Assels™; the
assumptions for investrments n assodiates and joint ventures
are set gut In Section 14 “Investments in Assoclates and

Jaint Ventures®.

Taxation

Estimates are used when determining the income tax charge
and the related current and defermed taw assets and Habilites,
The tax treatment of transactions is not always dlear or certain
and, ima number of countries, prior year tax returns often
remain open and subject to approval of the tax authorities for
lenigthy periads. The tax assets and labilities reported hore are
based on the best available information, and where applicable,
@n axtemal advice, Differences between the final outcame
and the griginal estimates are accounted for in the curent
and deferred tax assets and liabilities in the period in which
reasonable cenainty is abtsined.

Other Provisions

Judgment Is invaheed in the application of 1AS 37 when
determining whather 3 present ebligation exists and in
astimating the probability, tirming, and amount of any
outflows. More information on judgments regarding the
pravisions is included in Section 25 “Provisions®.

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2.1 Subsidiaries

The participating Interests over which Rabobank has control
are its subsidiaries {ineluding structured entities) and these
are consolidated, Contral is exercised aver a participating
interest i the investor i entitled to receive variable returms
Tram ils invalvement in the participating intessstand has Uhi
ability to influence these retums theough its pawer over the
participating interest. The assets, habilities and profit and loss
ol these companies ae fully consalidated.

Subssicharies arg consalidatad as from the date on which
Rabobank acquines effective control and subsidiares am
de-consalidated as of the date on which this contral is
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ceded. Transactions, balances and unrealized gains and losses
on transac tans between and among Rabobank and its
subsidiaries are eliminated,

Alist of principal subsidiaries is included in Section 50
“Principal subsidiaries”.

2.2.2 Investments in Associates and

Joint Ventures

Irvestments in asiociates and joint ventured are inkially
mcognized at cost (induding goodwilll and subsequently
accaunted for using the equity method of accounting, Its
share of post-acquisition profits and losses is recognized in the
Income statemant and its share of post-acquisition movements
im reserves is recognized directly in other comprehensive
incame. The cumulative post-acquisition mavements ane
included in the carrying amount of the investment,

Aszoclates are eniities over which Rabobank can exercise
significant influence and in which it generally holds between
20% and 50% of the voting rights but does not have control.
AN venture is an agreement Detwesn one of mode parties
undes which the partied jointly have cantiol and are [aintly
enlitied 1o the net assetls under the agresment. Unrealized
profits on transactions batwesn Rabobank and its associates
and joint ventures are eliminated in proportion to Rabobank's
interest in the respective associates and joint ventures,
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the iransaction
indicares that an impairment lo3s shoubd be recognized on the
assef(s) undorlying the transaction.

23 Derivatives and Hedging

Detivatives generally comprise ferelgn exchange contracts,
currency and interest rate futures, forward rate agreements,
CUrrency el Flereil rale swaps bred CUMEncy and interest
rate options (writthen of acquined), Dorivatives are iscogniied
at fair value [exduding transaction costs) determined on the
lbasis of listed market prices (with mid-prices bedng used for
EUR, USDand GBP derivatives that have a bid-ask range], prices
affered by traders, discounted cash flow models and aplian
valuateon madels based an current markel prices and contract
jprices fof the underlying Instruments and reflecting the time
value ol money, yield cures and the volatility of the undelying
assats and liabilities. Davivatives are included under assets if
their fair value is positive and under labilities if their fair value
is megative,

Habaobank Anmisl Aepart 2001 - Comsolidated Financlal Strtements

Derivatives Not Used for Hedgling

Healized and unrealized gains and kesses on derivatives hald for
vrading are recognized in "Gains! (Losses) on Fimancial Assets
and Liabilivies at Fair Value through Prafit or Loss®

Derivirdives Used for Hedging

Darivatives are used Tor asset and liabllity management of
interest rate risks, credit risks and forelgn currency risks,
fabobank applies IFAS 9 for non-portfolio hedge accownting.
IFAS 9 does nat olfer a solution for falr value hedge accounting
for a portiolio hedge of interest rate risk. Rabobank opted to
wse the accounting policy choice of IFRS % to continue to apply
thiz 1AS 38 EU carve-out for such portfelio hedge accounting.

At the time of inception of a hedge accounting relationship,
derivatives are designated as ane of the following; (1) a hedge
af thi fair value of an asset, a group af assets of a Ratality

in the statemaent of financial position (fair value hedgel: 21 a
hedoe of future cash flows allocable 1o an asset or liability in
the statement of financial position, an expected transaction
or a firm commitment {cash flow hedge); or (3] a hedge of a
net investment in a fareign aperatian (net investment hedge).
Hadge aecaunting i applied far deshvatives designated in
ks manner provided that certain criteria ame med, including
tha foflowing:

+ Formal documentation of the hedging instrument, the
hedged [tem, the sbjective af the hedge, the hedging
strategy, and the hedge relationship:

» Documentation of the assassmant and analysis of the
sources of hedge Ineflectiveness and how the hedges ratio
15 determined {IFRS 91

+  Effectiveness of 805 to 125% (IAS 39), in covering changes
Inthe hedged item's falr value to the hedged risks during the
entire reporting perod;

«  Continuous effectiveness fram the moment of the hadge's
Incoption; and

=+ hn economic relationship between the hedgod item and
hedging instrument [IFRS ),

T. Devivatives Used for Falr Valuee Hedge Accounting

Charges in the fair value of derivatives that ane designated as
fair value hedges and are effective in terms of the hedged risks
are recognised in thee statement of inceme in "Gaina/ (Lossaes )
on Finandial Assats and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit
of Loss™ together with the comespanding changes in the fair
walues of the assets of labibties hedged.

s and when the hedge no lenger meets the criteria for
hedge accounting (applying the fair value hadge model), the
cumadative adjustment to the falr value of a hedged interest-
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bearing financial instrument s amartized through profitand
less over the relevant interest repricing peried.

2. Devivatives Used for Cash Flow Hedge Accounting
Changesin the fairvalue of desivatives that are designated (and
quabify) as cash flow hedges and that are effective in relation
1o the hedged risks ane recognized in other comprehensive
incame. Ineffective elements of the changes in the falr value
of derivatives are recognized in the statement of Income.
Dederred amoLnts included in ather comprehdniive income
are taken Lo the statement of income in "Gaina/ (Losses) on
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or
Loss™ in the periads duting which the hedged expected cash
flowes affect the statement of incame.

3. Devivatives Used for Wet investment Hedge Accounbing

Thie hisdging instruments used to hedge net investments in
Targign operations are measured at fair value, with changes
in the fair value being recognized in other comprehensive
incame for the portion that is determined to be an effective
hedge. Changes In the hedged equity Instrument resulting
from exchange-rate fluctuations are also recognized in other
camprehendive income. Gains and ladses sccumulated in ather
comprehenaive income ane reclassified to prodfitor losses whien
the equity instrument is disposed of,

4. Costs of Hedging

The crass currency basis spreads of eross eurrency interast
rane swaps in hedge accounting relationships designated with
issued bonds in foreign curmency it excluded from designation,
The cross curmency basisspread volatility |s taken through other
comprehensive income as costs of hedgeng and is reclassified
to profit or loss in the same periods as when the hedged
expected future cash flows affea profitor loss until maturicy of
the isued bond,

Alhough derivatives are used a5 economic hedges undes
FRababank’s managed risk positions, certain derivative
contracts do not gualify Tor hedge accounting under the
speecific IFRS rules, Interest on derivatives held for economic
hedging purpeses are shown under intefest expense, bath the
receive and pay leg of the dervative,

2.4  Financial Assets and Liabilities Held for
Trading

Financial assets held for trading are inandial assets acquired
wilh the objective of generating prafit from shart-term
Muctuations in prices or trading marging or they ame financial
assats that fosm part of portfolios characterized by pattemns of
short-term profit participation, Financlal assets held for trading

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

are recognized at falr value based on listed bed prices and

all realized and unrealized results therefrom are recognized
in"Gains) [Losses) on Fnancial Assets and Liabilities at Falr
Valwe theough Profic or Loss”. Interest sarmed on financeal
assets is recognized as interest income. Dividends receltved
from financial assets held for trading are recognized in "Gains/
{Losses)on Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss',

Financial lakilities held for trading are malnly negative fais
varlues of derivatives and delivery cbligations that arise on the
shart selling of securities. Securibes are sald short to realize
gains from short-term price fluctuations. The securities necded
to settbe short sales are acquired through securlties lending and
rapurchasing agreements. Securitles sald short are racognized
at fair value on the reparting date.

2.5  Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities Designated at Fair Value

On Inktlal recognition, financlal assets and financlal liabilitles
may be classified a5 “Financial Assets and Liakslites designated
at Fair Value® if this accounting eliminates or significantly
nidheces any inconsistent treatment that would athensise
have arisen wpon measurement of the assets or Nabilities

or recognition of profits or losses on the basls of different
accounting polices.

Interest eadned and due on such assets and liabilities is
recognized ot interestincoma and expense, respectively, Other
realized and unrealized gains and kosses on the revaluation
of these fimandal instruments to fair value are recognized

in "Gainss (Losses) on Financal Assets and Liabllitles atFair
Value through Profit of Loss® except for fair value changes
due to owen credit risk of financial liabilities desdgnated at

fair walue. These fair value changes alter tax aie preiented

in ather comprehensive inceme (OC1) under ine item “Fair
Walue Changes Due to Own Crodit Risk on Financial Liabilities
Designated at Falr Value®. Presenting these effects of changes
im credit risk In OC| does not create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit ar lass.

2.6  Day One Gains/ Losses

Whaen using fair value accounting at the inception of a financial
instrurment. any positive or negative difference between the
transaction price and the fair value [referred to as “day one
gaind loss}is accounted forimmediately under "Gains/ (Losses)
on Finangial Assets and Liabilities a8 Fair Valee through Prafit
or Loss” whare the valuation method is based on ohservable
Inputs from active markets, Inall ather cases, the entire day one
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gainloss is deferred and accounted for as *Other llabilkties® or
“Othar assets™. After initial recognitkon the deferred day one
gain loss is recegnized as o goind loss to the excent it results
from a change in a factor (including vime effectil

2.7 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through
Other Comprehensive Income

Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual
eash fMaws and fas selling the financial astets, whene the
assets’ cash Nows represent solely payments of principal and
Interest on the principal amount outstanding. are measurned
at fair value through other comprohensive income and
presented as “Financlal Assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income”.

Financial assets at fair value through ether compretensive
incame are initially recagnized at fair value, incheding
transaction costs. The fair valwes of unlisted equity instruments
are estimated on the basis of appropriate pricefearnings ratios
and adjusted vo reflect the specific dircumstances of the
respective issuer.

Movernents in the canying amount se taken through OCI,
axcept far the recegnition of impairment losses, intorest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses which

are recognized in profit or bess, When the financial assat

is derecognized, the curmulative gain or laas previouddy
recognized in OCHis reclassilied rom egquiny to profit or
loss. Interast from these financial assets i included fnnet
interest income wsing the effective interest rate method,
Impairment losses are included in “Impairment Charges on
Financial Assets” In the statement of incame,

‘Where Rabobank has elected to present {air value gaing and
ledsed 60 equll}- irnveitments in OCE there is no subisquent
meclassification of fair value gains and losses 1o pralit or loss
fallowing the derecegnition of the investmaent. Dividends from
such inwestmenis continue (o be recognieed in profit or loss
as other income when Rabobank's right to recelve payments
is established.

2.8 Repurchase Agreements and Reverse
Repurchase Agreements

Financial assets that are sold subject 1o related sale and
epurchase agreements ane included i the consolidated
statement of financial pasition under "Financial Assets Held
fod Trading™ of “Financlal Asdets ot Fair Value through
Other Comprehersive Income®, as applicable. The liability
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to the counterparty is included under “Deposits from Credit
Institutions” or *Deposits from Customars®, as applicable.

Financial assers acquired under reverse sabe and reverse
repurchase agreements are nol recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position, The consideration paid

to purchase financial assets is recognized as “Loans and
Advances to Credit Institutions® or "Loans and Advances to
Customers’, as applicable. The difference between the sales
and repurchasing priced is recognined ad interest income ar
expense over the term of the agreement using the effective
interest method,

2.9  Securitizations and (De)Recognition of
Financial Assets and Liabilities

Recogmnition of Financial Assets and Liobilittes

Purchases and sales of financial assets and Rabilities at fair
wirlue through profit or loss and Rinancial assets at falr value
through other comprehansive incomea which are required
to be delivered within a regulatory-prescribed period o in
accordance with market conventions are recognized on the
transaction date. Financial instruments earried 41 amortized
ot are recognired on the settlement date,

Securitizotions ond Derecognition of Financial Assets

and Liahdlities

fababank securitizes and sells various financial assets. These
assels ane sometimes sold (o a special purpose entity [SPE)
which then lssues securitios ta investons. Fababank has the
option of retaining an interest in these assets in the form

of subordinated interest-only strips. subordinated sacurities.
spread accounts, servicing rights, guarantees, put and call
options or other constructions.

A financial sdset [or 8 portion thereafl] i derecognited where:

= The rights to the cash flows from the asset oxping

= The rights to the cash flows from the asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
are transfarred;

« A contractual obligation is assumed vo ransfer the cash
flows from the asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards have been transfered; ar

= Substantialky all the risks and rewards are neithar
transferred nor retained but where control over the asset is
not retaned,

Continuing involvement is recognized il Rabobank neithies
rataing nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards and
contral ks retalned, The asset bs recognized to the extent of
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Rabobanks continuing invalvement In it A financial Nability or
a part thereof is deracagnized if it ceases to exist, Le. after the
contractual obligation has been fulfilled er cancelled or after it
Ihas explred.

Whaere a transaction does not meoft these conditions for
deracagnition. it is recognized as a loan for which security
hhas been provided. Te the extent that the ransfer of a
financial asset does mot gualify for derecognition, Rabobank’s
contractual rights are pot soparately recognized as dervatives
if recognition of these instruments and the transferred asset,
ar the liability arising from the transier, were to result in the
doublke recognition of the same rights and obligations.

Profits and losses on securitizations and sale transactions
depend partly on the carrying amaunts of the assets
transferred Thie carrying amaunts af thide asiets are allocated
to the interests sold and retained using the relative fair values
of these interests on the date of sale. Any gains and losses are
recognized through profitand loss at the time of transfer. The
fairvalue of the interests sold and retalned s determined based
on listed market prices of as the present valoe of the future
expected cazh flaws based on pricing madels that invelve
several assumptions reganding coedil losses, discount ranes,
yield curves, payment frequency or other factors,

2.10 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalens are highly liquid shor-term assets held at
contral banks to meet current cash obligations rather than lor
irvestments or ather purposes. These assets have terms of
less tham %) days from inception. Cash equivalents are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subjact to
insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.11 Offsetting Financial Assets and
Liabilities

Where there is legal right to offset recogndzed amounts and
iitls Intended to settle the expected future cash flows on

a net basis or to realize the asset and setthe the [ability
simultaneausly, financial assers and labilities ane offset and
the net amount is recognised in the statement of financial
position. This relates predominantly to derivatives and revene
repurchase agreaments. The offsetting of taxes is addressed in
Section 2.26 "Tax™

Fabaosbank Anrual Report 2001 - Cornclidated Financlal Satements
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Transacthons and balances included In the financial statements
of indiwidual entities within Rabobank are reported in the
currency that best reflects the economic reality of the
individual entity's underlying operating enveronmant {the

functional cumency).

The eansolidated financial staterments are predented in ounos,
which is the parent company’s functional cumency, The
statements of income and cash Aows of fareign operations
are transfated into Rababank™s presentation currency at the
exchange rates prevalling an the transaction dates, which
approximate the average exchange rates for the reporting
penod, and the satements of financial position are translated
at the rates prevalling at the end of the reparting penod,
Exchange differences arising on net investments in foreign
operations and on loans and other cumency Instruments
designated as hedges of these Investments are recognized
inother comgrehensive income. On sale of aforeign eperation,
these translation differences are transferred to the staterment
ol incarme as part of the prafit or lass on the swale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of aforeign entity are recognized as the assets and liabilities of
the foreign antity, and are translated at the prevailing rate at

the end of the reporing period.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in fereign curmencies are translated into the
functional cumency at the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Differences arlsing on the settlernent of
transattions or on the translation of monetary assets and
labilities denaminated in foreign curencies ane recognized
in the statement of incorme as fareign exchange gains and
Tosses and differences that qualify as net invesiment hedges
are recegnioed in other comprehensive incama, Translation
differences on non-monetary items measured a falr value
thraugh profit or lass are recognized as part of the fair value
gains of |osses, Translation differences on non-manetary asses
atfairvalue throwgh other comprehensive income are included
in the revaluation reserves for equity instruments at faic value

through other comprehensive incomae.

213 Interest

Interest income and expense are recegnized in the statement
of incorme wing the effective intereil method. The effective

interest mathod is a method used for calculating the amortized
cost of a financlal asset ora financlal llability and for allocating
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the interest Income or interest expense to the relevant peried,
The calculation includes all fees paid or recelved between
jparties ta the contract that are an integral part of the efective
Imterest rate, transaction costs, and all ather pramiums o
discounts. Interest income shall be caleulated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross canrying amount of a
financeal asset except for credit-impaired financial assats. For
those financial assets, Rabobank applies the effective interest
rate ta the amortized cost of the financlal asset in subsequent
reparting pedods. Interest income on linancial assets using
the effective interest method includes interest income on
“Cash and Cash Equivalents®, “Loans and Advances to Credit
Institutions”, “Loans and Advances to Customers”, “Fimancial
Assets at Falr Value through Other Comprehensive Income®
and “Derivatives used for Fair Value Hedge-Accounting”.
Irneerest on detivatives held for econamic hedging purposes
are shown under intered sxpense, bath the receive and pay
leg of the devivative, Interest on financial llabilities with a
negative interest rate are prosented as interest Income, Interest
on financlal assets with a negative interest are presented as
interest expense.

2.14  Fees and Commissions

Rabaobzank earms fee and commission incomsa from a diverse
range of services it provides to s customers. Commissions
eamed for the provision of services such as payment services
and advisany lees are generally recagnized as the serdce is
provided, Commission received for negotinting a transaction
ar lor inweliement in negotiations an bahall of third parties
{for example the acquisition of a poertfolie of loans, shares

or other securities o the sale or purchase of companies) is
recognized upon completion of the underlying transaction,
Fee and commission expenses mainky relate to payment
sepvices and are recognized sver the pedod in which the
Aeivices were necelved.

2.15 Loansand Advances toCustomers and
Loans and Advances to Credit
Imstitutions

Fimancial assets that are held for collection of contraciual cash
flaws where those cash (lows represent sabaly paymants of
pringipal and intemest an thie principal amount outstanding
are measured at amartized cost and presented as "Loans and
Advamces 1o Credit Institutions™ or "Loans and Advances to
Customers’, AL initial recognition, Rabobank mesures thess
financial assets at its fair value plus transaction costs that ane
directly attiibutable to the acquisithon of the lnancial aset,
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Interest income from these financlal assets is included i net
interest income using the effective interest rate mathod. Any
gain or loss arising en derecognition is recognized directly in
profit or loss and presented in "Gains! [Losses) Arising lrom
the Derecagnition of Financial Assets Measured at Amortized
Cost”, Impairment losses are included in “Impairment Charges
on Feinandial Assats” in the statement of income,

2.16 |Impairment Allowances on Financial
Assets and Credit Related Contingent
Liahilities

Impalrment allowances apply to financial assets at amortized
cost and financial assets at fair value through OC1, as well

as o lease recelvables, contract assets, rade recelvables,
certain loan commitments and financial guarantees, AT initial
recognition, an allswance is formed for the amaunt of The
expected crodit losses from possible defaults in the coming
12 months [stage 11, ] cnedit risk increased skgnificantly sinoe
arigination (but remains non-credit-impalred), an allowance
willl be required for the amaunt that eguals the expected
credit losses stemming from possible defautts during the
expected lifatime of the financial asget {stage 2. If the financial
instrurment becomes credis-impaired the allowance will remain
at the Liletime ECL (stage 3). For thesa instrumanis the intarest
income will be recognized by applying the effective interest
rate on the net carrying amount lincluding the impairment
allewancel. Financial instruments become eredit-impained
wien one or more events have accurred that had a detrimental
impact on estimated future cash Mows, Rabobank dogt not use
the low credit risk exemption far any financial instrument.

Twa fundamental drivers of the IFRS 9 impalrments
requirements are a) the methodology for the measurement
of 12-Manth and Lifetime Expected Credit Losses and b)
the criteria used 1o determine whether a 12-month ECL,
Lifetimae ECL non-credit-impaired, or Lifetime ECL credit-
impaired shou'd be applied (abo refemed to as stage
determination ciiterial,

a) Methadofogy to Determine Expected Credit Losses

In order to determine ECLs Rabobank utilizes poant-in-time
Probability of Default (PD) % Loss Glven Default (LGD}

x Exposure af Delaull (EAD) modils Tor the majoity of

the partfolia in scope, Three macroeconomic scenarios are
incofporated into these models and probability weighted

in order to determing the expected credit losses. When
unexpected external developments ar data quality issues ane
nal sullicienly covened by thee outcame of the ECL madels, an
adjustment will be made,
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b} Srage Determination Criteria

In order to allocate financial Instruments in soope betwasn
stage 1, stage 2 and stage 3 Raobobank has a fromework af
qualitative and quantitative factars. The criteria for allocating
a financial instrument to stage 3 are aligned with the criteria
for assigning a defaulted status, for example %0 days past due
status, or if a debtor is likely 1o become unable to pay 15
credit obligations without liquidation of collateral by the bank,
In order to allocate financial instruments Between stages 1
and 2, Rababank used enteria, such as days past duse status,
sprcial assel management status, deteforation of the PO since
origination, vulnerable sectors and forbearance,

Far portfolios without Individual PO or with PD's that are not
updated on a frequent basis such that an assessment of the
changsa in PD s not possible, a coll ective assessment on groups
af financhal instruments with shared credit risk characteristics
s made.

Significant Increases in Credit Risk (SICR)

At each reporting date, Rabobank assesses whether the cedit
sk an financial instruments has increased significantly since
imitial recagnition. There is & rebuttable presumption that the
creddit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recagnition when the contractual paymants are ower 30
days past due and or the financial asset Is included in a watch:
list. The rebuttable presumption is not an absolute indicator
that lifetime ECL should be recognized, but is presumed te be
the latest paint an which lifetime ECL should be recognized.

The assessment of whether lifetime ECL ame recognized is
based on significant increases in the likelihood of default risk
oCourring since inltal recognition - imespective of whether a
financial imstrument has been repriced to reflect an increase
im eredit risk - instead of based on evidence of a financial
instrument being credit-impaired a1 the reparting date or an
aciual default occurring, Genafally, there will bea SICR before
a financial instrument becomas credit impained or an actual
default ocows. For lsan commitments, Rabobank conssders
changes in the defawlt risk occurring on the laan to which a
loan commitment relates. Fot financial guarantes contracts,
Rabobank considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default an the contract.

The assessment of changes incradit risk analysisisamultifactor
and holistic analysis, Whether a specilic factor is relevant (and
its welght corpared to other factors) depends on the type of
product, characteristics of the financial instruments and the
barrawer as well as the geographical region.
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Default Definition

HRabobank's definition of default is fully based on external EU
reguilation (CRR and EBA]. This means thata default is assigned
wihen I} &n exposure is mone than 50 days materially past due,
and i) Rabobank considers that the obligor is unlikely 1o pay its
credit obligations in full, without recourse by the institution to
actions such as realizing security.

Collective Wersws Individual Assessment

Same lactors ar indicators may not be identifiable an an
individual instrument level. In that case, the factors or
indicators are assessed for appropriate posiolios, groups of
portfolios or a portion of a portfelio to determine whether the
requirements for recognition of lifetime ECL have been met.
The aggregatian of finandal instruments to assess whather
there are changes increditrisk onacollective basis may change
oot Time when niew information becames available on groups
of, orindividual, financial instruments.

Depending on the nature of the financial instrurmants and
the credit risk information avallable for particular groups of
financial instruments, Rabobank may not be abde to identify
SICR far an individual instrurmient befane that s tnment
becomes past due. This may be the case for financial rssets
{such as rotail loansi for which there is little or no updated
credit risk information routinely obtained and monitored on
an individual instrurment level until a customer breaches the
contractual terms. I ehanges in the credit risk for an individual
instrument is not captured belone it becomes past due, a loss
allowance based solely on credit infarmation at an individual
instrument level would not faithfully represent the changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

In some circumstances, Rabobank has no reasonable and
supportable information available without undue costor effort
1o meeasuie [ilethime ECL an an indhidual instrumsent basis.
Lifetime ECL is then recognized by collectively considering
comprehensive credit risk information, which nat anly
incorperates past dus Information but also all relevant
creditinformation {including forward-looking macrceconomic
informatien) to approximate the result of recognizing lifetime
ECL when there has been a SHCR since Initial recognition,

For the purpose of determining SICR and recognizing a loss
allewance ona collective basis, Raboabank may group financial
instruments based on thared credit risk characteristics with
the ohjective of facilitating an analysis designed 1o enable
SICR to be identified in atimely fashion. Howeyer, when
Rabobank is unalde to group those financial Instruments

far which the credit risk is considered to have increased
significantly since inithal recognition based on shared credit

151

399/559



EDINETOOOO

O00OO00O000000000000040d0(ee5923)

Wlanagement Repon Coporate Goeeprmance Comolidsted Financial Statements Cowmipua vy Fangmarial Shalementy b Infoormution

risk characteristics, itrecognizeslifetime ECLona portion of the
financial instrumeants for which credit risk ks deemed to have
incroased significanthy.

Shared credit risk characteristics may include but are not
limited to; instrement types, cradit risk ratings, collateral
types. inibal recagnition dates, remaining terms to matunty,
industries, geegraphic location, collateral value relative to
the fimanchal instument i it has an impact on the PD (e.g.
nan-recourse leand in same jurisdietions or LTV ratios).

217 Modifications

The contractual terms of a financlal asset may be madified
for a commercial reason or due to a forbearan oe measune. A
commercial moedification is & change to the previous berms
and conditions of & cantract (financial asset] that alters the
timirg or amount of the contractual cash flows of the financial
asselt, Typically Rabobank considers a modification as non-
substantial if it does notimpact multiple aspects of the contract
at the same time, lor example a change in the fixed interest
period, repayment type or obligors. At Rabobank, forbearance
imeadures ate normally non-subdtantial medifications.

Substantial modifications lead to a derecagnition of thae
financial asset and non-substantial modifications lead to
madification accounting. In the event of a modification
ababank recaleulates the gross earrying amaunt based an
thi riwised cash Nows of the Tnancial asset and recoqnibes
a modification gain of loss in profit or loss. The new gross
camying amount iy recaloulated by discounting the modified
«cash flows at the onginal effective interest rate.

2.18 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is the amount by which the acquisition price paid
for a subsidiary exceeds the fair value on the date on which
thee share of net assets and contingent labilites of the entity
wias acquired With each acquisition, the other non-contrelling
imterasts are recagnized at fair value or 8t its share of the
identifiable assets and labilities of the acquired entity, Tests
are performed annually, or mare frequently if indications so
dictate, to determine whether there has been an impairmaent.

Orher intangibie Assets, incleding softvarre development costs
Costs directly incurred in connection with identifiable and
unique software products over which Rabobank has contral
and which will likely provide economic bienelits excesding
the costs for ksngar than ane year are recognized as other
intangible assets. Direct costs inchude the personnel costs
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of the saftware development team, financing costs and an
appropriate porton of the relevant overhaad,

Expenditures that improve the perfformance of software as
comgpared with their original specifications are added o the
wriginal cost of the software. Software development costs ane
recognized as othar intangible assets and are amortized on a
linear basls overa period notexceeding five years. Costs related
1o the maintenamnce of software are recagnized as an expense
at the timie they are ineurred.

Impairment Losses an Goodwill

Goodwill s allacated to cash-generating units for the purpose
of impalmment testing, which is undertaken at the lowest
level of assets that generate largely independent cash inflaws.
During the fourth quarter of each financial year, or mare
frequently if there are indications of impalmmient, goodwill 14
tested forimpalmment and any excess of camying amaount over
racoverable amount is provided. The recoverable amount isthe
higher of the value in use and the fair value less selling costs.

The walue in use of a cash llow generating unit (s determined as
the present value of the expected future pre-tax eash faws of
i cash Niow generating unit in question. The ey assumplions
wied in tha cash flow modol depend on the input data and they
reflect varkous judgmental financial and economic variables,
suchs as risk-free interest rates and premiums reflecting the risk
inherent in the entity concerned. Impairments of goodwill are
included in Tmpairment losses on goodwill™ in the statement
of incame, f applicable,

Impairment Losses on Other intangible Assets

At each reporting date, an assessment ks made as to whether
there are indications of impakiment of other intangible assets.
I thene are such indications, impalrment testing (s carried
ol bo determine whether the ﬂarrrll'rg amount of the other
intangibbe assets is fully recoverable, Thi recoverable smount
shall b ostimated for the individual asset. it is not possibie
1o estimate the recoveralsle amount of the individual asset, the
ragoverable amount of the cash genarating unit to which the
assel belongs is determined. An impalmnent boss is recognized
il the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
Impaimment lodses and Impairment nosersals are included in
“Other Administrative Expenses” in the statement of income,

Regardless of any indication of impairment, intangible
assens not yet avallable for use are tested for impairment

annually by comparing their carrying amount with their
negavistable amount.
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2.19 Property and Equipment

Property and Equipment for Own Use

Property for awn use consists mainly of office bullding:
and is recognized at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, as i equipment for own use, Assets ane
depreciated 1o thesr residual values over the following
estimated useful lives on a stralght-line basis:

Fropmaty

- Land Mot depeclined
- Builfingy FLEE
Fapapement

- Comymiter squipmend 0. Sypary
- Dtheer et and yehidiey 1 Byears

Anannual assessment is made as to whether thene are
indications of impairment of property and equipment, If

the carrying amaunt of an asset exceeds is estimated
recoverable amount, the carrying amount Is written down

to the recoverable amount. Impalrment losses and impalmnent
reversals are included in “Other Administrative Expenses”

in the statement of incame. Gains and lodsed on the

disposal of property and equipment are determined on the
lbasis of their carrying amouwnts and are included in "Other
Administrative Expenses”,

Rapair and maintenance work i charged ta the statement of
income at the time the costs are incurred. Expenditunes 1o
axtend the aconomic life or increase the economic walue of
land and bulldings as compared with their original economic
value are capitalized and subsequently depreciated.

2.20  Investment Properties

Irveitment properties, prlrr!ari‘r office bulldings and hnuﬂng
units, ane held for thein long-term rental incams and are not
uwsed by Rabebank or its subsidiaries, Investment properties
are recognized as long-term investments and incduded in the
statement of financlal position at cost net of accumulated
depreciation and impalment. [nvestmeant properiies are
depreciated on a strabght-line Dasis 1o their residual values
over an eitimated useful life of 40 years,

2.21 Other Assets

Structured Invenfory Products

Rababank offers several products that relate to financing
commodities. Some of these products ane recognized as loans
with commodities as collateral, others as loams with e mbodded
dervatives and others as commadities. The classification is
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mainly dependent on the transfer of risk and rewards of the

commadity fram the client 1o Habobank.

Building Sifes

Building sites are carried at cost, including allocated interest

and additional expenses for purchasing the sites and making
them ready for construction ar, if kower, the net realizabla
walue, Interest is not recognized In the statement of financial
posithan for land which has not been roned for a particular
purpode If there is ne cerainty that the land will be built an.
Possible decreases in value a3 a resull of future change of
designated use of the relevant land are nat included in the
cost of land, but are included in the determination of the net

realizable value.

The net realizable value of 2ll buslding sives is reviewed at
feast once a year o eadier, in case af any indications of
impalrment, The net realizable value for building sites is the
direct realizable value or, ifhigher. the Indirect realizable value,
The direct realizable value is the estimated value upon sale
less the estimated costs for achiewing the sale. The indirect
realizable value is the estimated sale price within the contest
ol normal aperations lew the edlimated casts of completion
and the estimated cons necessanly incumed o mealize the sale,
The calculation of the indirect realizabde value is based on an
analysis of scenarios that includes as many site-specificaspects
and company-specific parameters and conditions as possible.
A write-dawn is recognized if the carying value exceeds the

realizable valug,

Properties on bullding sites are classified as investment
property if the current use of Habobank is leasing them cut

urdder one or more operating leases,

Work in Progress

‘Wark in progress concems sold and unsold residential projects
under construction or in preparation, a well sobd and unseld
commercial property projects. Work in progress is carried

at the costs ingurned plus allocated interest oo, if lower,

the net realizable value. Revenues from projects for the
construction of real estate are recognized whan the related
pedarmance obligations ane satished, Expected losses on
projects ane immaediately deducted from the work in progress,
Il Rababxank transfers {parts of] a project 1o a customer befone
the customer pays instalments, Rabobank presents a contract
assel. i & customer pays instalments, of Rabobank has a

right te instalments that is unconditional, belone Rababank
transfers (parts of) a project 1o o custamer, Rabobank presents

a contrach lability.

401/559

153



EDINETOOOO

O00OO00O000000000000040d0(ee5923)

Wlanagemeni Repon Companae Goegirance Comoidted Finpncial SSstemants Comguny Firsecisl gher Ink ]

The carrying amount of unsold wark In progress Is reviewed
annually for indicatsaens of a decline invalue. If there is such
an indieation, the indirect realizable valwe of the work in
progress ks estimated; in most cases this s done by means

af an internal ar external appraisal. The indireet realizable
value is the estimated sale price within the context of normal
operalions less the estimated costs of complation and the
astimated costs necessanily incurred to realize the sale, A
dowemward value adjustrment is recognized if the carying value
exceeds the expected indirect realizable value, ta the extent
that this difference must be bome by Rabobank.

Finished Properties

Unsald residentlal and commerclal properties developed in-
house are carrsed at cost or, i lower, the net realizable value.
The net realizable value of finished properties is reviewed at
lzast once a year or if there ane any indications Tor a dechine
in value, For finished properties, the net realizmble value is
generally equal 1o the direct realizable value, which s mostly
datermined by means of an internal or external appraisal. &
downward value adjustment is recognized If the carrying value
exceeds the expected direct realizable value, to the extent that
the difference falls on Rababank's accaunt.

2.22 leasing

Rababank as Lesser

As & lessee, Robabank recegnizes a right-af-use asset
representing its fight 1o use the underying leased asset and &
corresponding lability representing its obligation to make
lease payments at the date on which the leased asset is
available for use. Each lease payment s allocated babween
the lease Rabdlity and interest expense. The interest expenses
are charged to peofit of loss over the lease peried so as (o
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the rematning
balance af the 1|a'|:||l1.‘, for each period. The ﬁghl—ul'—uye asiels
are depreciated over the lease term an a straight-line basis.
The lease lability s measerod at the prosent value of the
lease payments, The lease payments compikse the following
payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term that are not paid art the commencament date:

~  Fiked payments bess any lease Incentives received,

«  Wariable lease payments that depend on anindex ara
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

+  Amounts expected 1o be payable by the lessee under
resbdual value guarantees;

= The exercise price of 3 purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably cortain te eworcise that option; and
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+  Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, il the lease
term teflects the lesses exercising an option te terminate
the lease.

The present value of the lease payments is determined by
wiing the interest rate implicit in the bease, If that rate cannot
be determined, the lessee’s incremantal borrowing rate is
used, which Is the ate that the lessee would have to pay

1o borrow the funds necessary to obtalm an asset of similar
waluein a similar ecanamic environment with similar terma and
conditions, Rabobank defines the incremental borrawing rate
as the internal Tunding rate (Funds Tranafer Pricing (FTF] rate)
plus an assot-specific premiurm, By using the FTP rate as a basis
the discount rate is defined for each time bucket and consists
of the fallowing elements:

= Base rate; the risk-free rate;

«  Credit spoead: based on credit risk of the group company;

«  Country specific risk: based on lecation of the group
company; and

+  Currency nsk: based on the functional cumency af the
group company:

The right-ol-use assel is measured a1 an amownt equal 1o

the bease kability, adjusted by the lease payments made at

or before the commencement date bess any lease incentives
received and any initial direct costs and restoration costs.
Payments assedated with shert-tenm leases and leases af
low-yadue assens are recognibed on a straight-line basis as an
expansa In profit or loss, Shert-term leases are leases with a
Fease term of 12 manths or less. Rababank recognioes the right-
of-use assets as part of the line-item Property and Equipment
and the bease Hakdlity as part of line-item Other Liabikitles in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position,

Rabobank as Lessor

Finance Leases

A finance lease is recognized a5 a eoeivabble under “Loans
and Advances to Credit Institutions® or "Loans and Advances
1o Custarmers”, as applicable, at an amaunt equal to the net
imvestment in the lease. The net investment in the lease is
the present value of the nominal minimum lease payments
and the unguaranteed tesidual value, The difference belween
the gross investment and the net investmaent in tha lease

s recognized as unearmed linance income, Laase income |3
recognized as interest income aver the term of the lease using
the net investment method, which results in a constant rate of
retuin on the Investment.
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Operating Leases

Assets leased under operating leases are included in

the statement of financial positien under "Propeny and
Equipment”, The assels are depreciated gver their expected
useful lives in line with those of comparabile items of praperty
and equipment, Rental income (fewer write-offs and discounts
granted Lo lessees) is recoginized under “Net income from
Other Operating Activities” on a linear basls aver the term of
the lease.

2.23 Provisions

Provisions are recognized for obligations {bath legal and
constructive) arising as a result of a past event where it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
thie abligation and the armount of the abligation can be reliably
astimated. If Rababank expects a provision ta be reimbursed,
for example under an insurance policy, the reimbursement is
recognized as a separate asset but anly if the reimbursement
iswirtually certain, The provisions ane carried at the discounted
value of the expected future cash flows. The additions 1o

and releases of provisions are recognized (nthe statement of
ineame undes *Other Administrative Expenses”.

Restructuring

Restructuring provisions comprise payments under
redundancy schemes and other costs directly attributable to
reatrueturing pragrams. These caats are recagnized during the
petiodin which the legal or actual paymment abligation arfses, a
detalbed plan has been prepared for redundancy pay and there
are realistic expectations among the affected parties that the
restructuring will be implemented.

Legal Issues
Thie provision for legal [ssues (s based on the best estimanes

available at the end of the reporting periﬁcl. takingintoaccaunt
legal advice, The timing of the cash outflow of these pravisions
s uncerain because the outcome of the disputes and the time
irvodved are unpredictable,

Other Provisions

Other provisions include provisions for oneqous contracts.
potential settlements and credit related contingent labilities,
See Section 216 lor thee accounling policy of imgalmment
albiowances an credit related contingent liabilities.

2.24 Employee Benefits
Rabobsank has vadous pension plansin place based on the local

conditions and practices of the countries in which it operates,
In general, the plans are financed by payments to inswrance
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compankes or o trustee administered funds determined by
penodic actuarial calculations. A defined benedfit pension plan
isone that incorporates an ebligation to pay an agreed amount
of pension benefit, which is usually based on several factors
such as age, number of years” service and remuneration. A
defined contribution plan is one inwhich fived contributions
are paid to a separate entity [a pension fund) with no further
legal ar constructive obligation on the part of the employer
should the fund have insufficlent assets to settle its obligations.

i employes-members af the plan.

Pensian Ohfigatians

The obligation under defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined beneafit pension abligation at the
end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of the
fund investments. The defined benefit abligation is caleulated
annually by independent actuaries based on the projected
unit credit mathad. The presant value of the dofined bonefit
ohligatian 5 determined as the estimated future outflow of
cash funds based on the interest rates of high-guality corposate
bonds with terms that approximate those of the corresponding
ohligation. The majority of pension plans are career-average
plans. The caits of thede plans (being the net pensian charge
Tor the period alter deducting employes contributions and
interest) are included undor ‘Staff costs’. Net interest expense/
income is determined by applying the discount rate at the
beginning of the reporting period to the asset or liability of the

defined benefit pension plan.

Actwarfal gains and losses arising Trom events andfor changes
in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the statement of

comprehensive income.

Defined Contribution Flans

Under defined contribution plans, contributiens are paid inta
publicly of privately managed pension inturance plans on

a compuliory, contractual or veluntary Basis. These regular
contriputions are recagnized as expensa in the year in which
they are due and they are included under “5aff costs”,

Other Post-Employment Obligations

Some of Rababank’s business units provide ather post-
employment benefits, To become eligible for such benefits,
Uhe wswal requinermasnd @ Vhal the employes romains in servce
unitil retirement and has bean with the company foraminimum
number of years. The expected costs of these benelits are
accrued during the years of service, based on & system similar
to that for defined benelit pension plans. The obligations are
calculated annually by independent actuaries,
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Varlabile Remuneration

Variable remunefation payable unconditionally and in cash

is recognized in the year in which the employee renders

The service. Conditional cash rervureration is included, on a
straight line basis, in stafl costs in the statement of income
over the period of the year in which the emplayee’s serdices
are received and the remaining three years of the vesting
period {Le. over fowr years), The llablicty is recognized in "Other
liabilities®, The accounting treatment of payments based an
equity initrumaents is discleded in Section 2.25.

2.25 Variable Remuneration Based on
Equity Instruments

Forcertain identified staff, remuneration for sendices rendered
is senthed in the form of cash payments based an equity
irstrumaents that ane similar to, and have the same
characteristics a5, Rabobank Certificates, The costs of the
services received are based on the fakr value of the equity
instrumeants on the award date and are restated annually to
fair value, The costs related to the award of equity Instruments
during the perod of the employee’s comtract are included in
stalf cots in the satement of income aver the periad of the
year of award and the remaining three years of the vesting
period of the equity instrumaents {i.e, over four years), The
liability s recognized in "‘Other llabilities’,

2.26 Tax

Current tax receivablos and payabilos ano offset where thore is
a legally enforceable right 1o offset and where simultaneous
treatment or settlament is intended, Defemed tax assets and
liabilities are offset whene there is a legally enforceable right to
offset and where they relate to the same tax auth ority and arise
wiithin the same taxable entity.

Deferred income tax is provided, using the ability method,
on temparary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and thelr carrying amounts for finandal repariing
purposes. These temporary differences arise pimarlly on
depreciation af tangible fwed assets, revaluation of cenaln
financial assers and labilives (including dervatives), employes
lbenefits, loan impairment allowances and other impalrments,
Lax loaes and Fair value adjustments 1 net aswets acquined

in business combinations, Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are also recaognired on the revaluation of financial assets at
fair value through ather comprehensive income and cash flow
hedges that are taken directly to ather comprehensdve income,
Whaen realized, thesy ane recognized in the Ingome stalement
at tha same time a5 the respective deferred gain or loss i
regognized, Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent
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that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
agalnst which the losses can be utilized and are maasured at
the tax rates that have been enacted or substantvely enacted
a4 8t the reparting date, Rabobank considers all deferred taxes
te be non-current.

Taxes on profit ane calculated in accordance with the tax
legislation of the relevant jurisdictions In which Rabobank
operates and are recopnized as an expense in the period in
wihich the profit 4 realized. The tax elects af lods carry faswards
are recognized as an asset if it is probabde that futume taxable
profits will be available against which the losses can be utitized,

2.27 Depaosits from Credit Institutions,
Depaosits from Customers and Debt
Securities in Issue

These Babilities are initially recognized at fair value, which

is the bsue price less directly allocable and non-recurring
transaction costs, and thereafter at amartized cost incleding
transaction costs,

The TLTRO funding from the Eurapean Central Bank is mitally
recoqgnized o Tair value and i subsequently classibied as
deposits from credit institution and measured at amortized
o5t Rabobank takes into the account the estimated intenest
1o be recelved, which depends on benchmarks for net lending,
‘When Rabobank revises its estimates of payments of receipts,
itadjusts the carrying amaount of the TUTRO 1o reflect aciual
and mevised estimatad cash flows, The canrying amount is
then recalculated based on the present value of the estimated
future cash flows at the ariginal effective interest rate. with
value adjustments recegnized in the mcome statement, The
conditional special interest bonus of the TLTRO funding is
sceounted for under [AS 20, see section 2.1, "Classification and
mepaiirement of TLTRO-I0".

Own isswed dolbot securities that are repurchased oo
derecognized, and the difference between the carrying
amount and the consideration pald s recognized in the
Incame statement,

2.28 Rabobank Certificates

The procead: of the issue of Rabobank Cartificate s are available
1o Rabobank in perpetulty and ane subordinate to all habdities
and to the Capital Securdties, As there i no formal obligation
1e [rejpay the principal or to pay dividend, the Rabobank
Certificates are classified as "Equity®. As the payment al
distributions is wholly discretionary, the procaeds received
and dividends pald on them are recognized directly in equity.
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2.29 Capital Securities

Asthere is noformalobligation o (relpay the princips or wopay
dividend, the Capital Secutithes are classified as "Equity” and
dividends paid on these instruments are recognized directly
in equity.

2.30 Financial Guarantees

Financial guarantes contracts require the isaeei to compeniate
the holder for losses incwrmed wien the debios fails to

meet its obligations under the tesms of the related debt
instrument. The guarantees are inltially recognized at falr value
and subsequently measured at the higher amount of the
impalrment allowance and the amount initlally recognized bess
cumul ptive amortization.

2.31 Segmented Information

An operating segment is a component of Rabobank that
engages In business activities fromwhich itmay earm revenues
and incur expe nses, The aperating segments’ operating resulis
ate regularly reviewed by Rabobank’s Managing Board 1o make
dicisions aboul resounces to be allocated 1o the segment and
assaas its performance, and discrete financial information is
available about them,

2.32 Government Grant

Gavernment grants are assistance fram the gavernment in the
form of tansfers of mesources to an entity in return for past
or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the
operating activithes of the entity. Government grants will not
lbe recognized until there is reasanable assurance that i the
entitywill comply with the conditions attaching to them; and i)
the grants will be received. Rabobank recogniied government
grants in profit or bess on a systematic basii over the periods
in which the entity recognizes as expenses the related costs
forwhich the grants are intended to compensate. Governmenl
grants related to assets shall be presented in the statemant
af financial pasition as “Other assets”. Far more infarmation
about the government gramt recognitien in the TLTRO 11,
please refer to the Section “Judgments and Estimates”,

2.33 Cash Flow Statement

Cash and cash equivalents include cash resounces, money
markel deposits and deposits at central banks. The cash Maw
slatement 15 prepared using the indinect methed and provides
datails of the source of the cash and cash aquivalents that
becarme avallable during the year as well as thelr application
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during the year, The net pre-tax cash flow from operating
activities is adjusted for non-cash items in the statement of
incarme and for non-cash changes in items in the statement of
financial position.

The Consalidated Statement of Cash Flows presents the

cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities
separately. Cash flows from operating activities include

net changes in loans and advances, Interbank deposits,
depodils fiom customers and acquititions, disposals and
repayment of finandial investments. vestment activities
inchude aoquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, investments
inassocates and property and equipment. Finan cing activities
include tssues and repayments of Rabobank Certificates,
Capital Securities, Senlor Contingent Motes, subordinated
lahilities and debt securities in issue.,

Tha difference between the net change peesentedin the
statement of cash Mlows and the change in cash and cash
aquivalents included in the statement of financial position is
due 1o exchange differences.

3. Solvency and Capital
Management

Rabobank aims to maintain a proper kevel of solvency. For this
purpase a number af capital ratios are utibized. The principal
At are the common equity tier | ratio [CETR), the ver

1 ratio, the total capital ratio and the equity capital ratio,
Rabobank uses its awn internaf objectives that extend beyond
the minimum requiremants of the supervisars, [t takes market
expectations and developments in legislation and regulations
into account. Rabobank manages its selvency position based
on policy documents, The solvency position and the abjectives
are pelindlfally récimwned I:qr the Risk Management Commilles
and the Asset Liabdity Committee of the Managing Board and
the Supervisory Board,

The “Capital Requirements Regulation (CRRI® and *Capital
Requirements Directive (CND V)° together constitute tha
European implementation of the Basel Capital and Liquidity
Aecord of 2010 which are applied by Rababank.

Rabobank must comply with a number of minimum solvency
positions as stipulated under law. The solvency position is
determined an the basis of ratics. These ratios compare the
qualifying capital {total capital ratia), the tier 1 capital (ter )
ratia) and the cose capital [camman equity tier 1 ratio) with
the total of the risk-adjusted assets. The minimum percentages
are detesmined on the basls of CAD VY CRR and reflect the
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application of article 104a of the CRA to partly fulfil the plltar 2
requirement with additional tier 1 and tier 2 capétal.

Mindmwm Capital Buffer
Chaprnil capiral
T T
o sl Thee 1 Tier2 gL ETTaET
kg | requremenn Ae L5 [T T R
Filie ] equicernere. Q88 00F% 101W Odds (EL
Caphal
i B FIT - 19 - 9%
Silen e iy : T . %
Cenartoipysla sl
" [iTE . oo s i1
Tatal required 10.00% LE¥% 1LEFW  L44% a8

Risk-wealghted ascets are determined based on separate and
distinct methads for each of the credit, operatonal and market
ritks, For credit risk purposes, the risk-weighted assets are
determined in several ways dependent an the naturo of

the asset. For the majority of assets the risk welghting s
determined by reference to internal ratings and a number of
characteristics specific 1o the asset concerned. For off-balance
sheet items the balance sheet equivalent s calculated firstly
an the basis of internal conversian factons and the resulting
equivalent amounis are then also assigned risk-weightings,
For opaerational risk purposes, an Advanced Measuramaont
Approach model Is used fo determine the amount of risk:
welghled assets, For market risk purposes, the Internal Model
Approach is applied on the majority of the exposures in wcope,
with very small exposures following standardized methods,
On Decembar 31, 2021, Rabobank's capital requirement was
EUR 16.9 billion {2020; EUR 15.5 billien). The overall regulatory
capital requirement for credit risk. market risk and operational
risk increased in 2021, This was mainly caused by higher model
add-ons related to TRIM and FX impact. Next to this, the capital
requirement increased due o the growth of the loan baak,
whisch was lully compensated by impraved eredit quality of
the assets. Rabebank was granted permission to apply the IFRS
B transitional arrangements. A surplus of IFRS % allowances
compared to prudential expected credit loss for performing
axposures can be added back to CET 1 caplital instead of to tler 2
capital under the transitional arrangements, The impacton the
CET 1 ratio was limited 1o 0.9 basis point.

The tramsitional CAR provisiom are reflected in Uhie ratios set
aut below,

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

Capitel Aulos

Asirurei int il of roros Bk M

Retamed eameingi HoET  Fa

gt debddends m 13
#ahotuni ermdrain 1A 1Al

Pl ok s dlirgi fat cyuab Pring Lagstal

Lt o i R ]
Regulatin sfurtments Qe (s
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Commen Equity Tier 1 cagital B4 54T
Capid Securnel 1978 aaa

Grafwtuibeisd Pelrusnents L1
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Bysl-wesghind suaety 2185 M7
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Ther 1 ratic L] o
Tewtal gl ratis 12 MM
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1 Thee equiny' capital ratio (s calculated by comparing the iters Retained
earnings and Rabobank Certficates 10 the rik-wrighied ases.

The change in the regulatory adjustments prirmarily relates to
the effect of including the total NPL prudential backstop in
the reguiatory adjustments, Other elements in the requlatony
adjustments are goadwill, ather mtangible fived assets,
doferred tanassets which depend on future prafit, the (KB
shartfall for creditrisk adjustments and adjustments relating to
cumaidative results due 1o changes in the bank’s oedit risk on
instrumeants designated at falr value.

The additienal Tier 1 mstruments isued by Rabobank prior
to 2015 do nat comply with the CRR requirements, Thay ane
being grandfathered which means that these instruments
will be phased out of capital ratios. in line with the

requiataqy requirements.
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4, Risk Exposure on Financial
Instruments

4.1  Risk Organization

The Managing Baard is responsible for overseeing the
development and eperations of risk management at various
leweds within the organization. This Includes the engolng
strengthening of salf skills and enhancements ta ridk
management systems, palicies, processes, quantitative models
and reports wherever necessary to ensune the bank's risk
management copabilities are sufficiently robust and effective
to fully support its strategic objectives and all of its risk-
takemg activities. The Supervisory Board ks responsible for

the superdision of the Managing Board with regand to their
wavcution of risk profile, vk palicles and risk management
activities, The Supervisory Board's Risk Committee consists

of members of the Supervisory Board and supports the
Supervizory Board in preparing its decision making in relation
to its supervision.

Risk Appetite

Tcdentifying and managing risks far ity arganization is an
angoing precess at Rabobank, For this purpose, Rabobank has
anintegrated risk management strategy. The risk management
cyche includes determining risk appetite, preparing integrated
sk analyses, and measuring and monitaring risk. Thraughout
this process Rabobank foflows a risk strategy simed at
continuity and designed to protect profitability, maintain salid
balance-sheet ratios and protect its identity and reputation.

4.2 Strategy for the Use of Financial
Instruments

Rabobank’s activities are ||1|1erE|‘|!|r melated to the use of
financial instruments, incuding derivatives, s part of the
services it offers, Rabobank accepts doposits from customar—s
at varying terms and at both fixed and varabde interest rates,
Rabobank earms interest income by Investing these deposits
im high-quality assets and by previding loans te commercial
and retall bomevwers. Rababank aims 1o icrease the mangin on
these activities by actively managing the interest rate potitions
al the banking book balancir within risk-boundaries while
maintaining sufficient cash resources ta meat obligations as
they fall due. Rabobank is exposed to credit risk on the on-
balance sheet boans and on the off-balance sheet guarantees it
provades, such as letters of credit, letters of performance, and
ather guarantes documenls.

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

43  Credit Risk

Credivrisk is defined as the risk of the bank facing an econamic
loss Because the Bank's counterparties cannot ulfil their
contractual obligations.

Credit risk management within the bank is governed by the
bank-wide contral credit risk policy and further detalled in
underlying specific credit risk standards and procedures, The
primary responsibility for managing and moenitonng credit sk
lies with the business as the first line of defense, The business
is required to identify, assess and manage, manitor and report
potential weaknesses in the credit sk portfolios. Monitoring
takes place onan ongolng basls to llmit credit risk exposures to
a hevel inline with the business line's Ask appatite,

In addition, rsk in the credit pantfolia s measuned and
monitored a1 bank-wide bovel and on entity level on a
maonthly basis and by quarterly and ad-hoc portfalio reporting
and analysis, with specific attention to nsk developments
and concentraticens.

4.3.1 Credit Risk Management

Credit Acceptance

Rabobank's credit acceptance policy bs typified by prudent
assessment of customers and their ability to repay the loan
that was granted (continuity perspective). As a result, the
Toan portfolio has an acceprable risk profile even in less than
favorable economic circumstances. Rababank aims to have
long-term refationships with customess that are beneficial for
bath the chient and the bank. An important starting paint

in acceptance policy for business loans is the “know your
customer” principle. This means that the bank only grants
loans (o business custamess whose management Rabobank
considers to be ethical and competent. In addition, Rababank
closely monitors developments in the business seclons in
which its customers operate and in which it can properly
assess the financial performance of its customers. Corporate
sustainability also means sustainable financing. Sustainability
guidalines have been established for use in the credit process.

Although eredit is wiually granted on the cash flow generating
poatential af the client ar project, collateral will improve the
pasition of the bank in case a client defaults. Collateral can
be independent of the cllent’s businass and/or cbtained from
the client's business, Rabobank has outlined its policies for
collateral waluation and collateral management in the Glabal
Standard an Credit Risk Mitigation, The valuation mthid
doponds on the type of collateral, For assat collateral, the
waluation sources can be the customer's balance sheet (e.g.
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equipment, machineny and stock), nominal value (e.g. cash and
recalvabdes), markel valus (exg. securnities and commaodities),
independent valuations (commerclal immovable property)
and market indices (resldential immavable property). Al
leligible) callateral is valued a1 market value of less than
market value and the collateral valwe is monitened regularly,
The collateral must be sufficiently lhquid and its value over
time should be suffidently stable to provide appropriate credit
protection Each type of collateral is addressed separately
within the Rabobank pelicy framawork

The main types of collateral that Rabobank recognizes are
mesidential and commarcial immovable property, inventory

re¢elvables and guarantees. With a substantial domestic
mortgage portfalio, residential immovable property s
cansidered o concentration sk within the credin sk
mitigation that is waken, The quality of the collateral is assessed
in the initial eredit request, and is maonitored within the cradit
revision process [see table below far the Rabobank palicy
concerning revalvation and manitoring of collateral), The
frequency of revaluation depends on the client's credit quality
{performing or non-perferming} and on the type of colateral
and i in line with the requirements st out in the CAR. The
main types of guarantors are govemments, local authorities,
(oentral) banks and corparate entities. A minimum rating is
required for Institutions, insurance undertakings and export

{such as equipment, machinery, stock etc.), commaodities, credit agencies.
; . e oo - e e
mwhmﬂrmm WY R vty 0 monihic eapasie < EUR 1 millon! ey e
Pl oemPing Eapres
al ewprrmuee = {8 3 rllony il Dygees of sollateral wwrry three pran. wvery yuar
1) sl rmimential immovaiin propeily Witk faperiune <= EUR 3 million an dofined by utineiiurit  every yoar
€1 resiernial imeretsuabile rogerty with Expasens < ELR 3 millon an defined by butineiiueht every e yean

Credit Committees and Credit Approval

Within the boundares set by the lisk Management Commities
the Managing Board has mandated decision- making authoriny
1o transactional committess and 1o credit declsion approval
officers that operate on an entity level, regional level or central
level at Rabobank. Credit commitiees neview all significant
risks in credit proposals to arrve at a systematic jJudgment
and a balanced decision. Rabobank has various levels of eredit
comimiiess Applications exceeding authority level of a eredit
commitles ane complemented with a recommandation and
submitted toa ‘higher' credit committes for decisbon-making,

+  Central Credit Cammittee Rababank Graup (CCCRG)
The CCCRG 1akes credit decisions on credit applicatiens
sulbject o the ‘corporate credit appraval route’ exceeding:
+ The authority of Credit Approvals Local Banks [CALR) -

This department is redparsible for decisions on nequasts
for non-classified (CRC Good or Early Warning; formerly
known as LOC Good or OLEM) obligors exceeding the
authority of Lacal Banks In The Nethailands.

+  The authotity of Credit Approvals Wholesale & Rural
[CA WER] - This depanment is responsible for decisions
on requests for non-clawified (CAC Good or Early
Warning; farmerly known as LT Good or GLEM| obligors
exceeding the authority of DLL or a Wholetale & Rural
(WER) affice’reglan.

+  The authority of the Credit Committee Financlal
Restructuring & Recovery (CC-FRER] - This credit
commites takes credit decisions on praposals for

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

classified [CRC Financial Difficubises or Default; formerly
known as LOC Substandard, Dowbiful or Loss) obligors

euceeding the authority of local credit committees and
the FRER departmeant.

» Country & Financlal Institutions Committes (CFIC) - The
CFIC takes credit decisions on proposals exceeding the
autharity of Country & Financial Institutions Risk. This
department i responsible for the risk management of
exposure on financial institutions and sovereigna/countries.

« Loan Loss Provision Committea (LLPC) - The Loan Loss
Prowision Committes i5 responsible for determining the
level of expected credit boss [ECL) provisions Tor Rabobank.
This respansibility Is delegated by the Managing Board.
The Committee approves the setting of provisioning
leviels far bath madel-bawed (stage 1, stage 2 and
stage 3aj and individwally assessed exposures (stage
3b) in the loan book {business and private Individuals’
martgages) as well as top level adjustments (technical and
business). For individwally assessed Stage Ib exposures
as well as top level adjustments, estimates based on
individual assessments and expert judgment are used. In
additian, the Commitiee considers relevant internal and
external information in s decisions, This includes the
outcames of the backstap process and fanward-looking
elements such a3 budgel lorecasts, sScenano analyses or
stress test cutcames, Follawing such considerations, the
Committes may approve deviatbons from the pravisioning
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estimates and/er provide strategic recommendations to the
Managing Board.

The Terms of Reference (TeR) lor these credin commiiess
provide the mandate, responsibifities & scope, hierarchical
relationships, membership, authority levels and modalities

of these approval bodies. Credit committees take decisions
on the basks of consensus, unless local regulation requines
majority voting, Consensus is reached when there s a general
agréement or when none af the members have fundamental
objections tothe deciskon, When no consensus can be reached,
an application is considered declmed, In case of majarity
vating, the representative(s) from the Risk domaln must have a
vetoright If a veto is used, the Managing Board decides.

For efficiency reasons credit committees can delegate part of
their autharity. A single person may nat take a credit decision
solely based on thoir own opinion, This means that Rabobank
appliesa four-eyes principle or decisions are system supported,
In such cases. one person may take a decision as long as the
credit s assessed as acceptable by an expert system of meets
predefined criteria (the credit complies with decision toals).
Fully IT supparted asseioments and approvals are allowed
under strict conditions.

The credit committess play a key role in ensuring consistency
among Habobank standards of creditanalysis, compliance with

Aot milfom of rerad

the overall Rabsobank credit policy and consistent use of the
rating maodels. The credit policy sets the parameters and remit
of each cornmittee, including the maxsmum amoun? they are
allowed 1o appreve for Imits or ransactions. Poliches ane alss
inplace which restrict or prohibit certain counterparty typed or
Industries. As a rule. all counterparty limits and internal ratings
are reviewed at least once a year jcofporate chients), Where
counterparties are assigned a low credit risk classifier iformerdy
known as boan quality classificationl, they are reviewed ona
maoarna freqisent basis. Credit committess may request for mare
frequent reviews as well,

432 Lending

Rabobank has a sigrificant market share in resldantal
maortgages kending. These koans have a low risk profile, the net
addition in 2021 1eloan impairment allowancesis minus 2 basis
points, In 2021, the propartion of the private sector lending
allecabde 1o the food and agricultural soctors was 25% and the
proportion of private sector lending allecable to trade, industry
and services was 25%. Loans to trade, industry and services
and lpans to the food and agricultural sectors are spread over
& wide range of industries in many diferent countries. Nons of
these individual sectar shanes represents more than 10% of the
total private sector lending.

a0 MM
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Lizaiii 16 gl viats deetor cllemts AT A58 Al 10
Ths paam b brears deoven grogritgs ity =1 etk
The Wetheilands by b EAL AT e
it of Europs 4793 B JOFT L&
Horth Ameris 41,005 1o wam L]
Laen Amerea 3,088 ™ 11855 ™
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Dofanid M54 &% 14483 %
Kfrea L e Lo A L
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Ereaisiovs of kg by banberys wecin
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The loans to private individuals are almost all incorporated geographically in the Methardands', The loans to TI5 and Food &
in the business segment Domestic Hetall Banking and Agriare categorized by sectorand business segment as follows:

Trade, industryand Services Loan Porifalio Analyred by Business sector

sy in miSiom o s — i lessing o FE ey Segments fatal
in Beswmber 11, 3037
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Comairiction 199 128 1755 [ . Aot
Wiolzaale g retsil irade (Mo FRA 153 g 1548 - - 17,305
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W ormanion and com maineabon LT 482 730 . . FRTH
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On December 38, 2038
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1 Aol 011, loans 1o wole propdetonithips are clariified a3 private ndividualy The comgarative figused have been adjinted sccardingly.
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Food & Agri Loan Portfolio Anelyred by Business Seclor
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Dertvatives

Rabobank sats strict lmits for open positions, in amouents as
well as in terms. If IS0DA (imemational Swaps and Derivatives
Association) standards appdy or a master agreement Including
aquivalent terms has been concluded with the counterparty,
and il the jurisdiztion of the counterparty peomits oflseiting,
the net open position is monitared and reported. This credit
risk is managed as part of the general lending limits for
clients. Where needed, Rabobank obtains collateral or other
credit emhancements to mitigate credit risks iInherent in these
transactions, The credit risk exposure represents the current
fair value af all open derlvative cantracts shawing a pasitive
market value, taking into account master netting agreements
enforceable under law.

Credit Related Contingent Liabdities

The financlal guarantess and standby letters of eredit that
Rabobank provides 1o third parties in the event of a client
lbaring wnable to Fulfill their obligations 1o these third parties,
are exposed to credit risk. Rabobank provides documentary
and commercial letters of credit and written undertakings

on behalf of clients that authorize third parties to draw bills
against Rabobank wp to a fixed amount and subject to specific
conditions., As these transactions are secured by the delivery of
the underlying goads to which they relate, the risk exposure of
such an instrument is lower than that of a direct loan. From the
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mament that the docurments have been acoepted under the
tewms of the letters of credit, Rabobank recognizes an asset and
a liabiliny until the moment of payment.

Loan commitments are firm commitments to provide credit
under pre-speeciied teims and conditions, Rabobank is
expowed to credit risk when it promises to grant loans,

The amaunt of any losses is likely to be lower than the

total of the unused commitments because the commitments
are made subject o the dients meeting certain loan
conditions, Rabobank monitors the temn (o the expiry of

laan commitments becaus lag-termeommitments generally
irvodve higher risk than short-term commitments.

4.3.3 Credit Risk Exposure and Credit Quality
Initsfinancing approval process, Rabobank uses the Rabobank
Risk Rating, which reflects the risk of failure e the prabability
of default (PO} of the loan relation aver a period of one year,
The loan-guality categaries ane determined on the bask of
the internal Rababank Risk Rating, The Rababank Risk Rating
consists of 21 perfgrmance ratings (RO-R29) and four default
ratings (01 -04), The performance ratings assess the probability
of default within a period of ane year and the rating ks
determined, in principle, an & cyclically neutral basis. D1-04
ratings refer to default classifications, DI represents more
than 90 days past dee on a material contractual payment; D2

163
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indicates that it is unlikely that the obligor will pay its debt in
full, without recourse by the bank to actions such as realizing
secutity; D3 indicates that a distressed sale or a distressed
restructuring has occurred that is likely 1o result in a credit-
related economic loss and D4 indicates bankruptey status, The
default ratings make up the total credit-impaired exposure,
The table below shows the credit queality of the financial assets
subject to impairment disclosed In ranges of rating grades
that ts consistent with the number that is reported to key
management personnel for eredit risk management purpodes.
The gross camying amount of the financial assets below alio
represent the maximum expasure to credit nisk on these assets,
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4.3.4 Impairment Allowances on Financial Assets
and Credit Related Contingent Liabilities

The fallowing tables presenta recanciliation from the opening
balance tathe clasing balance of the Impairment allewances af
financial assets and credit related contingent liabilities.
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Th fellawing table provides an svensdew of the significant

changes in thegross carrying amaunt of loans and advances 1o
customers during the peried that contributed to changes inthe
total impalrment allowanoe.,
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4.3.5 Criteria foridentifying a significant increase
in credit risk (SICR)

The main parameter taken into account in the quantitative
SICR assessment |s the ifetime probability of default (M0 and
lts developrent from oeigination to reporting date, A relative
change which is abowe a certain threshoeld in combination with
an abuislute threshald sre considered te be indicatos far a
significant increase in credit riik. The compansan bebwean the
lifetima PD at arigination and the lifetima FD at reporting date
isdone by translating both the rating at the start of the financial
Instrurment and the rating at reporting date into {point-in-time)
D curvas, This threshold Is 1.6 and represents the multiplier by
wihich the lifetime PO needs to be increased to migrate fram
sage 1 1o stage 2. In addition, an absolute delwa PD of 3%
should be reached as 3 minimum to migrate fram stage 1 to
slage 1. The thresholds are the same Tor all Trameworks,

4,3.6 Judgments and Estimates on Model Based
Impairment Allowances on Financial Assets
Rabaobrank applies the three-stage cupected credit loss
impalrment medels Tor meaiuring and recognizing expected
cradit logsas which invelve a significant degree of
management judgment. The impairment methedology results

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

in the recognition of aliowances measured at an amount
equal ta 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1); allowances
measured at an amaunt equal to lifetime expected oredit
losses for financial assers for which credit sk has increased
significantly since initial recagnition but that are not credit-
impained istage 2k and fimancial assets that are credit-
impaived [stage 3. Rabobank uses estimates and management
judgment in determining the expected credit loss in model-
based impairment allowances for the elements disclosed
below and expert judgment resulting in tap level adjustiments
for those described in Section 1.1,

Significant bncrease in Credit Risk

Transferring assets from stage 1 to stage 2 reguires judgment.
Teor demenstrate the sensitivity of the ECL to the PD thresholds,
an analysis vas run, which assumed all assers were below

the PO thresholds and spportioned a 12 month ECL. On the
same asset base, an analysis was run which assumed all assots
were above the PO thresholds and apportiond a lifetime
ECL: Both analyses wera run without taking info account

the impact of top-level adjustrents and resulted in ECLs of
EUR ST 7 millbon (20200912 million) and EUR 1,990 million [2020:
EUR 1,976 million) respectively.

Farvard-lzxoking Infermation and Macro-sconamic Soenanos
Estimating expected credit losses for each stage and
assessing significant increases in credit risk uses infarmation
abaut past events and current conditions as well as
reasonabie and supportable forecasts of futune events and
econamic conditions (forward looking infarmation]. Rabobank
wses three, probability-weighted, macroeconamic scenarios
{consisting of a baseline scenaria, a baselina minus scenario
and a baseline plus scenanio) In its ECL madels to determine
the expected oredit losses. The baseline macioecanamic
scenario (s condicdered the most likely ata 60% [December

3, 2020: 700 likelshood, companed to 209 (Dede mber

A1, 2020: 15%] likaldhood for both the minus and the plus
scenarios. The adjustments te the likelikood of the scenarios
were made In 2021 to reflect increased uncerainty about
future macroeconomic outcomes. Thisks fully attributed to the
economic impact of the Cevid-19 pandemic.

Determination of Plus and Minus Scenarios

Rabobank uses a statistical simulation method from the
Mational Institute Glabal Econometric Model (NiGEM) 1o
generats its plus and minus scenarios. The procedure Tor the
formulation invelves two steps:

1, Application al the stochastic function of MIGEM Lo run

1,000 scenarios starting in the third quarter whare the plus
and minus scenarios may differ from the baseline. KIGEM
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uses historical residuals [mandomly chosen| from the modal
equations that results in shocks during the forecast period
(Monte Carlosimulation]. The result is a distribution of possible
macroeconamic autcomes. The impact of these scenarios on
the valume of wodld trade is used instep 2.

2. Look up the two scenarios which represent the 20% plus
scenarios and the 20% minus scenarios of the distnbution,

Most important Macro-economic Varlables

Important variables are gross domestic product growth,
unemployment rates and interest rates, These forward-looking

Habaobank Anrisal Report 2001 - Cornalidated Financial Seatemendts
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macroeconomic forecasts require judgment and are largely
based on internal Habobank research. An analysis of the
sensitivity of key forward-locking macrocconomic inputs
used in the ECL modelling process for stage 1 and stage 2
provisioning and the probability-weights applied to each of
the three scenarios is presented below without taking into
accgant the impact of top-level adjustments. The countnes
included in the analysis are the most significant in terms of
gross contribution to repamable ECL. Accordingly, Rabobank
coniiders these partfalios 1o present the most significant
risk of resulting in an adjustment to the carrying amount of
fimancial assats,
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A probability weighting of 15% (2020: 10%] for bath the
iminus and plus scenario and a probability welghting of 70%
{2020 B0%] for the baseline scenario, would decrease the tatal
walghted ECL for stage | and 2 expodures by EUR 4 million
{2020 EUR 4 million). The adjustments Lo the likelihood of the
scanarios were made in 2021 to reflect increased uncertainty
abaut future macrosconomic outcames. This can be fully
attributed to the economicimpact of the Covid- 1 9 pandemic. If
the probabiiny weighting for both the minus and plus scenario
wedd 250 (3020: 30%) and 50% (2020; 60%] for the baseline
scanario, it would increase the total weighted ECL for stage 1
and 2 exposures by EUR 5 million (2020: EUR 4 milliond,

Grosscarrying armoun of [adng io cUsromers in stage I and stage t

At it et of paras 203 2030
Fetherlanc 291,536 283076
Unked Seates ALEM s
[Erazil Bo L
Buntialiy JrARY 14013

Mraswement of Expected Credit Losses

The probability of default (PO loss given default (LGD)

and the exposure at default (EAD) are used to etimata
expected credit losses s inputs Tor the ECL models, When
unexpected external developmants or data quality issues are
not sufficiently covered by these ECL models, an adjustment
will be made based on judgments and estimates. The inputs
alse require estimates as follaws:

=+ PD - The probability of default is an estimate of the
likefihood of default aver a given time horizen,

+  LGD - The loss given default is an estimate of the loss
artsing when a default cocurs at a given time. it s based
on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due and those that Rababank would expect to recelve,
including cash flaws expected {ram eollateral and ather
credit enhancemants,

+  EAD - The exposune at default is an estimate of the
exposure at a future default date, taking Into accownt
expecied changes in the exposure after reporting date due
o prepayment.

The table below shows the Impact on the ECL in the baseline
scenario nesulling from changes in probability of default (PD,
collateral valee and full prepayment rate.
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4.3.7 Credit Risk Mitigation

Rabobank’s credit risk expodure is partly mitigated by

chtaining collateral and other credit enhancements where

niecessary. The amount and nature of the collateral required
depends partly on the assessment of the credit risk of the loan
to the counterparty. Habobank has guidelines in place for the
purpose of accepting and valulng different types of collaterad,

The major types ol collateral are:

= Marigage callateral on residential immavable property,

«  Martgage collateral on commiercial immovable proporty,
pledges an movable praperty, inventoeies and receivables
[mainly for corporate loans); and

=+ Cashand securities, malnly for dertvatives, securities
lending actvities and reverse repuschase transactions,

Rabobank also uses credit dervatives to manage credit

risks and enters inte master netting arrange ments with
counterparties for a sgnificant volume of tansactions, In
general, master netting arrangements do not bead to the
aifsetting of assets and Habilities included in the statement
of financial position beciuse ransactions are ussally settled
gross excopt for transactions that meet the offsetting criteria
as mantioned in Section 2,91, Credit rish i limited by master
netting arrangements, but only to the extent that il an event or
cancellation ocours, all amounts involving the countenparty
are frozen and settled net. The total credit risk exposure
frowm derlvatives to which affsetting amangements apply is
sensitive 1o the clasure of mew transactians, the expiration af
@xisting transactions and fluctuations in market intesest and
exchanga rates.

The table bebow shows offsets which have been applied in the
consolldated balance sheet and offsets which have not been
apglied in the statement of financial position, but which bath
Nimit credit risk'

1 Comparative fgures far the desivatives have been adjusted mainty because uncapped collateral amourty were used instead of capped

eallateral armaunt.
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The next table shows the credit-impained financial assets in leanimpalment allowance for individually assessed exposures
relaticn T the collateral that is held as security 1o mitigale betause of @ surplus of collateral,
credit risk. In some cases, Rabobank did not recognise a

Callateral Held as Security and Ouher Credit Enhancemnents for Credit-impaired Finaneial Assels
Ciarrping nmaunt

At R of puris W’m"'fl"mﬂfm It ey e At aa Tmh:"mln‘:
0 Deprmileer 39, 2021

Lo B advanoes 10 Cred nsiubond 1 ‘ 1 E
Losanis sl pdvandes. 10 CLsbHmers 118 L5 GEaR d.383
Frusncisl syt ot bair vahum throug h otar R N

A EPRVE e

Tokal I 2.21% b ELE 4.4
O Decembeer 31, 2010

Laans s advance fo cred meiutiom . - -

Loani and advances fo cusbomeny (LS. [REE] 184578 aATs
Firnisial masets i lair vahie osgh ot i .

maprehermbe Fooee

Total 13,507 1,154 10,573 BATE
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The niext table sets out the maximum exposure to credit risk
‘to which Rabobank s exposed for financial instruments not
subject v the [FRS 9 impairment requirements, withaut aking
Inte account any collateral or ather measures for restricting
credit risk. It also shows the financial effect of any collateral
provided ar other types of credit risk reduction. In some
cases the amounts stated deviate from the carmying amounts
as presented in the statement of financlal pasiton becawse
the cutstanding equity instruments are not induded in the
manimiim exposune to eredit sk,

subsequent performance of these forborne modified assets
and may determine that the credit risk has significantly
improved, so that the aswets are maved from stage 3 or stage
2 {Lifetime ECL) o stage 1 [12-month ECLY. The gross carrying
amount of such assets held as a1 Decernber 11, 2021 was
EUR 251 million (3020; EUR 102 millian].

The follewing table includes summary information for financial
asserswlth lifetime ECL whose cash Mows were modified during
the peiod and their respective eflect oa financial pedfermance:

Miasclernurn Exposire fa Crecit Risk of Finenclal Assers Not Sulyect
1o impairment

e o RO | OF PareE

A Ealateral held
ey S
crweit ik -
O Decambir 11, 2011
Frandil st held for radeg 2305
Fraencis! pesats mandasordy at fairvalue ars 1178
Deriwafives brhd] A5AT
Total ELRES] LD
D Decembar 39, 2070
Fararcial ity hekd for tradig FRL
P Bdseth mandaterly 50 s value L3048 &
Deitwathoes A TS
_'HH L=k TOEST
Write-off Folicy

Rabobank wiites off loans when i1 has exhausted all practical
recovery efforts and has concluded there i no reasanable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery Include (i) ceasing enforcement
activity and () where the recovery method is foreclosing on
collateral and the value of the collateral i such that there is
o readonable expectalion of recovering in full. Rabebank may
warite-off laans that are still subject toenforcement activity, The
outstanding contractual amounts of partly orwholly written off
assais during 2021 was EUR 534 million.

abobank acquired financial and non-financial assets during
the year by taking possession of collateral with an estimated
value of EUR 17 million as per Decermber 31, 2021 2030 2¢r0),
It Is Rabobank poficy o sell these aswets in the easonabily
foreseaable future. Yields are allocated to repaying the
autstanding amount.

4.3.8 Modified Assets

Thee risk of default of modificd assets s asseised a1 the
rmaporting date and compared with the risk under tha
original terms at Initlal recegniton, Rabebank monitors the

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

Finaneiol Assets Modified While Loss Allowanee Meaawved at

Lifegirmee ECL
Amouncs in mabo of raros Eol 0%
Amgrtiped oo bedoee mocihzation E5H] Lol
el mwodifacation gaing iois e i1
Financial ausets modified aines

H n 380 1040

4.3 .9 External Developments potentially
affecting Credit Risk

Clirmabe Aelated and ESC Ak (CAE Riskd

The physical consequences [physical riak) of climate change
{such as rising average temperatures and oxirome weather
events) and the transition to a climate-neutral economy
{e.g. transition risk) are priorities for Rabobank. That is why
Rababank is cammitted to the Paris Agreement goals, why
Rabobank is signatody to the Net Ziera Banking Allianoe

and why Rabobank considers it a shared responsibility to
take action. Rababank i increasingly aware of the impact

of climate change on its business and Rabobank therefore
treats climate change and envirenmental degradation as
one of its strategic risks. Mext to that, Rabobank can also
have impact on climate change through its lending portfolio.
Climate felated and ESG Risk i3 a driver lor all traditional
risks, prodominantly credit risk, CAE risks amplify via transition
channaets, for example macre (e.g. GOP) and micro (e.g, crop
losses| impacts, The matedality of CAE risk as a driver for
the traditional risks Is assessed and part of Rabobank’s risk
tamanomy. Both phydcal and transition risks could impact
the guality of aur credit ponfolio, especially our Food and
Agriculture and mortgage portfalios, Of the four categories
Uhat the Task Foroe on Climate-redated Financial Disclosures
(TCFD) distinguishad. Rabobank classifies the following four
portfolies as the most exposed to climate change risks: (i)
energy, (il ransportation, (i) matenals & bullding including
real estate, and (iv) agricultune, food, and forestry products,
Rabobank’s currént overall exposure 1o these Four industry
sectons is roughly 60% of its group exposure at defawlt
{EALD. Significant climate-related and environmental related
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reqgulations for banks were issued in 2020 and there are mone to
comea, The two most important Guidelines launchedin 2020 are
the ‘ECE Guide on climate-related ond environmental rivks' ond
the “EBA guidelines on loan erigination and monilating’. The
denominator of the guidelines is the focus on environmental,
social and governance ([ESG),

Itls expected that the ECB will require banks te adopt a full end-
to-end approach of climate related and environmental risks
embedded acrods every aipect of the bank. The first step ta
embed the regulations into our Risk Management Framewark,
and beyond, has been taken, To manage CRE risks, a S-year
CAE risk roadmap with 29 dellverables has been designed. For
the successful Implementation of the roadmap an Integrated
approach on climate alignment, business swrategy and risk
management has been developed. In this integrated approach
Rabobank leverages it sectorapproach, The focwsod the S-year
readmag is ameng ather things on measuroment [heatmaps,
siress testing, scenario analyses, clhent sk assessments),
structural improvement of data, monitoring and reporting.
The roadmap alms to create awareness and expertise; and to
eapand disclosure on CEE nisks. The road map execution started
with the following key deliverables for this yeas

=Heatmaps - first edition to identify potential threat climate
risk an Aabobank portfclios

+ Clirmate and Environmenial risk assessment - first design of
assesument an client level

«ECB Climate Risk Stress Test - preparations for the 2022 Stress
Test have started

+ Sustaknability Finance Framework (5FF) - a Minimum Viable
Product SFF will be ready including an implementation plan

« DJata = an initiative has been sot up to prepant for a
comprehensive approach to collect and store data on climate
and envirmnmental risk. &s long as strectured climate risk data
iz not available for a longer pariod, climate risk cannot be used
as an input for Aababank's ECL models. However, climate risk
Thas impacted the ECLS via a top-leved adjustment as disclosed
in Section 2.1,

«E5G in the client journey: incorporation of ESG risk drivers in
the credit assessment

Thie implementation of the roadmap is a cantinuous
lourmniey wherehy this roadmap will need to undenge annual
reassessment with a foous on a risk-based approach. Pleass
refer to the chapter Ckmate-related Financial Disclosure

Hababank Anrial Report 2001 - Comeodidated Financisl Statemaents

where Rabobank's governance, strategy and risk management
related to climate change is discussed, in line with the
recemmendations of the Task Force on Clirmate-related
Financial Discloswnes,

Hext steps on the heatmaps and concentration analyses

are: scenario anakyses an the materiality of the risks and
assessments on client level, These steps are requined toget a
better plcture of a posskble effect {ifany) onthe expected credit
losses for Rababank.

The furure of Dutch agricultune under the new govemment

In the coalition agreemaent of the new Dutch government an
acceleration of the large transiton of the agriculiural sector is
announced. The Nethedlands has to become a global leades bn
circular agricultuse in 2030 This vision entails a paradigem shift
fram giowth in production valumes and cost price reductions
towards optimization in resource use and feod production

in hammany with nature and with a recovery In biodiversity.

A Transition Fund of EUR 25 billion, also to be used for

the nitragen ssue {see below), should make this possible,

A prerequisite is that farmers must be able toearm a decent
incame in the rew situation. At the same time, 3 new Set-up
of the Dutch landscape and the place of agriculfure therein
musk be agreed upon, As a large stakeholder Rabobank is
actively participating in these very challenging developments
for its dlients and is contnuously assessing their impact on

its loan portfalio. Given the government invalvement, as of
Decembaer 31, 2021 no top-level adjuiiment on the allowances
wiore deomed necossary.

Nitrogen [PAS)

On Judy 1, 2021, the new “Nitrogen Law™ came into effect

in the Netherlands. Approximately EUR 2 billlen will be
irvestied by the Dutch govermment in the coming years 1o
Ilrut!uru"f redude nitrogén emiisions in the most important
sectons [agriculiune, industry, mobility, and constructian),
Furthermare, almost EUR 3 Billion will be invested in the
recovery and strengthening of nature, These iInvestments will
make new ecanomic developments possible. Specifically for
agticuliure there will be grants fer farmess who consider
switching [0 more sustainable business madels and for thase
who are considering glving up hrm.lg. The government's
ultimate goal is that in 2035 at least 74% of so-called Hatura
2000 areas will experience acceptable nitrogen dapasitions,
In the coalitbon agreement of the new Dutch government
additional measunes are announced 1o reduce nitrogen
emissions more quickly. The ultimate goal of the Nitrogen Law
shauld b reached in 2030 instead of 2035, Rabobank 15 closely
Tollowing these developmants and thair possible impact on
its portfolio, Given the cument government imvestmants and
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grants that ultimately support Rabobank's customers, as of
Decernber 31, 2021 no top-level adjustment on the allowances
wids deerned meoessany.

PEAS

Fram mid- X)20, restrictions an warking with PFAS
contaminated soil and dredging spoil were loosenad for the
construction and dredging sectors, The new measunes alio
take environmental and health considerations inte account.
The construction and dredging sectoss werne therelare able to
mesumea large part of their activities. This reduced pressure on
Rabobank’s customers, At the same time, the Netherlands and
same other EU, countries are working ona proposal to prohibit
all uses of PFAS in the European Unlon.

44  Mon-Trading Foreign Exchange Rate
Risk (F¥ risk)

[FX risk: i the risk that exchange rate movements lead to
valatility in Rabobank's cash flows, assets and liabilities, net
jprofic and’ ar equity. Rabobank distinguishes two types of
nmon-trading FX risks: (i1 FX risk in the banking boeoks and (1) FX
trandlation k.

Forelgn Exchange Risk in the Banking Books

¥ risk i the banking books, 5 the risk where known

and/ or ascertainabble currency cash fiow commitments and
receivables in the banking boeoks are unhedged. As a result,
movementsinexchange rates could have an adverse impacton
Rabobank’s financial results and/ or financial pasition,

Foreign Exchange Translation Risk

F% translation risk is the risk that FX fluctuations will adversely
affect the translation of assets and Habilities of operations -
denombnated in forelgn currency - into the funcional currency
of the parent company. Translation risk pertains 1o Rabobank's
equity position, risk weighted assets and capital ratios,

Rabobank manages Its FX translation risk with regard to

the Rabobank Consolidated CET1 ratio by delibarately taking
and/or maintaining FX positions. As a result of these structural
FX postions, the impact of exchange rate fluctations an
Rabobank’s Consolidated CETY ratio is mitigated,

FX translation risk management is covered by the Global
Standard an FX Translation Risk which outlines Rabobank's
Global policy towarnds FX Translation nsk to achieve and ensure
a prudent and saund manitoring and contralling system,

in ordér o manage these risks. Rabobank vies o pillar 2
framework for those areas whare Rabobank is of the opinion
that the regulatory framework (Le. plilar 1) dees notaddress the

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

risk, or does not adequately address the risk. FX translation risk
is one of these risks.

4.5  Interest Rate Risk in the Banking
Environment

Interast rate risk in the banking environment refers to the
risk that the fimancial results and/or the econaemic value of
the banking book could be adversely affected by changes in
market interest rated.

Interest rate risk at Rabobank arises because of repricing

and maturity mismatches between leans and funding, and
optionality In dient products. Customer behavior is an
important determining facter with respect to interest rate
risk in the banking ervironment. The madeling of customer
behavior is therefone one af the core elements of the interest
rate risk framework. Behavioral models and assumptions are
in place for mortgage prepayments. savings accounts and
current accounts. Movements in interest rates may also affect
the creditworthiness of customers. Higher interest rates mhght
for example lead to higher barnowing costs and, hence, have
a negative Impact on the creditwodthiness ol a customer. This
effect, howeser, is regarded aq credit risk rather than interest
rate risk.

Rabobank accepts a certain amount of interest rate risk in the
banking enviranment; this is a lundamental part of banking.
Bul a1 the same time the bank abso aims 10 avoid unexpecied
matenal luctuations in the financlal result and the economic
value because of interest rate fluctuations, The Managing
Baoard. overseen by the Supervisory Board, therefore annually
approves the Interest rate risk appetite and the corresponding
interest mate risk limits.

At group level, Rababanks intérest rate risk it managed by
the Assel and Liability Commitbes Group chaired by the Chisl
Financial Officer, Treasury is responsibla for implementing
the decisions of this commitiee, while Risk Management

is responsible for monitoring the interest rate risk position
independently from a secand line of responsibiliy.

Economic value of eauity o & measune for managing intereit
rate riskdiffers from the accounting value alequity, Forinlerest
rate risk management, the economic value of equity is defined
as the present value of the assets minus the present value

ol the Nabilites together with the present value of the ofl-
Balance-sheet items. Through the use of hedge accounting
and as a large propartion of the balance sheet is carried at
amartized cost (in IFRS termish, a loss in econamic valug diees
not autematically equate with accounting losses,
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techanical nature related to updates in behavioural models and
assumptions. and market developmenits.

As part of its interest rate risk policy, Rabobank uses the

following indicators for managing and controlling interest
rate risk:

«  Earnings at risk: the EaR is the Largest deviation in negative
terms of the expected net interest income in the next 12
maonths as a result of different interest rates scenanios;

+  Modified duration of equity: and

« Basls point value [BFY).

Sections 4.5.1 and 4.5.2 provide further details on "Eamings at
risk™ and *Modified duration and B8PV developments.

4.5.1 Earnings at Risk

Earnings at risk ks calculated ance a month based on 2 standard
interest-rate-sensitivity analysis. This analysis shows the main
rechuction of the projected interest Encame o the nest 12
manths triggened by a set of scenarios: one inwhich al market
interest rates gradually increase by 2 percentage points, by a
scenario in which all market interest rates gradually decrease
by & maximurm of two percentage points {intere st rmtes in this
scenario are floored at kevels deemed as realistic], and by two
seenarias in which the yield eurve fleepens or flatiend.

In 3021, Rabobank’s net interest income was most sensitive
to the interest rate down scenario. Eamings at Risk amounted
to EURA -33 million on December 31, 2021, less negative than
the Earnings ot Rk on Decembber 31, 2020 (EUR -74 million].
This was mainly driven by changes in the composition of the
lbalance sheat, The EaR position remained comfortably within
risk appetite limits,

EFrrmings ol Risk

Decernder I1, X221 Dby 11, JJ0
Earrngy o Rish 33 T4
Bl by main cunTencies
[Farrings of Bisk - FLE -0 15

[Esrrmnign i Righ - WSO

E

4,5.2 Modified Duration

Modifiad duration [MD) of equity indicates the reduction of
economic value of equity in percentage points if money market
and capital market interest rates increaze by one percentage
paint. The Managing Board has set an upper MO limil of 63,
Additional limits apply for the basis paint value (BPV) of equity
and the deita profile (B per tenor) of equity.

During 2021 Modified Duration had increased by 3% {fram
0,1% on Decembier 31, 2020 1o 3.1% on December 31, 2021)
and BPY has changed fram EUR 0.3 min to EUR =113 min. This
wias the cutcome of several effects which are mostty from a

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

Modified Duration () and B
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4.6  Market Risk in the Trading

Environment

Market risk avizes fram the risk of losses on trading book
positions affected by movements in inlerest rates, equities,
credit apreads, currendcees and commaodities. Ritk pasitions
acquired frem elients can either ba redistributed to other
clients or dynamically managed by hedging. The trading desks
act as a market-maker for secondary markets (by providing
liquidity and pricing) in interest rate dervatives and debt,
including Habobank Bands and Habobank Cerificates,

Market risk in the trading environment is monitored daily
within the markat risk framework, which was put in place to
measure, monitor and manage market riskin the tmding books.
This framework contains all derivatives in trading books, bond
trading baaks, and laan syndication books. An impartant parn
of the framework is an appropeiane systerm of limics and wrading
contrals, The relevant risk appetite limits ane transdated into
lirmits and trading contrels at book level.

Due to Rabobank’s strategy of client risk redistribution, risk
hedging and the low secondary market activity, risk appetite
for market rick ks modest I limits ane breached, remedial
action will be stipulated to decrease the chance al large actunl
Tosses, The risk position is reparted 1o senior managoment on
a weekly basis and discussed in the various risk management
comanittees each month. Risk developments that require ad
hac attention are communicated accordingly outside the

regular reporting cycle.

At the consafidated level, the risk appetite is defined for
evand risk trading. event risk undenwriting, VaR and interest
rate delta.

fabobank considers Event Fisk the most impartant indicator
for market risk in the trading ervitenment. It is instrumental
in gauging the impact of extrerme, yel plauible predefined
moves inmarket risk factors an the PEL of individual trading
porifolies, These moves are reflected in scenarias which
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capture risk drivers such as tenor basls swap spreads, interest
rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, volatility and interest

rate curve ratation. Depending en the scenario, individuwal risk
factors or multiple risk tactor categodies will be stressed.

The event risk. which is measured by performing sensithvity
analyses and stress tests was EUR 35 million on December
31, 2021, well within the st limit, It fluctuated between
EUR 35 milllion and EUR 70 milllon with an average of

EUR 56 malliga.

Qutside the trading environment event risk |s applied to the
underwriting business, The tost is based on internal credit risk
scores that mirmos debt ratings and the markets categorisation

of the dabt. The event risk result was EUR 52 milllon on
Decernber 31, 2020, and EUR 111 milion on Decemiber 31,
2021, well within the set limic

The VaRindicates the maximum loss for a given corfidence
leved and horizon under ‘normal” market conditions, based

an one year of historical market movements, Daily nsk
management uses a confidence level of 97.5% and a horizon
of 1 day. Under this method, VaR is calculated on the basis

ol historical market movemients and the poditions taken. The
tabie below presents the composition of the VaR, In 20217, the
VaA fuctuated between EUER 2.4 million and EUR 6.3 million,
the average being EUR 3.3 million, The VaR amounted to

EUR 3.1 million on December 31, 2021

VAR {1 day, 27.5%] farnounts in milBons of euros)

Infeverd Creefitt Cursencin Shawt  Commoditis  Diveraifation Tatal
Deeimmilees 31, 2021 13 o8 o2 3] [-1.] LT LA}
03N - dversge 15 14 o2 -] ay 11
071 = Righest 44 il 24 (4] L&) LX)
HTE - Lot FA ] ol a.i -1 as 34
Deambver 11, 2020 15 T 03 (4] o5 L] a1
LT - avetage 4L . oy [+ L] 44
1 - highe a4 40 na =] 4 A
Jﬂi‘ﬂ-lrt_w-rﬂ 15 Lt o1 o al a7

Thie interest rate delta is a measure of the changs in the vabhes
of poaitions if there s a parallel increase in the yield curve of 1
lhasis point [iLe. .01 percentage point). The interest rate delta
table below shows the sensitihvity tochangesin the yield curves
for the major currencies, On Dacamber 31, 2021, the interest
rate delta for rading books was EUR 84 thousand positive. The
interest rate defta remained well within the set Bmit during the
mparting period,

Interest Rate Defta

Arrmrusity in mllorri of fures Dagernder I, K Depembey 18, RN
[aE] oo LA ]
R m ER
R oo =1}
[Aher B [ k]
Tatal a1 (%]
4.7 Liquidity Risk

Licuidity risk i= the risk that Rabobank will not be able to meet
all ofits paymant and repaymant obligations on time, as well
a3 the risk that Rabobank will not be able to fund increases in
assats at a reasonable price, if at all. This could happen A, for
imstance, custamers of professional counterparties suddenly

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

withdraw more funds than expected and which could not

be absorbed by the bank's cash resources, by sefling or
pledging assets in the market or by borrowing bunds from thind
parties. Aabobank considers an adequate liquidity position and
retalning the confidence of bath professional market parties
and retail customers 1o be erucial inoensuring unimpeded
access to the pubilic money and capital markets,

The liquidity risk policy fecuses on financing assets using
stable funding, Le., funds entrusted by customers and long:
term wholesale funding, Liquidity risk s managed based on
seyeral components.

A oy companent is (o maintain a substantial high-quality
buffer of [kquid assets. Besldes credit balances held at central
banks, these assets can be pledged 1o central banks, in repo
transactions, or can be sold directly in the market to generate
ligukdity irmmadiately. The wze af the liquidity Buller is atned
1o the risk Rabobank is exposed to inits balance sheet in
addition Rabobank has securitized a portion of the mortgage
and SME [oan partfalio intarmally, which means it can be
pledged ta the central bank. thereby sendng as an additional
liquidity buffer. Since this concerns retained secumtizations, it
is mot reflected in the consolidated balance sheet.
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The next component for managing liguidity risk consists of

a good credit rating, high capltal levels and prudent funding
policies. Rabobank takes various measures (o avald Beogming
overly dependent on a single source of funding, These
include balanced diversification of financing sourcesregarding
maturity, currencies, imvestors, geography and markets, a
high degree of unsecured funding and therelone kmited
asset encumbrance, and an active and consistent investor-
refations policy.

Thie ather companents include setting strict limits for the
maximum eutgaimg cash flows within the wholesale banking
business. Amang other things, Rabobank measures and
reports on a dally basis what incoming and cutgolng cash
Maws con be expected during the next 12 months. Limits have
been set for these outgoing cash floves, including for each
currency and each location. Detailed plans [the contingency
funding plans) have bean drawn up for contingancy funding
1o ensune the bank s prepared for potential crisis situations.
Parigdic operational tests are performed for these plans.

Habaobank Anmisl Aepart 2001 - Comsolidated Financlal Strtements

Scenario analyses are pedformed each month to determine the
potential consequences of awide range of stress scenarios. The
analyses cover market-specific scenarios, Rabobank-specific
scenanias and a combination of both. Monthly reports on the
Grewup's overall liguidity pasitien are submitted 1o the Dutch
Central Bank, These reports are prepared in accordanoe with
the guidelines drawn up by this supervisory authonty,

The mable below shows the undiscounted liabilities grouped
acearding to the remaining liquidity period fram the réporting
date to the expected contract repayment date. The total
amounts do not correspond exactly with the amounts in the
consolidated statement of financial position because this table
is based on undiscounted contractual cash flows relating to
bath principal and future Interest payments, Derlvatives are
not included in this table and have not been analyzed on

thie basis of the contractual due date, because They ané not
essantial for the managemant of liquidity risk or for reporting
1o senior management. The maturity profile of derivatives used
fior cash Alow hedging is disclosed in Section 10.3 Dedivatives
Designated as Hedging Instrirment®.
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Thee tabile below shows assets amd Rabalities grouped according — Uhe amounts inchuded in the Consolidated Statement of

to the period remaining fram the reporting date to the Financial Pasition,

contractual repayment date, These amounts correspond to
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The overview presented alsove was composed based on
contractual information and does not represent the actual
behavor of these financial instruments. However, this is
accounted fer in the day-to-day management of lkguidity risk.
Cuitormer savings ane an exampbe. Under contract, thede ane
payable on demand, Experience has thown that they are a
wery stable source of long-term financing for Rabobank, The
liquidity regulations of the supervisory authority also factor
this in.

With a Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) of 184% as per December
31, 2021 [2020; 193%), Rabebank complies with the minimum
100% requirement as set by the Dutdh Central Bank (DNE]

The liguidity reguirements 16 meet payments under financial
quarantees are considerably lower than the notional amount
of the Rabilites because Rabobank does not generally expect
that third partios to such arrangements will draw funds. The
total outstanding amount in contractual obligations to provide
credit does not necessarily repeesent Rabobank’s future cash
esource needs because many of these abligations will lapse or
terminate without financing being required.

4.8 Operational Risk

Exposum to operational risk is an inevitable part of Rabobank's
business activities. Operational risk is the risk of financial,
regquiatary and reputational impact due to insdequate ar
failing processes, people, systems and ¢ or external events
Rabobank aims to reduce this risk within the boundaries set by
the risk appetite statement as appropriate to the complexity
and size of Rabobank. as well as to monitor the risk actively
and where needed, take additional action Operational Risk
Mamagement (ORM] is an Integral part of doing business. The
objEctive of ORM is to identify, measure, mitigate, monitor and
report operational fiks, and to promote risk awareness and a
healthy risk culture within Rababank.

Rabotank has a visk and control framework (RCF) in place

to actively manage and control operational risks, supported
by policies, procedures, limits and contrel structures. Finding
and action management and incdent management take place
i conjuncticn with the OAM cycle. Consdering the scale

ol Rabobank and the complexity of it business activities,
Rabobank uses multiphe risk appatite statemant metrics,

The Risk Management Committes Group [RMC) regularly

has aperational risk on its agenda and is respansible for
setting the operational risk pabcy. The ownership and primary
respansibility for the managament of operational rigk las
within the business, as It must be fundamentally woven

Habaobank Anmisl Aepart 2001 - Comsolidated Financlal Strtements
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into the first lines strategic and day-to-day decision-making,
Hisk management committees play an impartant rode in
averseeing and monitening the operational risks af the first
line's sctivities, This structure enabbes Rabobank (o manage
current operational risks as well a4 to identify and prepare far
Managing new amerging risks,

Risk Profile Perfarmance

fabobank’s operational risk profile is above accepred levets.
Mitigating actions and remediation programs are being
continuwed tolawer the aperational risk profile, In the areas

of conduct, external frawd and process execution failures
Rabobank sees most of its matedalized losses and high risks.
The main themes driving our opertional risk profile are
related to compiance Themes, model gk, ITicybercrirme risk,
trandformation ik, sutsourcing/BCM, and data management.
Hisks in thiewe areas continee to remabn significant for the
shart term future, With regard to consumer credit products
based on variable interest, Rabobank decided in 2021 1 offer
compensation to cients, see Section 4,10 Legal and Arbitration
Proceedings. For the incremental costs involved (o nesolve
KL backlogs a provision ks recognized, see Section 410
Legal and Arbitration Proceedings. In addition, retaining and
anracting gqualified employees is becoming an emerging risk,
The engoing Covid-19 crisis has not caused a material increase
in the operational risk profile of realized operational losses

in 20210,

Internal Fraud

Rabobank maintains a high level of awareness of the risk of
internal fraud. Numerous controls to mitigate this rdsk are
embedded in 1" and 2™ line procedures. such as. for example,
controls e detect unauthorized access to internal systems by
staff. In additon, awareness is maintained through mandatory
and non-mandatery internal training on risk and fraud-related
:ul:j:ch fa+ all employees. Governance is provided b:f several
fraud-related policies, which are periodically reviewed, such as
the Global Fraud Policy and the Global Pracedure of Intemal
Integrity Investigations. Numerous reporting mechanisms ane
availabla to staff to ensure that signals are referred to the
rebevant departrent for follaw up.

4.9  Falr Value of Financial Assets and
Liabilities

Far fair value measurement Rabobank assumes that the
transaction 1o sell an asset or transfer a liability 14 conducted
in the principal market lar the asset or liability, or in the most
advantageous market if no principal market exists.
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Market prices are not avallable for a large number of the
financal assets and llabllities that Habobank hodds or issues,
For financlal instruments for which no marker prices are
avallable, the Lakr values shown in the following able have
been estimated using the present value or the results of
ather estimation and valuation methods, based on the market
conditions on the reporting date. The values produced

wsing these methods are highly sensitive 1o the underying
assumptions used fov the amounts and for the dming of future
cash faws, discount rates and possible inarket ilguidity. The
Tallowing methods and assumptions have been wied,

Cazh and Cash Equivalents

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is assumed to
b alrmast equal to thedr carrylng amount This assumption
is used for highly liquid investments and for the shart-term
companent of all ather financial assets and liabilites,

Loars and Advances o Credit Inatilutions

Laans and advances to credit institutions alse include
interbank placings and fems to be collected. The falr vabees
of leating rate placings, which are repriced reguiarly and do
nnt vary signilicantly in tesma of eredit risk, and evernight
deposits are ther carrying amounts, The estimated i value
of fixed-interest deposits is based on the present value of the
cash flows, calculated based on appropriate money market
interest rates for debts with comparable credit risks and terms
1o maELUFily.

Financial Assets and Derivatives Held for Trading

Fimancial assets hold fer trading are carried at fair value based
on available quoted prices in an active market. If guoted
prices in am active market are not avallable, the fair value is
estimated based on discounted cash fow moedels and option
valuatson models.

Darivativies ane recagnizedat fair value dotermined on the basis
of listed market prices [mid-prices are wsed for EUR, USD and
GEP derivatives that have a bid-ask range], prices offered by
traders, discounted cash flow models and option valuation
madaks Based an current markel prices and eontract prices
for the undettying instruments which reflect the nme value of
maney, yield curves and the valatility of the underlying assets
and liaksilithes,

Credit valuation adjustments (CVA] are carred out on OTC
denvatives to reflect expected credit bosses related to the
mon-peformance risk of a given counterparty, A VA is
distermined por counderparty and degends on expected future
axposumn taking into account coltateral, netting agreemonts
and other relevant contractual factors, default probabllity

Habaobank Anmisl Aepart 2001 - Comsolidated Financlal Strtements

and recovery rates, The CVA caloulation Is based on avallable
market data including credit default swap (CDS) spreads. If
CD5 spreads are not available relevant proxees ane used. A
deldt valuation adjustment [DVA] 15 rmade 1o include awn
credit In the valuation of OTC derivatives. The calculation of
DA s consistent with the CVA framework and is calculated
using the Rabobank CO5 spread. Another set of fTactors taken
into account is the funding valuation adjstments (FYALL
FWA concerns the valuation difference between transactions
hedged by securities and transactions not bedged by
securities. Collateralized transactions are valued by means
of & discounting curve, based on the Overnight Indexed
Swap. Non-collateralized transactions are valeed by means
of a discounting curve, based on Eurlbor plus a spread which
reflacts the market conditions.

Fimancial Assets Mandatorily at Falr Value

These financial assets are carrded at fair value based an quoted
prices anan active market if avallable. If not. they are estimated
from comparable assets on the market, or using valuation
methods, that include the appropriate discounted cash flow
models and option valuation models,

Loans and Advances 1o Customers

The fair walue of leans and advanc es to customiers is estimated
by discounting expected future cash Alows using current
market rates for similar lnans, considenng the creditworthiness
al the eounterpany. Fos the fair valuation of residential
mortgage keans, the contractual cash Aows are adjusted for the
prepayment rate of the portfolio. For variable-interest loans
thatare repriced regularty and do not vary significantly in tesms
of credit risk, the fair value approximates the carrying amount.

Fimancial Assets at Fair Value through Other

Comprebansive Income

Theie inancial asiels are meaduned af fair value based an listed
markit prices, If quoted prices on an active markit ane not
available, the fair value is estimated based on discounted cash
flow models and optéon valuation models,

Dreposity from Credit Insttwbions

Deposits from credit instinutons include interbank placings,
items to be collected and deposits. The fair values of floating
rate placings. which are repriced regularly and do not vary
significantly in terms of credit risk. and overnight depaosits
are their carrying amounts, The estimated fair value of fived-
interest deposits s based on the present value of the cash
fhows, caleulated based on valid money market intenest rabes
loe debits with comparable erédit risks and lerms to maturily,
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Derpasits from Customess

Depasits from customers includes current accounts and
deposits. The fair value of savings and current account balances
that hawe no specilic termination date ane assumed 1o be the
amount payable on demand on the reperting date, that Is,
their carrying amount an that date. The fair value of deposits
isestimated from the present value of the cash Mows based
on current bid rates for Interest for similar armangements and
terms to matusity that alse match the items to be measured.
The carrying amount of variable-interest depaiits is a good
approximation af their fair value on the reporting date,

Financial Liabdities Held for Trading

The falr value of financlal liabllities held for trading Is based on
avallable guoted prices on anactive market. If quoted prices on
an active marketare not available, the fair value is estimated on
the basis of valuation models,

Financial Liabalities Desigrated at Fale Vilue

The fair value option is used to eliminate the accounting
misrmatch and valuation asymmetny between these
Instruments and the economic hedging derivatives that wauld
occur if thede instuments wene sccounted far at amortized
cosL. The financial lisbilities designated at Tair valoe include
structured notes and structured deposits which are managed
and reported on a fairvalue basis with the hedging derivatives,
The fair value of these liabilities is determined by discounting
eontractual cash flews using eredit adjusted yield curves
based on available market data in the secondary market and
appropriate CO5 sproads, All ather market risk paramaters
are valued consistently with derivatives used to hedge the
market risk in these lsabiities. Changes in the fair value that
are attributable to changes in own credit risk are reported in
“Other comprehensve inceme”. The change in fair value that
is attributable to changes in own credit risk is caloulated by
deducting on a nete by note basis the current falr value of
the structured notes portfolio at the reporting date from the
fair value recalculated based on the prevailing credit curve

at the thme of originatien, with all other pricing compoments
unchanged. This calculation reflects the amount that can be
attributed 1o the change in Rabobank'sown credit risk since the
originanon of these structured notes.

Debit Securities in ksue and Subsrdinated Liabilbes

Thie falr value of these instruments is calculated using quoted
prices on an active market. For debt securities for which no
quoted prices on an active market are available, a discounted
cash flow model s used based on credit adjusted yield curnves
appropriate fod the lerm to maturity,

Fabaosbank Anrual Report 2001 - Cornclidated Financlal Satements
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The following table shows the fair value of financial
Instruments, recogmized at amortized cost based on the
waluation methods and assurmptiens detalled below. This
1abie s included because not all financial instruments ane
recognized at fair value in the balance sheet. Fais value
represents the price that would have been either received

fioe the sale of an asset or pakd in order o ransfer a liability ina
standard transaction conducted between market participants
on the valuation date.

) b

Camng Carryping F
Aty in mdliarn of perms v Fore vk e ki
Asderi
Cawh wredl Caiby egibalents TELSRI 124,533 B Ay 1o aTa
Lnany g sdtvances tn
ol it ety 1065 23,083 mn.aax TLARE
Losans s aefvances:
o BATH L Rk ] 435,182 452017
LiginiiTies
Deponitt banm
oo M TLOOE rimm LIRS 108
Depotin fom ousiomen JrLaxe oM hLLE.r ] o k]
Dbl isurrian m e Lo S 1O LIS A 115050
Sibowrdinued babsinies DAER 11,295 13,486 1574

The above figures represent management's best estimates on
a range of methods and assumptions, If a quoted price on an
active maiketis available, this is the bestestimate of fair value.

if no quated prices an an active market are available for
fimed-teom securities, equity instruments, derivatives, and
commadity instruments, Rabobank bases the expected fair
value on the present value of the future cash flows, discounted
at market rates which commespond to the oredit ratings and
tenms to maturity of the investrrents. A model-based price can
alvo be used ta determine Fair valiie.

Rabobank follows a policy of having all models used for valuing
fimancial instruments in the statement of financial positon
valldated by expert staff who are independent of the staff who
detarming the falr values of the financial instruments.

In determining market values o lair values, various factors
have been considered, These Tacton include the time value of
maonay, velatility, underlying options, and credit quality of the
counterparty. The valuation process has been designed insuch
a way that market pesces that are available on a penodic basis
are systematically used. Modifications to assumptions migh
alffect the Fair value of financial assety and labilities hild for
trading and non-trading purpases,
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The table on the next page illustrates the fair value hlerarchy
used in determining the falr value of financial assets and
liabilitics. The breakdown is:

«  Level 1: Quoted prices on active markets lor identical
assets or Fabilities; an “active market” is a manket in
which transachions relating to the asset or liability ocour
In sufficient frequency and at a suffident volume to provide
price infosmation an a parmanent basis.

«  Level 2: Inputs ather than quoted prices included in level 1
that are observable for the asset o liability, either directly
(1. a5 prices) or indirectly (Le, derived from prices),

Habaobank Anmisl Aepart 2001 - Comsolidated Financlal Strtements

+  Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability not based on
observable market data.

Far recurrent valuations of financial instrwments an fair value,
Rabobank determines when transfers between the various

categaries of the fair-value hisrarchy occurred by reassessing
the leved at the end of each reporting perind,
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The potential effect before taxation, if more favorable
ipanomalble assumptioms are used for the valsation of the
financial instruments in devel 3 on the income statement, is
EUR 165million{2020:ELUA 118 milllon] and EUR 3 million [2020:
EUR 5 mallion) en other comprehensive incame. The potential

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

effect before 1axation, i more unfaverable reasonable
asiumplions steused for the valuation ol financial instruments
in level 3 on the income statement, is EUR <168 million (3020
EUR =119 miFionk and ELA -4 millspn (2020: EUR -2 millkon) on
other compretenive income.
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Financial assets at falr value categosized in Level 3 maknly
include the equity stake In Mechanics Bank and private equity
interests fora votal amount of EUR 1,662 million as pes
Decernber 31, 2021 A significant unobservable Input for the
valuation of the private equity interests ks the multiplier which
is applied ta the EHTRA. The average weighted multiplier is
.5, with.a bandwidth of «1 junfavarable) and +1 (favorablae) of
the multiplier,

The table shows moverments in thefinandlal instruments which
are stated at fair valuein the statement of financial position and
which ane categonzed in Level 3. The fak value adjustrments in
Level 3 which are included in equity are accounted for in the
revaluation reserves Tor financial assets at fair value through
comprihensive moome.

In 2021 there were no significant transfers between level 1 and
level 2.
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1 pEof o kit n 0T
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Drtiwstiers 1t 4 . . . Lo i LE]
Firuncil aisets at bur value h otrer
i ey 16 3 e " 41
Laislities
Delwatters. . H . Lol . 1]
Firancial kaitsl tees desgnated ol fae valus - - -
The amount of total gains or losses recognized in the income
statement relating to the assets and Naksilites in Level 3 is given
in the following table.
Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements 186

434/559

Oooooooa



EDINETOOOO
O00OO00O000000000000040d0(ee5923)
Oooooooa

Wlanagement Repon Coporate Goeeprmance Comolidsted Financial Statements Cowmipua vy Fangmarial Shalementy b Infoormution

BT 0
]
Hwendolthe  folad

Drirvamiedns

Ayt im mallom of s sttt

D Diecemibver 30, 2011
sty
Fruncial saset held for trading LE - i

Francisl suset mandaborly at
takr value 445 1r A
]

Deeriwaters

Fruncial st it L valur (hreugh
wocher compehenuve income - a

Liasviitie
Derwathers 44 ] n

il Kadslizies desgnated i
i value = N

O Decamber 31, 2030
Anseds
Frandial bt hidkd fo Faideg {1m 1 ({5 ]

Francud gasen mandssordy st
Wit vl

[Detiwat boes -] 5] a

Pl anseey f 6y v Pecug h
cther Congirheive inLome

33 [£E]

Lol liern
Deviwaniees LI L] I

Farwnoksl katsl ey detgnated a
Hair walue

Recognition of Day T Galns

Whsn wsing fair value accounting ot the inception of a financial
instrument, any positive difference between the transaction
price and thie fair value (known as “*day 1 gaina™ Is accounted
for in the statemeant of incame where the valuation mathod
is based on observable Inputs from active markets. in all
other cases, the entire day 1 gain Is deferred and afver initial
recogrition the deferred day 1 gain is recognized as a gain

o the extent it rewults from a change in a factor (including
tim effectsl. There are no deferred day | gaing as at Dacemiber
31, 2021,

4.10 Legal and Arbitration Proceedings

Rabobank is active in a legal and regulatory environment
that exposes it to a substantial rsk of litigatien, Rabobank

i imvodvied in begal casas, arbitrations, and regulatory
procecdings in the Netherlands and in other countries. The
mast relevant legal and regulatory claims which could give
nse 1o liability on the part of Rabobank are described below.
Provisions for legal claims are recognized for obligations
arising as a result of & past event where it s probable that

an outflow of esources will be requined to settle the obligation
and a reflable estimate can be made of the amount of the
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chiigation. When determining whether the probability that
claims lead to an outflow of resources is maore likely than not
e, with a likelihood of over 509%), Rababank takes several
factors into account. Thise factors inchede (but are not Amited
to} the type of claim and the undedying facts; the procedural
history of sach case: nulings from legal and arbitration bodies:
Fabobank’s expenence and that of third partes in similar
cases (Il known); previous {third-party] settlements in similar
cases (whene knownl; avallable (potentialh recowrse; and the
advice and opinions of legal advisors and other experts. Sirmilar
types of cases are grouped together and iome cases may
also cansist of a number of daims, When infermation about
estimated loss for individual cases is assessed by Rabobank
as being expected to seriously prejudice its position in a
dispute with ather parthes, this informaticn Is not disdased
separately. The estimated potential losses and provisions are
based on the information avallatde at the time and ane largely
sulbject to judgments and a number of different assumptions,
variabies and known and unknown uncertalnties, These
uncertainties may inclede the inaccuracy or incompletenass
of infermation avallable to Rabobank {especially In the eardy
stages of a case). In addition, assumptions made by Rabobank
abaut the future rulings of legal- of ather Instances of

U Bikely actbons or altitudes of supervisory bodies of the
partis opposing Rabobank may turn out 1o be incorrect.
Furthermore, estimates of potential losses relating 1o legal
disputes are often impossible to process using statistical or
ather quantitative analysisinstruments that are generally used
1o make judgments and estimates. The group of cases for
which Rabobank determings that the risk of future outflows
of funds is more likely than not to occur varies aver time,

as do the number of cases for which the bank can estimate
the potential loss. In practice, the end results could turn out
considerabdy higher o lower than the estimates ol potential
lIosses in those cases where an estimane was made. Rabobank
can alio suitain lodies fram legal risks whiene The accurmence
ol a loss may not be probable, but is not improbable either,
and far which no provisions have beon recognized, For those
cases where (a) the probability of an outflow of Tunds is not
prabable but also not remote or (b the probability of an
autflow of funds is more likely than not but the patential

loss cannot be estimated reliably, & contingent Babdlity is
disclosed, Rabobank may settle legal eates or regulatary
proceedings or investigations before any lne is imposed or
liability is determined, Reasons for settling could include (i)
the wish to avold costs and/or management effort (i) avoiding
other adverse business consequences andfor (il pre-ermptthe
requlatany or reputational consequences of continuing with
disputes relating to liabiflity, even i Rabobank befieves it has
good argumants inits defense. Furthermaore, Rababank may,
for the same reasons, compensate third parties for their losses,
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aven in situations where Rabobank does not believe that It is
legally reguired 1o do so.

Interest Rate Derivatives

Rababank is invalved in civil proceedings before the Dutch
[District Courts, the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court
relalimeg to interest rate derivatives entered into with Duich
business customers, Clakmants in these proceedings in general
claim 1o have been misinformed. fabobank takes the stance
that it has substantive and eanvinckng legal and factual
defenses against these claims, Rabobank intends to continue
to defend itsell against these claims. With respect 1a the
|re-lassessment of the interest rate derivatives of its Dutch SME
lbusiness customers and the advance payments made and due
an grounds of settlements having been concluded, Rabobank
recognized on December 31, 2021 & provision of EUR 3 million
(December 31, 2020k EUR 12 million),

Wariabhe Inferest Rates Conditiong

In the Nethedands, there |s 3 debate about applying commect
interest ate conditions fer certain products. Such products
are also included in the portfolio of Haboabank In different
eases the Duteh Finaneial Services Complaints Tribwnal (Kifid)
ruled that lenders of cerain consumer products should have
Tollowed the market rate while determining the variable
interest rate of these products. Based on these Kifid neings,
[Rabobank recognized that it did not consistently adjust the
imterest rate of cerlain consumer eredit products in accardance
with the reference rate selected by Kifid. Therefore, Rabobank
made a provision of ELFR 333 million to compensate part of its
clients with certain consumer credit products with a varable
interest rate.

There is uncertainty if other products with varable interest
rates will also be affected, Rababank considers the probabiling
of this evént not prabable but mare than remote. Rababank
cannal give a reliable estimate of the (potentially substantial)
total financial risk of this contingent liability.

Imtech

The Imtech Group was declared bankrupt in August 2015,
Rabobank was one of the banks that extended financing to this
group and participated in the rights offedngs of both July 2013
and October 2014, On Janwary 30, 2018, Rabobank meceived

a liability letter from a group of shareholders indicating that
legal proceedings may be started at a later stage with respect
1o a potential collective actyon based on alleged misstatements
in the prospectuses and for alleged fraudulent preference
{actio paulianal. By letter of March 38, 2008, the VEB (a Dutch
party aimed at promating the interests of shareholdars in
general) held parties including Rabobank llable for damage

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

allegedly suffered by the Imtech investors. On August 10, 2018,
Kabobank secelved formal notification from Imtech’s trustees
that they werne secking to nullify a large nurmber of ransactions
and claim various damages, The lemer aimed 1o intermupt
limitation periads in view of the possible claims. Te date, o
legal proceedings have been started and mo further {legal)
actians have been taken by any of the aforementicned parties,
Rabobank considers the imtech case to b a contingent Rakelity
because It is not possibde to assess the outcome of these
{possible] elaims at this mement. No provision has been made.

LibarEuribor

Rabobank has been involved for a number of years in
requiatory proceedings in relation to benchmark-related
issues, Rabobank has cooperated, and will cantinue to
cooperate ot apprapriate, with the regulators and authorities
involved inthese proceedings, On October 19, 701 3, Rabobank
entered into sottlormont agreemants with a number of these
autharities in mlation to their investigations into the histosical
Libor and Euribor submission processes of Rabobank. All
amounts payable under these settlement agreements were
Tully paid and accounted far by Rabobank im 2013, Rabobank
entered into one additional related settlement agresmant with
an authority on July 2, 2019, The amount payable under this
setthoment agreement was fully paid and accounted for by
Rabobankin 2019, Rabobank, along with a large number of
other panel banks and inter-dealer brokers, has been named
as & defendant in a number of putative elass action suits and
individual civil court cases braught befene the Federal Courts
in the United States, These proceadings relate to LS, Dollar
(USD) Likgr, British Pound Sterling (GEF) Libar, Japanese Yen
11P] Libaor, Tibor (note: Rabobank was never a member of the
Tibor panel) and Euribar. Rabobank and/for its subsidiaries also
recelved complalnts and wits of summans ordering Rabobank
to appeat befare vaious Duteh, Argentine, Unlted Kingdam,
Irish, and lsragli courts in divil proceedings [ll‘lthadll‘lg clads
actien swits) relating to interest rate benchmarks. Since the
civil proceedings sot out abowe are intrinsically subject to
uncertainties, it s diffioult topredict thelr outcome, Rabobank
takes the stance that It has substantive and convincing legal
and factual defenses against these claims. Rabobank intends
1o cantue 1o defend insell against these clasms. Rabobank
considers the Libor Eutibor geoup of cases to be a contingent
liability because the pratsabdlity of an outflow of funds is
naither probahle nor remate, Rabobank cannot give a reliable
estimate of the total outflow of this contingent Rab:lity. Ne
provision has been made,
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Anti-Money Loundiering, Cowmter Terrorism Financing
&Sanctions

Im the press release of November 15, 2021, Rabobank
announced that it had recelved a draft Instrudtion
(voargenamen aanwiizing] fram the Dutch Central Bank (DNE)
on October 12, 1021, Subsequently, Rabobank received

the instruction ([aanwiizing) on December 23, 2021, In this
Instructhon, DNB determines that Rabebank does not meet
the requirements of the Dutch Anti-Money Laundering

and Anti-Terrorist Financing Act [Wel fer voarkarming wan
wilwassen en financiering van ferrarisme, WadTl, DNB orders
Rababank to remedy deficiendies regarding its Dutch retail
division's compliance with the Wit by Decembaer 15,

2023 at the latest. These deficlencies mainly concem the
execulion, recording and sutsourcing of client due diligence,
transaction manitading and reporting of unusual transactions,
‘While Rabobank has made wubstantial investms nts and
improvemaents, the bank acknewlbodges that it has not yet
remedied the defickencies in order 1o adequately meet

the requirements of the Wwft, Rabobank will therefore
continue and Increase its efforts and investments In the
necessary expertise, technology and systems to build a
robust and future proal KYC anganization that adequately
mieels the requingmients of the Wwlt Ensuring this is an
ongaing process and has the bank's full attention. Rabobank's
KYC enhancement program is executed under the direct
respaonsibility of the Managing Board. In addition, a new
pasition within the Managing Board will be ereated with a
specific focus on KYC compliance.

In response 1o the severity of the instruction recelved from
DME. Fabobank has committed itsell to increase its efforts in
arder toremedy the deflcienc les within the timeline set by DNE
and will redesign its KYC enhancement program accordingly.
Additional effarts required by the bank 1o resalve backlag files
in client due diligence and ransaction monitoring are part af
this process, Acoondingly, a provision of EUR 245 million has
been included in Rabobank’s 202 1 financial statements for the
incremental cost involved to resedve these backlogs (under
ather provisions), Rabobank also announced an November 15,
2021, that DNE informed the bank that a separate punitive
enforcement procedure would commence, 1he outcome of
which Is not yet known. Although Rabobank considers it more
liletly than not That swch a grooedure will resull inan outliow of
funds. Rababank did nat recagnize a provision for this matter
because there ane 100 Many uncemainties (o make a reliable
astimate of the amount of the Nalbility,

Orthier Cases

Rabaobank is subject to othar legal proceedings for which
provesions have been recognized, These cases are individually

Habaobank Anrisal Report 2001 - Cornalidated Financial Seatemendts

less significant in size and are therefore not separately
disclosed. The Total provision for these cases amounts to
EUR 76 milllon ([December 31, 2020: EUR 73 million). The
maximum amount of non-remste measurable contingent
liabilities relating 1o elaims (s EUR 217 million [December 31,
2020 EUR 474 million),
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5.  5Segment Reporting

5.1  Business Segments

Thiz business segments Rabobank uses in its reporting are
dafined from a management viewpoint. This means that
the segments are revlewed as part of Rabobank's strateglc
management and are wsed to make business decisions with
different risks and returns,

Rabobank distinguishes five major business segmaents:
Domestic Retall Banking: Wholesale & Rural (WER); Leasing:
Property Development; and Other Segments.

+  Doarmestic Retail Banking mainly encompasses the sctivities
af the lacal Rabobanks, Dbwvion and Financial Solutians,

«  Wholesale and Rural (W&R] contains whalesale activities in
the Nethedands and focuses on the Food & Agri sectors
Internationally. This segment develops corposate banking
activities and alse controls globally eperating divisions
sech as Markets, Margers & Acquisition, Corporate Finance
Origination, Glabal Carparate Clients, Praject Finanee,
Tirade & Commodity Finance, Value Chain Finance, and Rakxo
Investments. The segmant alio contains International Rural
operations under the Rabobank label,

Darndirk Retail
Amuvirits m o of furod Burking
[Fuiv tha pear masded Dacombes 31, 2021
Mt Intedest inoomes 4510
Herl fler aned comymavEOn income: 1490
they revalta T
lIncams £,004
Stall osts Ly
Oahr mivminsinlive eiperies 1358
Depresiatocn and @me lstion 1%
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et panrrres vl g O inanal kst R
Bty oo Tt
Operating profic before tas 1.0TF
fncome tas 51
Het prafs 1424
{enliveame ritia nufing regulsory ki (| bk ]
Impairenetn charget on finandial st in b poistyof g
awermge private wetor inan portfolic)
Enserma aniety i
Gezaterdl a3
Prvaie wee i e ot ifoba FASY

1 Dperating expenies plus requlatony hevies divided by Ingome

+ In the Leasing segment, DLL |s responsible for leasing

activities and offess a wide range of leasing products. DLL
supparts manufac urers, vendors and distributors globally
In thekr sales with produds relevant o asset financing.

«  Property Development mainly encompasses the activities

of BPD, The cone activity bs the devwrlopmaent of
residential property.

+  Other Segments within Rabobank include various sub-
segments of which no single segment can be fisted
separately. This business segment mainly comprises
the Rnandial results of investments in associates (in
particular Achmea BV Treasury, and the Rabobank
Group Crganization,

There are no eustomers who represent more than a 10%
share in Rabobank's total revemues, Transactions between
thie vnious business segments am conducted under regular
commercial terms, Other than eperating activities, there is no
other material comprehensive income between the business
sagments. The financial reporting principles wsed for the
sagments are identical to those described inthe "Accounting
Paolicies” section. As management prmarily relies on net
IntEreat income Lo adseds the pedormance of the Legments
and 1o make decisions pboul resowrces 1o be allocated 1o the
segment, the segment’s interest income is presented naot of its

2 Impairment charges on Bnanclal assen disided by 12-maeth average prhvate seciee lean portislle
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interest expense.
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5.2 Geographic Information (Country-by-  econombcenvironment within specificgecgraphical locations/

Country Reporting) areas, The breakdown is based on the location of the
individual subsidiary/ branch from which the transactions
Rabobank cperates in seven main geographlcal areas, its are Iniviated. Revenue |s defined as tonal Ingome as
country of domicile is the Netherlands, The information below  presented in the statement of income plus interest expense,
is repaorted by distinguishable companants of Rabobank fee and commission expense and expenses from other
that provide products and/or services within a particular operating activities.
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abaolank did not receive government subsidies in 2021,
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5.3 Geographic Information
of Non-current Assets

Armurrh i mélom of Feron o o
Dl mﬂ::h e 49::-'#
il il ot il angilabe it o [ 1] [ B4
Properry snd eoepment snd
nvertmenl progertion LA%E B3 4TS A0
Dmher miseni e Tada 5330 LT
Mon-tuimen asets held for ke a5 | &0 12
s

Tatal Tz 5575 a.o0

6. (Cash and Cash Equivalents

At fri milliom of paros For 2000
Caih 456 534
Dwepoiits at cenbeal baris [Pt [ rl]
Tatal cash and cash pgutealents 120,520 LT e

The average minimum reserve to be held for the Netherlands
far the manth of Decernber 2021 was EUH 3,572 million
|December 2020- EUR 3,295 milliank

7.  Loans and Advances
to Credit Institutions

Ariursdt m midkiani of parcs 20 k]
Cardrrill icéomanki and recersabhn ] 5307
Feveise ieprarchise TAMSCTE sl 36CuiTies

. HE 590 15803
b sy
Lewaiig 536 EA
Enher ] L3
Geoss caaryeg amount lnsns and sdvances
il 5 20468 27344
Lo impairmery: alloveance on loans and @) i3
AhROEs D0 CToo it
Total beans aesl advarses v 11066 N

eredit instinstions

8. Financial Assets Held for

Trading
-i.mﬁmmi.ml-:u'm e M0
Gommmment bandc LY L
Othr bt ecuniin M2 Ak
Lowns T a8
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9. Financial Assets Mandatorily
at Fair Value

dmagunry. in mudlom of peroy Fol nx
Dbt it uitithi ¥ i
Loany L] [+
Erpiny neinasens LEh BhT
Total 1507 LaTs

10. Derivatives

Rabobank uses derivatives to mitigate at least a portion of the
risks arksing from the bank's varlous operations. For example,
inrerest rate swaps are wied to hedge interest rate risks arising
fram the difference in maturities between pusets and labdities,
Ancther example is cross-curmency swaps, which are used to
hedge the curnency risk to which the bank bs exposed after
issuing debt instruments in foreign currencies. in addition to
hedging purpases, Rabobank also contracts derivatives with
corporate customars whene we act as the counterpary.,

10,1 Types of Derivatives Used by
Rabobank

Forward currency and interest rate contracts are contractual
abligations (o receive ar pay a net amount based an prevalling
exchange or interest rates, of 1 purchase or sell foreign
currency ar a financial instrument on a future date at a

fied specified price inan organized financial market. The
credit risk is bow, since collateral for forward contracts is
proviced in the form of cash, cash equivalents or marketable
securities, and changes in the value of forward contracts

are settbed daily, mainly wia a central counterparty o saring
house. Rabobank's credit risk expoiure is represented by the
patential cost of replacing the swaps if the counterpartios
default, The risk is menitored continuously against current
falr walue, a portion of the notional amount of the contracts
and the Ngukdity in the markets. As part of the credit risk
management process, labobank empleys the same methads
for evaluating counterparties as it does lor evaluaging its awn
lending activities,

Forward rate agreaments are individually agreed forward
inkerest rate contracts under which the difference between
a contractually agreed interest mte and the market rate on
a future date has to be settbed in cash, based on a national
principal amount.
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Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments to
exchange one set of cash flows for anather. Swaps entall an
economic exchange of currencles ar imterest rabes (such asa
ficed rare for one or moe variable rates), or a combination il.e,
across-currency interest rate swap), Except incerain currency
swaps., no transfier of the principal amount takes place.

Currency and interest rate options are contracts under which
the saller (known as the writer) glves the buyer (known as

the halder) the right, entailing no obligation, te purchase in
the caze of a call option) or sell in the case of a pul option]

a specific amount of foreign currency or a specific financial
instrument an or before an agreed date or during an agreed
period at a price set in advance. As conslderation for accepting
the currency of interest rate risk, the writer recelves a payment
{known as a premium} Trom the holder. Options are traded on
exchanges of between Rabobank and clients (DTC], Rabobank
is only exposed to credit risks a5 an option helder and only up
1o the carrying amaunt, which is equivalent to the fair valee.

Credit default swaps (CD5%s) are instruments with which the
selher of 3 OS5 undertakes 1o pay an amount to the buyer. This
amount s equal te the lass that would be incurred by holding
an underlying reference asset il a specific credit event were to
occur {i.e. the materalization of a risk]. The buyeor & undar no
obligation to hokd the undedying reference asset. The buyer
pays the seller a credit protection fee usually expressed in basis
paints, with the size of the fee depending on the credit spread
and 1enorof 1he reference asset,

10.2 Derivatives Held for Trading

The derlvatives held or isswed for trading are those used

to hedge economic risks but which do not qualify as

hedge sccounting Instruments and dedvatives that corparate
customers have contracted with Rabobank ta hedge intereit
rate and currency rfsks, The expasures fiom dervatives

into offsetting positions with one or more professtanal
counterparties, within set trading lhmits.

10.3 Derivatives Designated as Hedging
Instrument

Fabobank has various dervatives that serve to hedge
economic risks, Including interest rate and currency risks,
which gualify as a hedging instrurment in a falr valee hedge, a
cash flaw hedge or a net inve itment hedge.

Fair value hedges

Rabobank uses interest rate swaps and cross-currency Interost
rate swaps to hedge potential changes n the falr value due to
interest rate or foregn currency rate changes. Thesa changes
ordinarily constitute the majority of the overall change of

thie hedged items, Hedged tems are Niged-income financial
assats and liabilities in both local and foreign currencies,
such as mortgages, debt securities at fair value through

other comprehansive income, issued debt securities and
deposits with agreed maturity. Aabobank tests the hedge
effectiveness based on statistical regression analysis models,
bath praspectively and retrocpectively Tor IAS 19 pertfalio fair
virlue hediges and analyies the sounces of InefTectiveness for
IFRS 8 non-partfolio fair value hodges, The identified source
of ineffectiveness of the IFRS 9 fair value hedges s the float
leg fexcluding marginj of the cross currency interest rate swap.
The hedged ratia af the IFRS 9 fair value hedges is the actual
economic hedge (national issuwed bond and notional oross
currency interest rate swapl.

For Rababank's main currencies the average fixed rate for
interestrate swaps used Infair value hedge accounting 15 0,38%
{2020 0,56%) for EUR and 3,02% (2020: 3,09%]) for USD,

The hllu-whg tabsle shaws the notional amoeunt of dedvatiies
designated in fair value hedging, split into the maturity of

with corporate customoers are normally hedged by entering the instrumaenis,
Muturity Profile of Hedging instruments in Foir Vinlue Hedges
At i mliond of furas L R LITH

Fnllir L fiam | prar I-3pemn  longer than 5 peen
D Decembar 31, 7031
ihedging sl et i L lun hrdge 121,832 FIRE man LB
O Decembrer 31, 2020

Hasrbing inanirmeses in Tl wal i hedges
The Todlawing table shows thie Carmying amounts of detivatives

designated in fair value hedging and the change in fair value
wied for calculating hedge ineffectiveness, These carrying

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements
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armounts do net recondle 1o the amounts presented in section
10.4 a3 ne netting rules are applied.

187

445/559



EDINETOOOO
O00OO00O000000000000040d0(ee5923)
Oooooooa

Wlanagement Repon Coaporate Gavereance ‘-Hﬂmndim Coprrpurvy Fimasarial &

Daesigrmated Hedgping Insdruments in Fair Yaiue Hedges of interest Rafe fisk

Compingamnnt Campingamouse Changs is fin ke
hemmiurett i e of ruros o uind for cnkiuleting
fnawial e fnancal dotibtien heige iefectivmee

G Decamber 17, 3031
iHodge of ani and acharcrs ta custamen 1. hhd [ 156l
Hedge of Brancial riects ol [ value thousgh other oemgeclseinl v inoure 158 (21 m
Hasdge of depasns from oustomeny, FA] a4 [iTEA]
Hedge of ssued debt serartes 1870 k1o {14003

O December 11, 2030
Hapge of ioans and aivances. 5o Curnmen " Lng (Lo n)
trddge of Brarcial muact s at far waloe B cét cangen b v incae ] ELY umn
Hasdge of depoding from Cuilomen 168 1 n
E i T a8F LB

Hiedge of Asued debe seoartes

Hedge ineffectivaness of fali value hedging amounts to
EUR 117 million and i included in the statement af income on

line ivem *Gains/ (Losses) on Financial Assets and Liabilities at
Fair Value thraugh Profit or Loss™.

Designated Hedged ftems in Farkr Value Hedges of Inferest Rafe Risk

4 Accurmeired
fipeisd ameont of ik e
2 it Ik s

Ayt in milio of peves Compng smoni Mdg!ﬂ;mﬂ:rm ﬂ*h;mmm mﬂT

sz i cfrsted forhecigng
i s knises

On December 11, 2031

Loany s sfvanor Yo cuslomen L] RE. ean 48T

Franacial assets ot Loy vidue throug hsther comgsehesrive ncosmes Beig ! am

Duprestits e L LML BsOE nu {108 i

sucd debit seuaities 278 PR (1A 1598

O December 11, 2018

Losan aned achvanoes. 1o customens 45190 1419 (] (81T

Franodal aisrti it lsr vafun (Frosgh otfer comgrehmmibv inooms L = ] ]

et e £ LnLamers LA ] (1]

Mauad debt weries o5 2 L L

Cash Flow Hedges cash flow hedges. The IFRS 9 cash flow hedges are 100M%

Rabobank"s cash flow hedges mainly consist of hadges of the
margin of issued bonds in foreign curmendy hedged with cross-
CUrrency interest rate swaps 10 proect against a potential
change i cash flows due to change In forelgn ourrency rates.
Rababank analyzes the sources of ineffectiveness for IFRS 9

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

effective. The imterest rate risk is not hedged in the cash
o hid ge (two fivad hags, foredgn cumency and Eure) and
thie average interest race is therelore not disclosad in the
tabibe below.
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Muoturity Profile ondd Average Price’ e of Hedging fnstrumernts In Cosh Flow Hedges
st i e of parm Ferngrmng ettty
Foal
e thiws ! jar PoSgmmn Loager than & pean

O Diecembeer 31, 3011
Canaa-currency yeaps (LSEEUE)
L i # ihevkging b " . 1
Awerage exchange rase (USDELIR) nly il 141
Lrass-tarrancy vwapy IGIHSELIE]
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Everage eschange fae (GRPELIR ors LiE- 085
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i of heddging ] 7 21 L]
O Decembaer 3, 2030
Cmas-curmmncy venapy iLiSkEUR)
Hastiganal snouritn of hedging initurment M 12 14
Awrrage exnchange e [USDELIR) o] 118 147
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of hedging L] » o
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Cross-carmency yesps [other oamencie]
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The Tollowing table shova the carmying amounts of derivatives
designated In cash Alow hedging and the changs in fair value
used for calculating hedpe ineffectivenass. These carrying

amounts do net recondile 1o the amounts presented in section
10.4 as no natting rules are applied,

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate and Foreign Currency Risk, Designated Hedping instriiments

Corrpingemoent Camping amsunl Change is Bnirvalue
Ay i milon of seros v Tl derivaii  waed for rakubavng
Briksci ! dal i) Ainanizal Fallted hitdgd et
O Decembaer 35, 2021
Crov-curreeay intenet raie vaaps WSO i H F
Cron ey intonol rate rmap GERELE 1% in
Crin currTrep mirret tate smaps Lot s ) 4 i ]
Taeal 1 1 5
O Diecarmber 31, 301
Cerr-rwrmeray infened re yeaps (AOHEUE) ' ¥
Crov-oureecy inteest e veaps IGERTLE L n S|
Crove-currrdy intmmt rde veepa (obher cumencies] H 1 3

Far the changes in the value ol the hedging instrumsent
mcognized in other comprehensive income and the amount
reclassified from the cash flow bedge reserve to profit or
loss, reference s made 1o Section 30 “Reserves and Retained

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

Earnings™. Hedge ineffectiveness amawnts to niland is incheded
in tha statement of income an line item "Gains/ {losses) on
financial assets and liabllities at fair value through profit

or loss”,
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Femutirang sash
B eclae srnprve
Changs jn ke okie Canh flow heriige e hesigeng
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Net Investment Hedges

Rabobank uses forward currency cantracts to hedge a
portion of the currency transdation risk of net investmeants
in foreign operations,

Muturity Profile and Average Bote of Hedging Indtuments in Nel invesiment Hedges

Amadnedy in midom of pares
Formard cumrency coniaiti
[ [

Farwarl cesrency contench

Fota ristintus i

Rerrsnidey mastny oo Decerniber 11, 2300

Leas has 7 poar I-Spears  Longerdhan 5 pears
4,15 FRELY a
Totai nedenal descuws! Rirritindmy mishardfy o Dvcamnber 31, 2000

1518 amns -

Far the main currencies the average exchangs rates used
in net Investment hedge accounting for 2021 are EURFALD

1.58 [2020: 1.63), EUR/NID 1.67 (2020:1.74) and EUR/EAL 6.37
{2020 5,45].

Ammancy n man of mems

O December 35, 2021
Fatwae curency coniracty

O Cecember 15, 2030
Fosrweser] curwncy coniracky

CmAng amaant LA st M:fnri n i vl
fnonoal gl Bnaec) Astbte hrs :'k" ’.

] nn

] L1 i

For the changes in the value of the hedging instrument
mecagnized in other comprehensive income and the amount
reclassified from the net investment hedge reserve to profit
o loss, see Sectlon 30 *Reserves and Retalned Eamings®.

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

Hedge ineffectiveness amounts to zero and is included in the
statement of incoma in line item “Gains/ (Losses) on Financial
Assets and Liabilitles at Fair Value through Profit or Loss™.
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104 Motional Amount and Fair Value
of Derivatives
The fallawing table shows the notional amounts and the
fair values of derivatives as presented in the staterment of
financial position”,
Notional Arount aind Fai Values of Derivalives
O Deamber 11, 2021 O Devember 30, 2000
ety o ke of purts B sl AU Faar values Morthoerusl pmaainis Fabr walues
Apets Liskstries Lishw'gin
Dethathors B kot Brading Soad013 FIRET [LETT] 4812400 LM Tas
Dastaithans dailgninsd 1 125 101 1888 ™ 134048 Lot 1461
Tatal derivativen 5,189,211 ar o 4,737,154 zne0 20403
Derve os hedd e dranding
Talireney a1 ey
Camenoy vwapn Arm AR S48 L ST LR LRy ]
Cumrency cption - puechasrd
puisasid| BRAD wm i anr i s
Lnsed tradesble contracti Fdon 1L £ LN & &
Lurmrrcy htumm 133 1 [ i H 18
Total qurency derivatiess B8, 547 4016 it 07,034 FT ] 841
iateswid rate devivaliven
T inderest rabe vwaps PR TR [EVFF] ursl LT T 15784 14227
O interest rabe cptons Htsa 1,500 1068 AT 21481 1437
Lnted intrres rate vesps T2kl M i i 179,64 ] [
Tatal imerest r st denvatrer 4504343 15,478 11,481 4,180,011 (e et
Crwmiit e byari e 31 141 il 1,010 F ] 10
Exqjuity instramess’
ey dbraak e 4 48 ] ] [
Cother derreitiven 17043 680 m 0347 1 EiH
Tutal dherivetives held lor vading 504,012 A 1RITE A6 L0 7704 $TT 1]
Dy des'gnated as feciping irstrmament
B declg by
Ailiurrenl e lad value bedges
Inberesd rate Naaoe and o
peiahipe e 121,812 1,833 m 121905 1937 1AD4
NIRRT i Rl Neves hldg;t i
ey TWATE 2N DTS- ey
= fmmintoin 141 LE] 1 178 \
denigraped a5 bedging inrumen as ret inveimen hedges
Cameray Mo Conirs Ty 138 n 20l 1]
Total dertvagives degrnied g
hadak i 135,301 1,855 194 TI4TH 1538 1481

1 Asof 2021, thelAS 32 offserting i also applied 10 the dclosure of derlvatives designated as hedging insrumenis. Comparative figures have

been sdjusted sccordingly,
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10.5 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Im pecor years the reliability and robusimsess of the IBORS

- the key interbank benchmark Interest rate- have been
questioned. due to cases of attempted manipulation and the
dedline of liquidity in interbank unsecured funding markets.
In 2014 the Financial Stability Board issued a report with its
meoemmendations on interest rate benchmarks that tripgered
the benchmark reform.

On March 5§, 2021, the Financial Conduct Authority [FOA
annaunced the permanent cessation of all the settings for
EUR, GBF, CHF and JPY LIBOR and the 1 woek and 2 manths
tenors for the WSD Libor after the end of 2021. The cessation
af the remaining doflar settings will be canducted after the
end of June 2023, The IBORS are being replaced by risk free
rated (RERs), which are mane liguid and anchaned i aciive
market ratos,

Rabobank set up a program to lead the bank through the
transitbon from the current benchmark rates to the reformed
benchmarks, The program provides a robust governance
strueture which averiesd detign and execution of the
transition in the Businesses with monthly updates 1o the
disign board, The design board is the contral authority with
the mandate to ratify policies and design choices proposed
lby its members. During this year the program has focussed
on the repapering of the IBOR kegacy contracts especially foe
thie GBP. JPY, CHF currencies, and EONIA, which have ceased
on January 1 and 3, 2022, Rabobank is progressing as planned
to finalize the IT operational readiness for the outstanding
new RFR products. The fellowing table contains details of the
financial instruments that Rabobank held on December 31,
2021 and that have not yet ransitioned to thelr alternative
imterest rate benchmarks (e 3-month, 6-month, and 1-year
S0 LIBOA].
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Hedge Accounting Directly Affected by Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform

IFRS isswed two amend ments that prevent undesiced (hedge)
accounting effects of the interest benchmark rate reform (see
also Section 2.1 Basls of Preparation], The phase 1 amendmaent
prevents that hedge relationships are terminated because

al uncertainties during the period befors benchmaik relerm
takes place. Without the Phase 1 amendment, the existence of
such uncartainties could imply that certain hedge relationships
may notmeet all the relevant requirements of 1AS 39 or IFRS 9,

The phase 2 amendment alkows changes to hedge
docurmentation. As a result of these changes there is

no requirement that affected hedge relatiomibips ane de-
designated at the time of the repapering of a bedged item
or hedging instrumant, and there are no mesulting hedge
accgunting gains or bosses.

Phase T amendmaents

The Phase 1 amendments address the uncertainty in tha
penod before the actual interest rate benchmark refarm
takes place, The hedge accounting relationships are affected
Ly intevest rate benchmark reform only i7 the reform glves
risa to unoertainties about: (3] the interest rate benchmark.
(oontractually or non-contractually specified) designated as a
nedged risk: and/ar (b} the timing or the amount of interest
rate benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged itlem or of
thi hedging imitrument. Rabobank i of the opinion that the
uncertainty only arisas when thene is a liquidity switch paint
and/or when there |5 a trigger cessation event. On March §,

203
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2021, the FCA announced the cessation of Libor, As of this date,
the Phase 1 amendments are necessary to continue hedgs
relationships that Rababank ha: designated. in accordance
with the Phase 1 amendment, fram March 5, 2021 onwards,
Rabobank asssmes that the interest rate benchmark ks not
altered as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform and
that the interest benchmark dessgnated as hedged risk was
separately identifiable at inception. Any uncertainty arlsing
from the reform should end when the financial instrumeants
exposed 1o IBORL are repapered.

The table below indicates the nominal amawnts and maturities
of the derivatives and the hedged risks in hedge accounting
relationships that are affected by the IBOR reform bt have not
transitaned yet to altemative benchmark rates (Le. 3-manth,
G-month, and 1-year USD LIBOR), We note that only IBORs
that are inclueded in the cestation announcemant ane included,
The Interest rate swaps designated in the hedge accounting
relationships provide a chose approximation of the extent of
the designated hedged risk (floating leg LIBOR of the swap)
impacted by the refem, The USD cross currency interest rate
swaps designated in hedge relationships are not affected by
the IBOR reledm a8 these are fed (omeign eurency te llaating
Euribor swaps, However, the hedged risk (LIBOR of redpective
fiod leg currency of the swap) in these hedge accounting
melationships is affected by the IBOR reform,

Denivatives ang Hedged Risks in Hedige Accounting Refationships
affected by the IB0R Reform
At m rmilice of sumsi Nomina! arngeni per srustly Bushel
Lews pog  Longer

than | then§  Tatal
o PO} s

O Dewermibaer 31, 2020

ABAER AT Fale wmidgnl

S0 Libor 1 mantha - 57 - 1
S0 Litwor 3 manihs LT - T 0T ]
Ul Libew i redirtha . - 177 W7
Tatal 35 N ETR Aae
Phase } amendments

Phase 2 amendments apply when hedge relatiorships and
hedge documentation are modified, mainky a1 the moment
af the repapering of hedging Instruments (Rabobank has
nat designated cazh low hedges where it hedges the
variability of interest cash flow of hedged items subject to
the benchmark refarm).

All derivatives relerencing to Eonla or Libor rates that have
coased al the end of 20217 fi.e. EUR, GBP, CHF and JPY
LIBOR and the 1 weak and 2 months tenors for the USD
Likrga] have been migrated or repapered to thelr successor

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

rates, When such derivatives were designated in a hedge
relationship, Rabobank has modified the hedge relationship
and hedge decurnentation vo reflloct the new benchmark rates
in accordance with the Phase 2 amendments, This means that
fas fale value hedges with abenchmarkrate that has ceased, the
hadged risk fransitioned to an altemative beachmark rate,

All the new hedged risks are interest rates that are separately
identiflable. In accordance with the Phase 2 amendment. this
hedge accaunting trandition event did nat sesult in gains

or losses,

11. Loans and Advances to

Customers

dmauncsin mdon of rame o o
Loy b vt wrcto elienia:

Drwercain (312 11603
Mongeges 1EzAaT 1E017
Farance bease mas 19507
Carpestats kuana!' 1T 17120
Dther AT F) FIRT
Ltz lin girewinnimeivl Lyl

W ane Wegseg 153 FF)
Cother 1853 LB}
wm"h"u“.:h‘.‘m""" 19,004 [FATYS

Grouy carryimg smount lose and advsnces

1o CuptomEre

Hecge accounilag sdiurtment
pairer aliwiesd on loand and shenced

o customeny

Total bsans sed advance by cuvtomars

478,560 LERECS ]

rana L]

R ] i, D6

436471 436,183

1 Asof 2021, lear 10 sale preprictonhips are cassified a1 private
individisals. The comparatve iigunes have been sdpisted sccordingly.

Finance Leases

Loans and advances to customers includes roceivablos from
fimance leaves, which can be broken down as Tollows:
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Ay i o of Fures 03! 20
B heablaa o -y

Trante leases

Mot encesling I year a5 BIEr
140 3 peary §.181 o0
Fin A ywary LAl (15
310 4 prasi ml 184
A10 5 yran L 554
Itanai than 5 years L5AT ana
Groas sswwsiment infinsmce leaary Fi 211313

Uneamed deferred finance income: fiom

' 1385 LA9S
Heet bveestmeni b Meanoe leases L1 JET5 1]
Loan impairmers: allreance finsnce e s ai
Gangs carying amaund feuands lesses 20,704 0079
Firance ingome on nat imismant ma b

The finance leases mainly relate to the lease of equipment,
cars and factoring products. The unguaranteed residual values
acaruing to the lessor amounted to EUR 2,288 millken (2020
EUR 2,072 miBion), The contingent lease payments recogmized
ai Intame in 2021 were Fera (2020: 2étal.

12. Financial Assets at Fair Value
through Other Comprehensive

Income
et im misdiom of reros ST 000
Goveinment bondi WEAE TS
Onher debt deduiitied 357 5008
Liosary 53 TE
[Exquity instraments L& ] ar
ertad Foamcial P R W em—— P ;

Rabobank dosignated equity investments in forelgn financial
service providers at falr value through other comprehensive
incame upon initlal recognition because these instruments
are held far strategie purpases rather than for the purpose of
selkng them inm the near term.

-i.mﬁmmi.ml-:u'm AT M
Erquity inve i forwign fimancial

smre proeden L L
Equity mvesimenti held by seaidiane L] 18
Dther popaity ineritmenty M -
Total aguity inatmrranti 1M 37
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Dhuring 2021, Rabobank recognized dividends of EUR 10 million
of which EUR @ million relates to aguity investments that
were derecognized in 2021. Transfers of the cumulative gains
of losses within equity during the period are disclosed in
Section 30 in the maverment schedule of the "Revaluation
Reserve = Equity Instruments at Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive income”,

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures

13:

drmaeants i Moo of fures 8N L

Dpenirg balance PRI 1308
Fawrign rechange tiferentey an (L15]
Puahai 5¥ £

Sabes (& (£44]
Share of prof of ssscsciaies and jont vemurey BLT] (1.1
Divicderch puid oul [shd cagtal paymenul (1] 4%
Brvahstion ({11] [4L]
[pe— ' in
m-r secumulaied ngaement due o bayvback o

Oher k. 1

Totalimvesmants n saaciets s it um 2w

As a result of the buyback of shames by Achmea, Rabobank
recognised a gain of EUR 18 million (2030: zero] disdlosed
in '‘Other’,

13.1  Investments in Associates

The main associate in terms of the size of the capital interest
held by Rabobank is Achmea.

G Dol J1, J24T
Thee Matherlands
Achmen By ith L

Shovhobding  Volmg rghis

Achmea Is Rabobank's stralegic partner for insurance prodects
and interpolis. a subsidiary of tha Achmea Group, works closely
with Rabobank. Achmea's head office is located in Zeist, the
Netherfands, Mo listed market price is available for the interest
in Achmea, The interest in Achmea i valued according to the
wquity method, Rabobank received dividend frem Achmea of
ELIR 45 million {2000 ELIR 45 million).

A combanation of market related indications gave rise to

a review of the recaverable amount for which a valuation
agsessment was conducted per December 31, 2021 and
comgpared 1o the current carrying amownt, The value in use
assessment ylelds a value that approxsmates the carrylng
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value which means Rabobank did not recognise a (reversal of)
impalrment in 2021,

Achmea
Aty in mbdice of garon o Fuar
Cash srud halances o8 comral Banka 6% LM
ERImELL TA 15} SLAIS
Othies wiseny 805 G83]
Total sassatn A5, 508 LSS
s relaned ERoHoe 57,175 58,400
Rsans wcd fundy brs o men) LA
Cther listalities na1s LR
Tatal lisbslitam. TEET LR L
Ry IR LSS
Ml st A5 [T
b Compeetenive Income PL] [E1]
T aaliei s bl BT
Reconcilistion Carrying Amaunt of Inferest in Achmea

] 2020
Todal eguity Adherea 13431 1058
binu byl icd ranital 0% Lo
i preforence shanes snd accrurd) deddend 18 L]
Sharehudder's syurty 2,083 A
Share of Rabobank LI 0N

2811 187
Accumulated imparment .81 [F LF]
Car yirg amount 1,553 1448

The accumulated impairment amaount has increased by the
same percentage as the increase of the stake of Fabobank due

to the buyback of shares by Achmea,
Rewf from Oiher Associotes
At m millin of pavos Jo L]
Bt from contnuing apmnrlicn L3 1w
Ween profin 181 L7
by Compestanpye income '
13.2  Investments in Joint Ventures

Almost all joink venlunes am investments of BPD. Thair 1o1al
camying amount is EUR 105 million (2030: EUR &8 million]. Joint
ventures are recognized in accordance with the equity mathoed.

BPD aften enters into partnerships for developing integrated

resichential areas. In the majosity of cased, vach panicipating
mambar of the partnarship has a decisive vote, and decisions

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

can only be passed by consensus, The majority of thess
partnerships therefore qualify as “joint arrangements.”

Each partnership has its own legal structure depending on
the needs and requirements of the parties concerned. The
legal form (business struciure) typically used is the Dutch
“CW-BYT structure (alimited partnership-private limited Rability
companyl or the VOF® structure [generl partnership) ora
comparable structure, in the case of a CV-BV, the risk of a
partier b gensrally limited to the liosed capital and partner
are anly entitled to the net assets of the entity, In the case

of general partnerships ("WOF)L, each party bears, m principle,
unlimited lability and has, in principle, a proportional right

to the assets and obligations for the llabilities of the entlty.
On the basks of the legal farm, a CV-BY structure qualifies as

& “joint wenture”, whereas a VOF strocture qualifies a5 a Joint
opiration”, Particular the contractual terma and ather relevant
facts and circumstances miay result in a different classification,

As a separate legal structure Is established for each project,
projects have different participating partners and individuwal
projects are not of 3 substantial size, BPD did not have material
joint arrangements in 2021 and 2020,

Residlt fram Joint Ventunes

Aty i muilans of Foros 01 205
Profit or kows from continumg opseraticns a7 bl
Fos-tan proft or e Fram. Aoy

Wt profit & 31
Cher compreREntive InCome

Contingent Linbilitles to Joint Ventures

BPD entered into commitments on December 35, 2021 with
regard 1o real estate projects, commitments with third parties
{including subcontractars and architects) faf an amaunt

of EUR 3 million {2020: EUR 4 millian]. The commitments
regarding building sites amount te EUR 70 million (3030:

EUR 74 millian).
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Year crded Decembe
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Foseign eschange difteences 1 1 ¥
i L] 0 o
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b a 3 L] m
Amaization ' 8 L
x . {31l - L1
Cloting kalance m na a bt
Cont m 1479 e Lo
nn.:mhdmmnm (AR [235) s
Kt carrying smasund L m - o
Year ended Deoembe
a0
Oipsaning balance E T m Ll it
Forsign exchange difeences : bl i )
> K 142 B LF. ]
o 3 134 1) i
e . 1 an 1
it ; I8 [EL1) i
l-np..n—'n'h [y gl Lo
Cloning balancs 122 =1 - ™
P EPY) 1418 a4 A0
-i::ltltmnhodwiﬂ" [L.O8T) [EE LK T
et carrying imest L Er ] s il T

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment by comparing the
carrying amauwnt af the cash generating unit (including
goodwilll with the best estimate of the valud in use of the cash
genarating wnit. For this purpose, the best estimate of the value
in use determined on the asis of cash Mow Torecasts as taken
framannual medium-term plans drawn up as part of the annual
planning oycle 15 used first. The plans reflect management’s
et estimates of market conditions, market restrictions,
dizcount rates qbqf-nm taxation], growth in operations, e1c.
IMthe sutcome shows that theme B no material difference
batween the fair value and the carrying amount. the fair value
is assessed in mode detall, using the relevant share price for
listed companies. In addition, Rabobank uses valuation models
that are similar 1o those applied in the initial recognition af
an acquisilion, peet reviews, ete, The valuation models are
tested and include the development of the activities since the
acquisition, the most recent income and expenses forecasts
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drawn up by management, as well as updated forecasts,
assessments of discount rates, final values of growth rates, etc.
Peer reviews indude an assessment of the price/earnings ratio
and price/carrying amount ratio of similar listed companies,
o similar market transactions, Assumptions are genorally
based on experience, management’s best estimates of future
developments and, if available, external data,

The remaining goodwill is allocated to one of the cash-
generating unitd in the Demestic Rotail Banking segment. The
carrying amaunt of this goodwill is EUR 322 million {2020
EUR 122 million} and the cash-generating unit is the collective
of lecal Rabobanks. The recoverable amount ks basod on the
wvalue in use. The value in use is determined using cash flows
expected in the near future based on financial forecasts. As
the recoverable amount substantinlly exceeded the carrying
amount, Rababank concluded that the goadwill Miocated

e this cash-gonerating unit was not impaired, Rabobank
considers a 10% increase inthe discount rate or a 10%
reduction in the future cash flows to be the maximum of
possible changes in key assumptions. Such changes do not
cause the carrying amaunt to exceed the recoverable amount
and would ret result in an impalrment.

Impairments of software dovelopod in-house and other
intangible assets are not individually material. The

total impalments of software deveboped in-house was
EUR &1 millian {2020: EUR 10 million),

200
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15. Property and Equipment Tangibie fved ussets
Amoursinmiomolpre LI Ly emtngTengilie

il fedar iaet Bawd ety
Wmar prefed Deemmbe
Property and equipment 11, 3011
Aoty in mibiom of paros e 20 Dpenrghalance L] E] Tadd EREH
Lardiand buikdings e s Furcign entlhanye difoenmee 3 3 154 b2
EuErren it P Fuachaues " an 1,1 LT
Operating Miie it 3,007 1934 [ET SR i (1] Won
Tangihle fiued seeqs 4,073 g Tasralery from " > . 18
Fight-olcua stisis wh dli TR
T -l T 43 Frarabers to asurts el for sk =4 RL1] nty
il ety L] n s
Fovrrual imasimmers, 1 . £ 1]
Depwiation () e {15m
Deprecaton of operating §
lease m3i Ll k]
her 1011 5 if i
Clouing balance v par
o ripinbers Lehd e »007 aor
o I} T3 LE v T.548
Acoumuyied depreciation
Py [4F-k0 55T} RE-111] [EE N )
Mot garTying amast as pes
o b 11 LEL] Faly LE 407y
Wmar preded Mecamber
;2030
Cenit raat W 4.8 LY
Actumnalaed depreciation
and iy [{FCE] 1= 1] i1.5%] {5281
Mt canrying smosst an
1 1308 s 1,114 LEL
Opering halance 1204 ] Lité FE
Feewiggn mxchange drifyrences Wy in ez 1188
Purchasei 5 48 14mM (R 1T}
Disgcrials i i) 1353 L]
Trareiers from fnancial iease - (5 LT
Tranafers bo beeld for wale: L]} - (] a4
rqmrrnly HEE] - - [EER]
Depreiation [L3s] ind) nry
(Deprecation of operating
Uy mam ran
rther (e 1] L} i ]
Closing balance s par
- ber 31 8 a0 L904 a1
Gt 2332 ] 4583 7813
Acremedsaed depreclation
vk rripinl namh (B n&sE  ean
HET CANTYI NG MTURT 4% paT
o e 11 A 260 004 131
Thee impairments and reversal impairments recognized per
December 31, 2021 relate to property Tor own use in the
Domastic Retail Banking segment. Vacancy of property as
a result of the restructuring (decreasing use of square
Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements 28
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meters) tiggened impairments caloulations and resulted in
impalrments for a total amount of EUR 8 million (20201

EUR 122 millian), In 2021 for EUR 23 millken impalrments were
reversed (2020; EUR D million).

Levarbe Lonilrails &4 a beises

Rabohank has several lease contracts as a lesses,
predominantly related to property used as office and to cars for
employees. The consol idated statement of financial positien
shaws the fallowing amountd relating Lo beasei:

R m mudeni of puves 227 20
o p-lea hri ] 1w
Carleass i& &0
rihet leaey 3

Total sight-alise assets 60 any
Totsl beses liaksibtisn aay E ]

Additions 1o right-of-use assets during 2021 were

EUR 11 milllign (2020: EUR 19 million), The consolidated
statement of income shows the following amounts relating
to leases:

Aemwtizech m midenen o marae Forl Maa
Fropesty bease ™ i
Carbrass i ik
Omhet lemey I L]
repreciation chasgs of right-ol- e 185
ke EEEE

Inbeiril caperiin L] &
Espeme relating to short-

Term leanies

Eapeti ralEting 00 biet of bose -

wahir dnvrti

Expefs Felanng o variable

g paymwpnity not inghuded i & L
T v Babui g ey

Thie tatal cash outflow Tor leases in 2021 was EUR 66 million
{2020; EUR &4 millian),

Operating lase contracts as a kessor

Mabobank has cancluded various operating lease contracts
a5 lessar. Thee future mimmum [exse payments recelvable
from nan-cancellable operating beases can be broken dawn
as fallows:

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

Mot ewceedng 1 year ] ar
118 3 ywars am B0
11a3 pers 133 e
110 4 years I8 158
4105 years Ll ] LFr)
bore than § yeary LE b LAk
Total from

wm:‘"""‘" Lai8 12

16. Investment Properties

drmaeants i Moo of fures A L

Cont i A%
Accumudsted depreciation snd empsemenin [£a1] (L40]
ot carrying ameust an por Jansary 1 s m
Doy taalane 450 n
Fusthaies 1] &
Swes [LH] 1%
Traralery from read extate prosecey M L)
Tigrnlory L barldl For iale avisti [40]]

Trermfers teland and tnsking fam
(Dbt £8m L1}
Impaneeniy L1}

Beversal impaimment ¥ H
Other H LY]
Clesing balance & per Decomber 31 ax &5
Cent o] an
Acrumaisted depreclaion ard empeemenis i1} "
_h'l-.., o e il bar 11 418 50

The fair value of the investmant properties amounts to

EUR 563 million {2020: EUR 550 milllon). Bxternal valuations
ol investment propertles were pedormed by duly certified
extemnal partes in aceordan ce with RICS walwatbon standards or
athér equivalent standards. The determination of the falr value
of investmient properties is based on the methodalogies which
are moest appropriate foe the type of property. This includes the
discounted cash fMlow valuation method and the capitalization
method based onnet initial ylelds for comparable transactions.

Valwationa E. ]

Lo
Exterr viudlnsn &% [ 1Y
fneinal valusten 15k Ik

Most investment property is unigue. There is often no

active market for similar properties in the same location and
condition, Appraisals of the diffenent types of investment
properties are based on many parameters, which are derived
from current contracts and market infarmation as much

as passible, A certain degree of judgment and estimation
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cannat be avolded, Therefore, all investment property has
baen designated as level 3 inline with the fair value
classification under IFRS 13, When determining the fair value
of Investment property, the parameters used Include the
Tollowing, depending on the type of property: eurrent and
expected future market rent per m2, current and expected
future vacancy rates, location of the property, the marketabdlity
of the property, the average discount rate, the developmant
budget, and any credit risks.
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17. Other Assets Work in Progress
Apsruret i b of rumn Ee ] e
Besdemial ity b prep sl
Other Assets Sooa oo LM L
Dorwimescial propedty in deveopment bl
Aty in mbdice of garon liove Hoz Fuar et &
Fevrivabie and propayrmengy 1435 L hl."l’l?ﬂli’l’rﬂ.l.l:ulﬂ-ﬂ‘l'-‘!.l-
Aeciued imierest w7 B vesidertisl proganty ) o)
rlafrrenty et el in adwiecr -
Comimodis sad misrthoute Sepet 4,550 1590 o i :
Fegl errste pengern Toar LI Tertal ool by progiia wr pers
hrrned incorme i Akl
Irnglopen bersefits 4 1 1
e T (i 1M -
SR w18, Non-Current Assets Held for
Tatal sther assets Wi T Sale
[ - The non-current assets held for sale amount to EUR 73 mallion
{2020 EUR 52 million) and inchede various typses of real
s mmikem of naror £ e h
AR i s estate in the segments Domestic Aetall Banking and Property
Wtk in progress sixt o Development for an amount of EUR 45 milion. The carmying
Fsished properties " i values are expacted to be realized throwgh sale rather than
Total res evtats profects zoar  tear  through centinuing use.

Im 2021 the net realisable value of all current building <ites not
subject 1oa roning plan was calculated and compared with the

19. Deposits from Credit

carrying amaunt, This resultad in an addition of provisions af Institutions
EUR 24 milllion {2020 addition of EUA 4 million),
Aot in millsos of earnd oo e
Demand depenits § ok 106
Mowements in Provisians for Real Extate Projects
e term depost LWL 19471
Ralaetren Bakinor am LT
Arapiand in dgvamy [, Additions’ 7 bee 31 o SgrerEniy LL1] 45
il ol Man eirass (CEh Ehaages ot Bt iry ingtiuimens of cential Lankd EE 5T 451
Budicing sites £ 5 =9 EE ] Cothver depeesits Frosm credt st ] B
Wk in progre Ll Ll 4 1 Tostal e gernitia from aredli il tunass TR0 61142
Feutend grogenten 1’ (1] ;]
Tatal A & (] 4
20. Deposits from Customers
Belarce e Bakinee oe
Armoursdy in Jamuory 1, e s i Darvernbes 11,
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Tsaiary clepusiy e 5T
Lrher depeit from ounormens - w1
Total depasiti from customen 37h0%6 LA ]
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Mon-manetary instruments from central banks amounting toe
EUR 16 hillion (2020 EUR 12 billian) are included in “Depaosits

with agreed maturity ™.
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21. Debt Securities in Issue

et in millicen of fercy o A0
Crmbeatea of depeiit 180 18420
Cormamercal P 504 T
hsued bonds oL52 T
oty ekt securtes Taans 1204
Tatal deb secuarition in iiiue 106, 708 113529

22. Financial Liabilities Held for
Trading

Financial Habilities held for rading are mainly negative falr
values of derivatives and delivery obligations that arise an the
shart selling of secunities. Securties are sald shart to realine
gaines frosm shaet-term price fluctwations, The securities needed
1o setthe short sales are acquined through securities lending
and repurchasing agreements. The falr value of the shares and
bonds sold short are EUR 1,419 million [2020: EUR 998 million).

23. Financial Liabilities Designated
at Fair Value

Aty i o of curas Jax! 20
Detri serumithes invised 1371 ER 1}
Depoity 78 M
Vaeal Aearncinl llatilitirn designated o fair valus Ly 178

The cumulative change in fair value of the finandal

liabilities designated at falr value attributable te changes in
Rabalank’s own credit sk amounts to EUR 173 milbon (2020
EUR 145 milllan).

The change in Fair value that is attributable 1o changes in
own credit risk is caloulated by deducting on a note by note
lbasis the current fair value of the strectured notes portfolic
at the reporting date from the falr value recalcullated based
an the prevailing credit curve at the time of arignatien, with
all other pricing components unchanged, This calculation
reflects the amount that can be attributed to the change in
the evwn credit risk of Rabobank since the origination of these
structured notes.

Transfers of the cumulative gains or losses within equity during
the period and theamounts presented inather comprehensive
incame that are tealized at derecognition are disclosed in
Section 30 in the movement schedule of the "Revaluation

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

Reserve - Fair Value Changes Due to Own Credit Risk on
Financial Liakklithes Designated at Falr Value®,

The carrying value of the lssued structured notes designated
at fair value i+ EUR 77 million (2020: EUR &1 millien) lower than
the amount Rabobank is contractually obliged to repay to the
halders of the structured notes

24, Other Liabilities

Asvounerm milon of raos [ 2071 2000
Payabsbey A.547 4437
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Leurie labitied aar S04
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25. Provisions
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Far additional information regarding the additions 1o the
proviskon for legal issues and 1o the other provisions, see
Section 4.10, "Legal and arbitration proceedings”.
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27. Employee Benefits
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27.1 Pension Plans

Rabobankhas placed its Dutch penséon scheme with Rabobank
Pension Fund. The schame ks a collective defined contributlon
plan with a pensionable sge of 68 and a target accrual
jpercentage of 3. Each year Rababank deposits penskan
contributions into the Rabobank Pension Fund based ona
fied system which aims to achleve the target pension accrual
for services provided during the years of serice based on a
conditonal career-average plan with a condivonal indexation,
Iabaolank comgplies with all its pension abligations by paying
the anaual pension premium and therefade has ne financial
lalilities with regard 1o undedying membership years and
already accrued pension rights,

The Dutch pension plan qualifies as a definad contribution
plan under 1AS 19, Rabobank's ebligatien i< limited 1o the
premivm payments owed, less previously made paymemts. As
of Decamber 31, 2021, a fow small plans qualify as defined
benefit pension plans. These ane career-average defined
benefit pension plans, administered by a fund orotherwise that
are related 1o the remuncration of employees upon retirament
and which mostly pay annual pensions. Annal contributions
are paid to the funds at a rate necessary to adequately finance
the acerued labilities af the plans caleulated in accardance
with local legal requirements, The asiets related 1o the plans
are held independontly of Rabobank assets in separate funds
managed by trustees. The obligations are valued vach year
by Independent actuaries based on the methed prescribed by
IFiS. The most recent actuarial valuathons were pardormed al
the end of 2021. The tables with the welghted averages af
the maln actarial azsumptions, the sensitivity analysis and the
Tuture prmium payrrenis relabe to the pension plan of the
former Friesland Bank.
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Movements in plan assets and labdithes:
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The costs recognized in profit and loss are shown in the
tabbe below.
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Main Actuariel Assumpiions

The main actuarial asswemptions for the valuation of the defined
benefit obligation are the discount rate, the salary Increases,
and the price inflation. Recent martality tables have also been
used for the valuation of the respective plans, The weighted
averages of the actuarial financial sssumpieons are sHowm in

the table below {in % per year):
201 205
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Sensithvity Analysis
Rabobank is exposed to risks regarding its defined benefit
plons related to the assumptions disclosed in the table below.

The sensitiyity analysis of these mast significant assumptions

has been determined based on changes of the assumptions
eccuring at the end of the reporting period that are deemed
reasonably possibhe.

et o chefived ekt
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Estimated Contribution

The estimated contributions 1o definad benelil pension plans
Tor 2022 are approvimatiedy ELR 5 million [2020: EUR & millian).

Awverage Duration
The average duration of the defined benefit plan of the former
Friesland Bank Is 16 years (2030 17 years),

272 Other Employee Benefits
Other employes benefits malnly consist of latsilities for future
long-service awards ,

28. Subordinated Liabilities

_-imthml‘wnﬂnm Jaxi k]
FHued by Habobank L 1148
Total iwbordiasted lisbifities LR 13488

The fallowing table shows details of the issues of subordinated
liatilithes =
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Subardinated Liahilities issued by Aobobank
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29. Contingent Liabilities

Credit Relmbed Contingent Liabidlities

Rabobank enters inta irrevocable loan commitments and
contingent liabilites consisting of financial guarantees and
standby letters of credit on behalf of its customers. Under
these contracts Rabobank is requined 1o perform under an
abligatian agreement ar to make payments ta the benellcany
on third party's failure to meet ity obligations, The following
tabde shows the amount of the maximum potential utilizatlon
of credit related contingent Hakilities,

At il il of furas M 2

Farandial gl aresy 3A68 1,381
Losan cosmmitmients AR A1 ET7
v commimenti s Mo
Credit related contingend lishilitees 0,137 8%.137
215
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Contingent Linbilittes Aelated to Litigation Arvounes in mdl of ne
Rabobank is invalved in a number of legal and arbitration Changes xil aspocietes and joind veriures
procecdings in the Netherlands and other countries in Tam walur change (a5 ng
conmection with claims breught by and against Rabobank Trarmlerred b relaired warmings n n
arising feom its aperations. For additional infarmation, refer to Cther 2 ]
Section 4,10 "Legal and Arbitration Proceedings”, Clasing halapin o 1
Ervalumtion reeree - Caid Mo Bedges
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Thee contractual cammitments relating 1o the acquisition, Torelgn - a e
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31. Rabobank Certificates

Rababank Certilicates represent participation rghis ssued
Iy Habobank via the foundation Stichting Administratie
Kantoor Rabobank Certificaten (AK Foundation) and belong
1o Rabobank's Common Equity Teer 1 capital. Rabobank
Certificates are lsted on Eurenext Amsterdam,

The tatal number of eertificates is 313,005,461 with a
nominal value of EUR 25 each, Rabobank's actual payment
policy pursuant to the Parlicipation Rules in respect of the
jparticipation issued by Rabobank (and wia AK Foundation in
respect of the Rabobank Certificates) can be found on the
Rabahank website,

Axa rgsult of the announcement by the ECB that it would not
extend the recommendation to limit dividend distributions
beyond September 30, 2021, Rabobank made an exceptional
quarterly distribution of EUR 1,21478 per Rabobank Certificate
on December 29, 2021 and relterated its intention to revert to
its payment policy thereafter.

The cash distribution paid per certificate in 2021 was ELR 1 625,
The amauntslisted in the table below aro based on the nominal
value of EUR 25 per Rabobank Cestificate. Cash flows arising
from changes during the year in the Rabobank Certificates are
imeluded in the consolidated statement of cash flaws.

ety in miliorn of peros o 2000
Changay Suring the e
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32. Capital Securities

Capitad Securities

All Caplial Securities are perpetual securities and have ne
expiry date_ The discretionany distribution on Capital Securities
Pt issue is as follows:

321 Capital Securities Issued by Rabobank

Issue of EUR 750 millian

Rabaobank issued Capital Securities for an amaunt of

EUR 750 million. The coupan is 3.10% peér year and was made
payable semi-annually in arrears as of the issue date (April
21, 2021} for the first time on June 28, 2021. These Capital
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Securities are perpetual and first redeemable on June 29, 2028,
As of Jume 29, 2038, and subje<t to Capital Securities not baing
redeemed ealy, the distributhon is set for a lve-year period,

Bt withouta step-up, based an the five-year Surs Swap rate +

3,234%, The coupon Is fully discretionary.

Iusue of ELR 1,000 Million

The coupon Is 4.625% per year and ks made payable every six
maonths in arrears as of the issue date (September 11, 2008), for
the first time on Decamber 29, 2018, These Capital Securitied
are perpetual and first redeemable on December 39, 2025, As of
December 29, 2025, and subject to Capital Securities nat being
rodeemed carly, the distribution is set for a free-year poriod,
but without a step-up, basad on the 5-year ewro swap rate +

4.098%. The coupon is fully discrethonary.

lssue of EUR 1,250 Milllon

The coupen is 3.25% par year and is made payable overy six
months narrears as of the issue date (Septembaer 9, 2019), for
the first time on Decermber 29, 3019, Thesa Capital Securities
are perpetual and first redesmable on Decembser 29, 2026, As of
Decermber 29, 2026, and subject to Capital Securities mot baing
redeemed eaily, the distribution is set Tor & fve-year porhad,
but without a stép-up, based on thee S-year Gwro swap rate +

3.702%. Tha coupon is fully discretionary.

Issue of ELR 1,000 Million

The caupen is 4.375% per year and is made payable every six
maonths in anears a5 of the Bsue dote (July 14, 2020], Tor the
first time on Docember 29, 2020, These Capital Securities are
perpetual and fimt redeemable on December 28, 1027, As of
[Decernber 29, 2027. and subject to Capital Securities not being
redaemed early, the distribution is set for a five-year period,
but without a step-up, based on the 5-year ewo swap rate +

A.67%%, The coupon is fully discretionary.

32.2 Capital Securities lssued by Rabobank That
Were Redeemed During the Reporting Year

Issue of EUR 1,250 Million

Rabobank issued the ELIT 1,250 milllon Capital Securities on
Mgl 16, 2006, In accordance with the Terms and Conditions
of these Capital Securities, Rabobank redeemed these Capital
Securities on tha first call date, of June 29, 2021,

Iisue of GEP 250 Million

Rabobank issued the GBP 250 million an June 10, 2008. In
accardance with the Terms and Conditions of the Capital
Securities, Rabobank has detérmined that, as of 5 Nowembier
2021 a Capital Event has occured and ks continuing. Rabobank
has redeemed all the outstanding Capital Securities on
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4 January 2022 (the “Redemption Date®). As per December
31, 2021 the remaining Capital Securities were classified asa
Timancial latbility.

33. Non-Controlling Interests

This item relates to shares held by non-controlling parties in
Rabobank subsidianies.

Azt in millomn of paree 0 e
Opening halance A ary
Het rcehy o4 ']
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Ohee ' m
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The Rabobank subsidiaries with the largest non-controlling
interests are Cargobull Finance Holding and AGCO Finance
SMC Both entities are accounted for in the segment Leasing.

CorgobullHolding B.Y. Is based in Eindhoven, Metherlands, and
Rabobank has a capital and voting right interost of 51%., The
non-contrafling interests with regard to this entity amount to
EUR & milllion {2020: EUR 72 million). The following financial
data apply:

Cargobull Holding B4

Aoty m milloe of paros o M0
Ferverasy FL L
Lo ¥ {F3
Dbt oMb L O .

Tousl cerrprehensive mwme T L
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Deviderady puad 10 mon-controling inberety

Faruneusl ganecy iss 5%
her misats M L)
Frwngaal Ralsltary 58 45
Omter lalslives ¥ M

AGCD Finance SNC is located in Baauvais, France, and
Rabobank has a capstal and voting right interast of 51%. The
non-contredling interests with regarnd to this entity amount to
EUR 111 million (2020 ELIR 107 million). The fellowing financial
data apply:
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34, Changesin Liabilities Arising
from Financing Activities
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35. Net Interest Income 36. Net Fee and Commission
Income
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1 Pressentation adjusied, see Section 2.1
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pritera v e 1
Capitadized interest atiributable to qualifying assets amounted Pt e 5
Mt intome i Hieane sckraiti F11 188
to ELA 17 million (20230 ELUR 17 millian), The average intenest
fate apgplied in détermining intereit chaiges to be capitalized ebioris e Aot t B »
ranged between 0.9% and 4% (2020: between 1%and 4%), The Exprones from inverment property " r
interest income on oredit-impained financal assots acorued is Wt g §ies ineeatomen geaps n {F]
EUR 267 millien (2020: EUR 344 million), In the interest income
on financial llabllites with a negative Interest rate, an amaunt Wt inanms fromm Dt o aiing sl vities bnd il
afl EURG02 millsen s included fram the TLTRO 1 program which
includes EUR 334 million fod the government grant, All expenses Trom INVESTMEnT Broperties relate 1o propenses
that are leasod.
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38. Income from Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures
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39. Gains/ (Losses) on Financial
Assets and Liabilities at Fair
Value through Profit or Loss
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1 Presentation adjusied, see Seciion 2.1,

Gaing/ (losse<) on financial labilities designated at fair value
and derivatives used 10 hedge the interest rate risk of those
financial liabilitios mainly relate to fair valug changes of

the structured notes portfolio attributable to changes in i)
market interest rates and il} day-one gains that are directly
recognized in profit or koss fer an amount of EUR 2 million
{2020: EUR -10 miltion). The results related to falr value changes
af the stroctured notes due to changes in market intedest rates
are largely affset by the fair value changes of the dedvatives
wsed 1o hodge this interest rate risk,
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40. Other Income
Ammounts i milom of runo i 2000
fGusina Mleaseal atsing from the desscogition of [ 5
fnarcusl bk ity 88 srorted cott
Bt an wile o ghou g oo & L]
Le Lo g L Fa] [
Orsbine nor - S
41. Staff Costs
Amonanrs i il of i N;'II H'H
Wages ord salaries A 1554
Focial wxumty corgribng o and mursnce cosiy ans ary
Fesribon coatn - delined comribition plans FE] 403
Peesriaieh Cioali = cilined Derela pesfriion plans 2
Traireeey ard araeel g expenseg =™ £
Acddion ks of ctber poti- 3 5
T R T T Y
Criher viaf coshy [Pt ] 1
o am

Expressed in FTES, the number of intemaland external
employees in Rabobank was 43,361 [2020; 43,2721,

Rabobank has a Growp Remuneration Policy which is updated
an a regular basis and includes the provisions under the Dutch
Act on Remuneration Policies for Financial Companies. insofar
as employees in the Natherlands are still oligible for variakle
remuneration, It never amounts to marne than an average

of 20% of the fixed ncome. Cutside the Natherlands, any
vanable remuneration never amounts to more than 100% of
the fixed income. Insofar as identified staff jemployees who
can have & material influence on the risk profile of Rabobank
Growp) are eligible for varable remuneration, it awarded
Tor perinds in which the rsks assoeciated with the underlying
business activities are adequately taken inte account. Fayment
of a significant portion of varkable remaneration is therefore
deferred; 40% of the variabde pay is pald on a deferred

Ibasis. If the total variable pay exceeds EUR 500,000, 0%

of the total vanable pay will be deferred. The immediate
portion of varable remuneration is unconditional, whereas
Uhe delernisd portion s conditional, The defered portion
wiests after throe years i the conditions are met, or after five
years when rewanded 1o 'senior management’, Amang other
things, Rabobank assesses whether there has beena significant
reduwction in fimancial perdomance or a significant change in
risk management al Rababank or ore of its busingss unil that
puts the circumstances assessed when the mlevant variablia
remuneration was awarded in a different perspective. in

220
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principle, the rightto any provisionally allocated remuneraticon
lapses when the stalf member's employment ends. 50% of
lbath the direct and the delerred partion of the vaiabée
remuneration is allocated In cash, The cash component of
thedirect pertion is immediately awarded foflowing allocation,
The cash component of the deferred partion is awarded to
employees anly after vesting (after a period of three or five
yearsh 50% of the direct and the deferred portion of the
variable remuneration is allocated in the form of aninstrument
(bdtrumant campanint) Le. the Deforned Remuneration Mot
(DHAM). The value of a DRM i linked directly 1o the price of

a Habobank Certificatie (RCh as listed on the NYSE Euronest,
The Instrument component ks converted Into DAMNS at the
time of allocation on completion of the performance year. The
number of DANS |5 determined on the basis of the clocing
ratesfor Rabobank Cenificates, as traded an the NY'SE Eurcnext
during the first five trading days of February of each year, This
therefore represents bath the instrument component of the
direct and the deferred partion of the variable remuneration,
The final value of the DRNs ralating to the deferred poartion i5
established on vesting (after a period of three or five years).
The payment of the instrument component is subject to a one
year retention pedad. Alter the end of the retention perlad,
the employee recéives, for each DRN (or a portion theseol) an
amount in cash that coresponds with the value of the DRM at
that mament,

Payment af the variable remuneration |5 measured in
accordance with 1AS 19 Employee benefits. The immediate

[ ——.

Ay in millern of bures E b
Waiable serruneation eacludesy DRfs HirE Bl
RN s 28
Totsl EAES ] 8.8

O Devemiber 30, 200

At m midoen of paron Jagi oy
Varisble reruncation, e luikesg Dby 1382 €]
RN (L14] a3
Total 1543 5.8

portion of the variable remuneration is recognized |n the
pedormance year, whereas the deferred portion is racognized
in the years before vesting.

Thee same system also appdies, inbroad termas, 1o non-identified
staff, although no deferral policy applies to the first one
hundred thousand euras, Both the immediate and 1he deferred
portion are paid fully in cash, which means that no DRNs

are awarded,

On Decembaer 31, 2021, the costs of equity imtrument-
based payments were EUR 13 million (2020; EUR % million)
and a liability of EUR 26 milllon was recognized [2020:

EUR 27 millland of which EUR 13 million (2020 EUR 9 milllon)
wias vested. The costs of varlable remuneration pald n cash
were EUR 200 million (2020: EUR 138 millkon). The number af
sutstanding DRANs s presented in the fallawing tabde.

0 ik 2031 o0

Dgpanieg balancs Ling rAamn
Amarded dunng B prm 433 a1l
Pl horing the yoar LA ] [1EL14]
s fPoe Mo e (L F] 34
L S, na ki

The value of a DRM Is linked directly to the price of a Rabobank
Certificate. The estimated payments to be made far the
variable remuneration ane shown in the fallewing table.

Weaur of puryeens

M F i S0 iy Jora Pestul
i1E EE ] L4 L1 AL A
Ll 15 5 ¥ ] o 30
s 31 4.1 T .1 FEELA

Wear of pamame

Hur Fot] FoH M 207 Tiskal
45 EE ] (1] L1 1542
7 T4 LE L% ] oo 534
L] a0 Ly o 0 1878
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42. Other Administrative Expenses 46. Income Tax

e in méiom of reron Jogi ir ] ot in mdon of rame J0Fi Mg
Aalibficns ard rocaiet of provisien 543 (5] e lan

IT expendes bnd wftwire coats 1|7 M5 Repouting peibed (A1 =] 693
Consuann feey ag s Adpaiomarns of Greyous year a3 (1]
Publicity enpenies L H [+ Becogreton of prevdasaly enmoograed tar losue il i
Fartadt iz shered cagniticn. s imptame s i . i Deferredinm [ #m
fritangible L [e——— (KT 400
ober Prpre L anr = -

Dby adminiibative sipssnian 2,083 1,483

The other expenses in 2000 were impacted by a VAT relief,

43. Depreciation and Amortization

ARt i Mo OF PuTeE ST 000
Depprmtiaton of tangible freed anety 150 WFi
e et s i it ity ar 11
Adnodiziten of reinglie et 105 Wig
D i il 1 W5

44, Impairment Charges on
Financial Assets

Ao m milion) of faros it

Liowainy i SR 10 Cus omery and

el PalbAmn o) b

Francdal sxsets at fai valus hrough ot i

ioeprehrriive Fooee

s rwrrien fnlkeaing wrteof (R L:H] (L1154

Lioain pommitmaents and fnandisl guasaniee {351 -]
L haig L' | asnwis 1.¥13

wxa}

45. Regulatory Levies

The regulatory kevies comsist of bank tax, bank levies and
contributions to the Single Resclution Fund and the Deposit
Guarantes Scheme,

oty m milkie of peros ST 00
Bt tax Hetheslandy 4 (1
B L ather foiinliied L ] -]
Conpritmon Singhe Rriahon Fusd m Frid
Lontrinaton (e pot Gusraniee Fund a2y Lhid
Reguatory beyles T Ha

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

The effective tax rate is 24.3% (2020; 26.7%) and differed from
thie thearetical rate that would have arisen using the Dutch
corporate tax rate, This difference Is explained as follows:

Amduntt i midom of remd o e
Digepi ity joiielil Pabewe Lo itaeey 4877 EADE
Appboaiie tas rats 5% s 5% ara

I periee/ Ut i taaes

g front

Tam-sraprea Incovs [ TR LT T R T B T
st of Boewign cax sanes 1.1 52 LT 4y

en-deciactitie rrperaey bR 115 ] B s

:“mm o) mo in
Dher perrmanent diflsrencey g [T R ] [577]
Bty of et viond yeses e P
:‘;‘":‘“""‘“‘""““""‘ AL L
Weite el dhelierred tas 0.7 s 1M b

CTEE NOR -tecuist g Can ieenn L TR 1 T ¥ )
Tatsl mrome tax

TIEE 1T A

The othar permanent differences mainly consist of the tay
effect on the interest payments on Capital Securities.

47. Transactions with Related
Parties

Two parties are considered related if one party exercises
contral af has significant influence over the ather party
regarding financial or operating decisions. [n the normal
course of business, Rabobank canducts a wide varlety of
transactions with related entities, These invalve different
types of lnans, depasits and transactions in fereign
currencies. Transactions between related paries also includes
transactions with assacianes, pension funds, joint ventures,
the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board, These
trandattions ant conductied under commidrcial terms and
conditions and against market prices. In accordance with

12

470/559



EDINETOOOO
O00OO00O000000000000040d0(ee5923)
Oooooooa

Wlanagement Repon Comparate Doverenoe Comaldeied Financisl atemants  Company Franial SEstements mbepr Indoomation

1A% 24 4 intragroup transactions are not disclosed in the
consolidated financial statemants,

Ir the narmal course of Rabobank's business operations,
lbanking transactions are carried out with related parties, These
irveodvie loans, deposits and transactions in foreign currencies,
Thiese transactions are conducted under commercial terms
and conditions and against market prices. The volemes of
related party wansactions, year-end outstanding balances
and the camespanding income and expenses during the

year are presented in the following table. Transactions and
batances cutstanding with members of the Managing Board
and members of the Superdisory Beard are disclosed in Section
49, Transactions with pension funds are disclosed in Section 27,

Srvrptemend)

e SR o it e petcted parties
JOr a0 n 2020

Loans

Detrtanding at beginnung of year I ™ 12 &

Fresdded duting 1he yeu 5 L] LF.-] &

Fethesirmd durieg the yeat i o i [38)

Onher - -

Gross bean s of Becembar 31 n \rd 13 12

Nira; icsan impuisme ] aliswanos - - ~

Totsl ksana & of December 31 11 1w i LF3

Derpeesaits, brwen e recdd) inut#utionn angd

deposty frum ourtpmeny

Grtanding st beginnng of the year 5870 4510 L] aF
Fecrved during the pear 1454 Ba 1 T
Fepaad duiing the e Larm s W [L.T4]
Onther m

Total depaits as of Becamber 31 54 a0 2 14

e relsted soninge lalsSiien ans a0 =
Incoime

Herl imteress income " 7 -

Hart Bow il fxtrrraiibinn indtime 19 M - L]
Omhier 1 (1]

Tomal e Irom taniadnione

with related parties gl - * '
Expeniey

L B ] 03

Mt Sep BT COPVHTE B 8 pETTE & £ -

Fmpa e

Totalssg B . : :
withy palabed parties e i

Fabosbank Anruasl Beport 2001 - Cornolidsted Financlal Satemends

48. Cost of External Independent
Auditor

Exponses for services provided by Rabobank's independent
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants NV, ["Pwl")
and its member firms and/ or affiliates to Rabobank and its
subsidiaries in 2021 are spedified as follows:

P}
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At in o of furos an it

Pl Dk Prel Bl Chitver Ball
et Pt ey sl i Todat Lo T itk s Tetanl

OO SETVicES ay 51 LEL ] B.E BS 17.3
Dther mdil perecey 15 Bd Lo 14 o3 b 1]
Law achsd urary wervioes - at aa - ni -4
Cother non-audil denices

Tatsl L% ] 5 26,3 ¥ 3 1848
Thie anedit Fees listed above relate to Rabobank and its Qrher Audit Services

consolidated growpentities audited by PwCand othermember - Assurance engagement on the sustainability report
firms In the global PwC network, including their tax services = Assurance engagemsant on the effectiveness of internal

and adwisory groups. Thess audit fees relate to the audit of control over financial reporting

the fimanclal statements, regardiess of whether the wark was +  Agread-upen pracedures on cost allacations

pedarmed during the financial year. +  Special purpose financial statement audits of contralled and
related entities

FRabakbank’s independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopars «  Comfort letters issued as part of funding transactions and

Accountants MV, has rendered. for the pertod ta which the based on Dutch Accounting Standard 38508

statutory audit relates, in addition to the audit of the statutory

financial statements the fellawing services to the company .
and (15 controdled entities (Section 10, subsection 2.9 af the EU 49' HE munéeration Qf the

Rogulation 537/2015) SUpETViSQI’}‘ Board and the
Managing Board
Orher Audit Services Requived by Law or Regulatory Requiremenits
+  Smtutory audits of controlled and related entithes The members of the Supervdsory Board and the Managing
+ Auditofthe regulatory returns te be submitied to European  Board are listed In Section 35 of these Consalidated Financial
Central Bank Staterments. Rabobank regards the members of the Managing
+ Assurance engagement for the TLTRO I reporting to be Beard and the Supervisory Board as kiey managemsen
submitted to De Nederlandsche Bank parsannal, The membsers of the Managing Beard are amang the
«  Non-auditassurance engagemaent cost price models farthe  identified staff as disclosed in Section 41, The remuneration of
Authority Financial Markets members of the Managing Board Is set out below.
RGBT T T —_
Sy Ok Penision icherne individual
[perikan ponfrintion
Wheltse vt Chase L b 1 s
[y Misrttin, Whiolesale & Rura AKSD) L= o k] 8y (RIL]
Firtben Koni Business Chents L) ] % 995
Marielin Lcktenbiory, Private Clierty 150 e " 18 "
Ears Browveers, CFO =] - ar 1
mrane Ve, CHAD &5 55 b ET] B
[art Lewrs, 1700 50 n b} 155 a5
i e G, 8O3 T © ] [E13 w0
bk Sevnga, CHIACO0 [l September 1. 021 500 758 "% o 137
Total 221 ST & 243 1,450 a508
Mesiteers bk gingg Soand T8 1 51 1478 [
Fsrmrier Membedi Managing Bosrd Y AL "% 1 2l
Total podo 0T k| an AR el

At year-and 2021 na DANs were outstanding among members  income on the basis of which the members of the Managing
af the Managing Board (2020: 2,761 pecesk. The pension Hoard can build up 4 pension aMounts toa mairmum lor
scheme for the members of the Managing Board I3 classified 2021 of EUR 106,086 Any incame exceeding this amaunt
as a collective defined contribution scheme, The maximum Is not pensionable, The members of the Managing Board

Fabaosbank Anrual Report 2001 - Cornclidated Financlal Satements 214
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therefare recelve an individual pension contribution, There

s entitlement 1o a car lease arrangement. There s alse a
company car policy in place for oll members of the Managing
Board for the purpase of commuting and business ravels, leko
Sevinga resigned as Managing Board membser per September
1, 2021 and is entitled to a severance payment as disclosed
under “Other”,

Expenses refated 1o members and former members of

the Superdsery Board totaled EUR 1.1 million (2030:

EUR 1.2 millian). This includes VAT and payable employers
contributions, In addition 1o the rode of Member of the
Supervisory Board of Rabobank, the remuneration also
depends on the roles in the various committees. The
composition of these committees is detalled in the Annual
Report The remuneration structure {exclusive of VAT and ather
charges) is thie fallowing:

Ay 1 HETH R visavri Tanwt

Chule 210000
Vicr-Cha | pacos
Meater T
Pl of a peguiar Sup v Boand sttes, add 0000

The table below shows the remuraration (excluding
VAT and other charges) for individual members of the
Supervisory Board,

At i Brocnsds of eurm femonemiios
Murjan Trocrgrriter (1]
Jm Mesitgesagt {151
Geri-la v der Akloer dtart Apr 14, 207 "
hnret Ari ]
Jahi wars Hall (it D B, 30311 &
Ferrl Hofing (0]
Arlan Kamg LiLJ
ok Pemaert L]
Parical Vi ]
it ek 10 Segt 22, 2001) 160
Total 2621 1

L]

Total a0

Al Rabobank, the Chairman of the Supernvisory Board holds a
number of roles which are related 1o the cooperative such as
Chairman of the Genatral Members' Council,

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

A in mulloe of fu Munaging Board  Sugersiiary Boaed
Loans, sdvarsies smad guaraniess M ok Jon Hox
Ouhitanding o= 1 January LS 2 .7 4
Pt uring ke yrar 11 - 18
Redeemed duriag the peal (1] i) oLn mn
w o oo of .

Mg office

P rease o) oo of Takesy o e

Dritasamding o= 11 Decermbar L E] 5 LE ] .7

The loans, advances and guarantees of the members af the
Managineg Board in office and the average interest rates werne
as follows:

PR T ua — M&Q bl
Tin W
O Decembe i, 3051
By Baonwera ar L5
BavtLlew as 14
Mgl Lcnnenberg () 18
r__-'_l-_\’_n 11 L]
Armountsm mivon of s M"';"_ mhr';
[
O Diecesber 11, 1000
By Brpuverrs ar LI}
raten Kons ail 58
Eait Lewmy [-F ] 13
il Lchbenheng @ 35
Fmmine Vo a9 a1

The loans, advances and guarantees of the members of the
Superdisory Board in office and the average interast rates were
as follows:

ey mibam of purms Nntinirn m':uﬁ

O Dkt 11, JOFT

Arian Kamp 12 L F]

Migan Thompetier Lo o

e in mitany of pes CUSE  tereat e
fin %)

O December 11, 3000

Arian Kamp 1.1 Bd

Jhiwsjun ToowrgeiTer b 15

At year-end 2021, the members of the Supervisarny Board not
listed in the table had not received any loans, advances or
guarantees, These transaclions with members of the Managing
Board and Supendsory Board ware complated in personon the
basis of employee terms and conditions andier market rates

Fie
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for the Supervisory Board, The rates depend in part on the
currency, on the agreed fived-interest persod and an the time
atwhich the ransaction was completed of on the time atwhich
a new Nixed-interest term becomes effective.

Same members of the Managing Board have invested in
Rabobank Certificates in person.

Agnaging Baged Kbt
[

ey Deepwemkeer 11, 2030

#lrben Kone [ 5Te]

Hn-Edetnhn-p imaE

!’-ﬂ'r.'._Mu'rm B[ 08

50. Principal Subsidiaries

e Dvoammloer $3, 3021 P

Principal mubsidiaray

Thee Methevlands

DA Intesrasena BN, (i i

BPD Bt BV, % TP

Dreon MV, (Eer Y 100

Wearth America

wmmuq.lm_ e i

Ausnralia ard Maw Desloend

Fabeoitiani b Avrmradia Lieniosd Hads [H i

Fabobank Mew Jraland Lireited L 20 100

Al subsidiaries fsted in the table have been consolidated.
In 3021, several subsidiaries experienced restrictions from
regulators in the payment of dividends and own funds

due to COVID-19. The possiblity for subsidiaries to pay
dividend 1o Rabobank depends on varous factors, incleding
loeal regulatory requinernents, statutory reserves and
financial perfarmance.

Sevaoral structured entities in WER segment are not
consolidated, even Il Rabobank retains more than half of the
vatlng rights. These structured entities are not consolidated
because the relevant activities and the vadabde retusns are
determined by a third party 10 the contract,

Rabobank contrals several enlities in the "Leaaing” segment
as part of Its vandor leasing aparations, even though it retains
less than half of the wating rights: This is because contral

s not determined based on voting rghts, but rather an
management participail

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

Transfer of Financial Assets and
Financial Assets Provided as
Collateral

a1;

51.1 Reverse Repurchase Transactions aned
Securities Borrowing Agreements

Reverse repurchase transactions and securities bomowing
agreements concleded by Aababank are Incleded under
“Laans and Advances ta Credit Institutions” o "Leans and
Advances to Cuitomers” and amount toc

drmaeants i Moo of fures A L

Lnany armd srfvanswin nslnmery AR 1731
Total revar k ¢tk and
P el o 30483 roaa

Inaccordance with the terms of the reverse repurchase
transactions and securities borrowing agreements. Rabobank
receives collateral under conditions that enabde it to re-pledge
or resell the collateral to third parties. On Decembser 31,
2021, thie total falr valwe of the secutities recelved under

e term of the agresments was EUR 31,043 million (2030
EUR 24,387 millign). In accordance with the agreemant terms,
a portion of the securities was re-pledged or sold as collateral,
These transactions were effected subject to the normal
conditions fer standard reverse repurchase transactions and
securilies borrowing agreements, The securities have ngt been
recognized in the statement of financial position because
almost all the associated risks and benefits accrue to the
counterparty. A receivable has been recognized at a value
equivalent to the amount pakd as collateral,

51.2 Repurchase Transactions and Securities
Lending Agreements

Repurchase transactions and securities lending agreements
concluded by Rabobank are included under *Depoesits from
Credit Institutions” and “Deposits from Customers”. They

amount fo:

Amounty m mdBao of s X S0
Dot o Credi instinion L] ¥
Depaorits B om Cusimers 557 555
Totsl repurchase s securities b g TR s

abobank provided interest-beaning secunities with a carrying
amaunt (equal to fair vabue) per December 31, 20210 of

EUR 716 million (3020; EUR 1,125 million] as collatedal for
repasrchase agreemants, The counterparty retains the right 1o
sell or re-pledge the securities, Rabobank performed these
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transactions subject to the normal conditions for standard
repurchase transactions and securities lending agreemeants.
The bank may pravide ar receive seourlties o cash as collateral
I the value of the securites changes. The securities have not
been de-recognized because almast all the associated risks and
benefits accrue to Rababank, including credit and marke rsks,
Aliability is recognized at a value equivabent to the amount
recalved as collateral,

51.3 Securitizations

As part Rabobank's financing activities and liguidity
management. andin order to reduce credit sk, cash Hows from
certain fimancial assets ane transferred to third parties {true
sale transactions ). Most of the financial assets subject to these
transactions have been mortgages and other loan portfallos
that have been transferred to a special purpose vehicle that
has subsegquently been consolidatied. Afer securitization, the
assets continue to be recognized in Rabobank's statement

of financial position, mainly unger "Loans and Advances

to Customers”. The securitized assets have been measured

in accordance with the accounting policles referred 1o in
Section 2.15.

The carrying amount of the iransferred financial assets
rolated Lo own-iiset securitization is EUR 91,189 million
{2020; EUR 81,004 million] with the comespoanding Hability
amounting to EUR 89,963 million [2020: BUR 79,118 million),
Appraximately B0% | 2030: 73%) af the transferred assels
have been securitized intemally for liquidity purposes, The
carrying amount of the assats whene Rabobank acts ax

a sponsor (Nieuw-Amsterdam] is EUR 2,404 million (2030:
EUR 1,941 millien) with the corresponding Hability amounting
to EUR 2,403 million (2020: EUR 1,941 milllan]. Rabobank
retains 5% 10 6% of the outstanding commerclal paper issued
Ty Misuw Amsterdam for regulatory purposes.

51.4 Carrying Amount of Financial Assets
Fledged as Collateral for (Contingent) Liabilities
The assetsrefemed to below have been pledged as collateral for
{contingent) liabilities {with axception of repa transactians,
securities lending and own-assel securitizations) with the
abjective of providing security for the counterparty. if
Rabobank wouwld enter into defawlt the counterparties may
s the security 1o selthe the debt,

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements
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52. Structured Entities

52.1 Consolidated Structured Entities

Acstruetured entity i an entity that i structuned 5o that
vating rights or comparable rights do not constitule the
dominant factor in determining who exercises control over the
entity. Rabobank uses structured entithes In order to securitize
martgages and other loan portfolios as part of is Ninancing
activities, liquidity management and in arder to reduce eredit
risk. Theloans are actually transferred to the struc tured entitias,
Owni-asset securitization is handled by Rabobank, Dbvion and
BLL. In addithen to providing cash facilities, Rabobank also acts
as a swap counterparty for all own-asset securitizations.

Rabobank acts as a spansar in Nieuw Amsterdam
Recelvables Corporation, Mieuw Amsterdam issued aiset-
backed commercial paper [ABCP) in various currencies and
provides Rabobank customiers access 1 liguidity through

the commercial paper market. Rabobank provides advice and
manages the program, markets ABCP, provides cash facilitles
and credit risk enhancements and ather facilities for the

Rabobank consolidates the own-asset secuwitization vehicles
and Meww Amsterdam because it is exposed to or entithed

1o fluctuating incame in respect of its imvolvement in these
entities. In acdition, Rababank also has the option te influence
the amount of the investorsincome by virtue of having contral
over the entities.

52.2 Non-Consolidated Structured Entities
Mon-consolidated structured entlties refer to all stuctured
antities aver which Rababank has no eantral. These interests
are comprised mainly of debt securities to securitization
wehicles and private equity interests. The amount of these
debt securities bs almost abways limited when companed

to the vehlcle's total assets. Rabobank wsually refinances
these secutitization vehicles by lssued debt securities or
credit Taeilities.

Tha following table lists the natune and risks of Rabobank's
Interests in non-consolidated structured entities, The size of
non-consolidated structurad entities generally reflects the
carrying amount of the assets and the contingent liabilities. The
maximum exposune equals the camying amount disclosed in

underlying transactiond and as well as fof the program itsell. the table bebaw.
At rE T g e
Aaers srrognirvd fry Rabofank Secun it [ril% Totad' L S St Otfsei Taral
Francisl assets heid for trading 5 £ 15 r ] 35
Timancisl suseey mandstcoly ot fairvlue 1 iy T3 " am A4
Derrtwathory. ] FL] it 1)
Losarns e VanoEs 10 Customess 547 542 Ba o
Francil sisesy it Tair vadue through oy 3 3 4 4
asproherlve ot
BveERLITETIL i O 1] L] FH 55 157 i
:;';'"""""'Ii et wot s gl e T 1,555 a7 1491
Linbadiries revagmaed by Radoband
Uerivatrors. - 40 u i
Depouity. bom cuvtomens m bl Frid am
Total Kabilitien. recognized by Rabobank 147 247 228 + 38

Inearme fradm Lpandored, nan-contalidated strsctured entities
in which Rababank holds no interest is 2eno (2020: nera),

53. Events after the Reporting
Period

Rabobank I3 closely manitoring the shuationwith regard 1o the
Rugsia-Ukraine conflict. It is to be deaply ragratted that, after
decades, the European continent is once again faced with such
vicdence, the heart-breaking situations and instabilty that this
lbrings. Like all other Ewropean banks, Rabobank implements

Hababank &nrasal Aeport 2001 - Comolidated Financial Satements

sanctiong, Foruses on continety in it eperations and supparts
impacted clients to the beit of its abilities, Thero will be impact
on global econgmy, Dutch econamy, Rabobank's clients and
Rabobank's financlal position, The severity of the impact s
curently unsure.
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54. Management Reporton
Internal Control over Financial
Reporting

Thie Managing Board of Rabobank is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate intemal control over
financial reporting. Management |s also respansible for the
preparation andfalr presentation of the Conselidated Financial
Stutements. Managerment Repoit Corpadate Gouvernance
Appendices Consolidated Finandial Statements Company
Fimancial 5tatements Other infarmaticn Rabobank Annual
Report 2021 - Consolidated Financial Statements 210 At the
end of the peried covered by this Annual Report, Rabobank's’
management carthed aut an evaluation, under the superision
and with the participation of its Chiel Executive Officer (CEO)
and Chiel FinancialCiticer (CFO), of the effectiveness of the
design and aperation of it's internal contral ever financial
reporting. Rabobank sintemal contrel over financial reporting
is a process designed, when working effective, to provide
measonable assurance regarding the rellabllity of financial
reporting for the preparation of its financial staternents for
axteinal purposes in sceasdance with generally sceepted
aceounting principles,

Allinternal control systems, no matter how well designed,
have imherent limitations. Due to the inherent limitations,
imternal contral aver finanelal reporting may not prevent of
detect misstatementi. AL the same limi, fulure projections
an the bask of any evaluation of the effectivenass of internal
contral are subject to the risk that the control measures may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions. or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

Mandgement has aiteised the elfectivieneds af Rabobank's
internal contral aver financial reporting as of December

31, 2021 imaccordance with the criteria set out in 2013

by the Committes of Sponsoting Oeganksations of the
Treadway Commission (C050), as defined in Internad Control -
Integrated Framewark

Based on that assessment, the Managing Board of Rabobank
concluded that, it maintained in all material aspects, effective
internal contral over financial reporting as of 31 December,
2021, in accordance with criteria established in the Internal
Control - Integrated Framewark issued in 2013 by the
Committee af Sponserng Organisations af the Treadway
Commission (CO50)

Habaobank Anmisl Aepart 2001 - Comsolidated Financlal Strtements

Corposnte Goverrance Cormolaivied Financisl Sahemants
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PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants MV, which has audited
the consolidated financial statements of Rabobank for the
fimancial year ended December 31, 2027, abso examined

management’s assessment of the effectiveness af the
internal eontral aver fimancial reporting in Rabobank . The

assurance repart of PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants NV,
s included on page 273,

‘Wiebe Draljer and Bas Brouwers

Utrechit, March 7, 2022

The above statemant on internal controds should not be

construed as a statement in respanse to the requirements
af section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Onley Act

219
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55. Authorization of the Financial
Statements

The financial statements were signed by the Supervisory
Baard and Managing Board an March 7. 2022, The financial
statements will be presented for adoption to the General
Meeting, to be held on Apeil 13, 2022, With regard to the
adoption of Rabobank's financial statements, the Articles

al Adieciation state: "The resalution to adapt the financial
slatements will be passed by an absolute majority of the votes
validly cast by the General Members” Council®,

Managing Board

Wiebe Draljer, Chaimman

[Bas Brouwers, CFO

[Els et Groot, CRO

Kirsten Konst, Member

Bart Lours, Member

Maridlle Lichtenberg, Member
Barry Marttin, Member

Janine Vos, Membar

Supervisory Board

Marjan Trampatter, Chair
Jan Neoltgedagt, Vice Chair
Gert-lan van dan Akker
Arian Kamp

Petri Halsté

Pascal Viste

Annet Aris

Mark Fensaert

Jaohan van Hall

Habaobank Anrisal Report 2001 - Cornalidated Financial Seatemendts
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Statement of Financial Position
(Before Profit Appropriation)

Seaterment of Financinl Pesition (Befiore Profit Apgrpriation)

Ariatt o oy of Fures L Devesber 37, 2001 Decermber ¥ 1 20N
Adzets

Cavh weed badunces a8 emirtval banks | (LA 1ona14
Shint Teem oerEnment papern d 23 )
Frofeuional securmes ransscion 15912 153

iher koans snd advances 5o chedi insitions: 153n TRAH

Loans aned sdvances fo credd e futions i 1,14 b}
Pulsbi secbor lerafing 1,748 1.7

Frivaie s lending 54T BETEL

Frofeuional secormes ranscion wim 1752

linany g addyanoes in i lnmery 1 L Eoarle i
rbareid bead ineg et uritied -] TIETA 3}
Shered [} 13 m
IterEST I roup Companies 1 15250 11586
her equity invetiments A 1585 1411
ool ancl othes inlangible asuety L i i
Tangisle Fard anisti i0 (51} PAz
Onher misenn 11 6ITH M
Detiwafires. 132 M7 1504
Prepay—enty snd soorued moome (0] a54
Total ssiats LA L
Libsfiniea

Frofenional seoermes ranscoons 1% asl

Oher Usbslities o credit irseutions L alazs

Doz ol imatitattions " rath Lk ]
Sanirga 145,548 1519

Frofeiibinl seuiet PRSI 12 (1]

Dmver O 10 MBI JVRAT LT

D b custoeren (1] e Ainans
Mt a1 it i i 16 BELERS AT
Dother halslitses 17 59511 &100Y
Deilwithess 12 B e Rik]
Aornaat andd dederred income 109 TAB:
Prosniona in il th ]
Subcethiruted fatelitiey 1% QERY TRARS

B21,4483 LibE1ny

Rarbobank Ceiomed THIS 1821

Capial Seourmes ALy 4487

iAo e vy FF s

gl s 7 (e

Dher (e IT 4 TToaT

Profitior de yea 550 Lo%s

L] i 42,000 #0,158
Tatal equaty and Babiliben [N BAE, M
Soisiingent Reiniet: .4 L .
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Statement of Income
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Staternent of Incame

vty m mulicen of guror Moy
Intrreit income i
LEIT ERpeTe il
Mt interetl BvDome n

e e ComET G LT p ]
Few andd comurission expene 1
tirt Frm and commivsion incsms a2

Incomie from equéy mbereti b

Gaina’ foaces) feve trading peertfolc
welth eteinal paitie

G oases) feoem rrading portioho
W (IO oA

Gasina/ Dosses] om irerstrmen portinia

Staff oot au
Cabiy sfminnieative exprrn

Depeciation

Operabing expendes

IrpaaaTresTl DN eSS iR pEtocisbey

Impaurrrent chamges an finanal s

Reguistary I »
Dpesating profit before Laxstion

ICoameE tan n
et profit

AR
1,40

5,754

PRl

arl
1,837

o s yapar vl 17 Dlecaprboy

S0
LR G H
LT
5ATY

L7

en

LRl

244

i

1,
k¥ ]
L]
3
LIag

A SELS
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements

1. Basis of Preparation

The company financial statements of Cobperatieve Rabobank
WA, a credit institution as referred to In Section 1:0 of the
Financial Supervishon Act, have bean prepared in accordance
with hocounting pulk!ie!-geﬁerillym‘.t-eﬂ'bcdin the Hetherlandi
and comply with the financial reporting requirements incheded
in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, Inaccondance
with subsection B of section 362 of Book 2 of the Dutch

Civil Code, the accounting poliches In the company financial
statements are the same as those used in preparing Rabobank's
consolidated financial statements, relerence s made ta
Section 2 “Accounting Palicies of the Consolidated Financial
Statements”, with one exception regarding the measurerment
of interests in group companies as these are measured at nat
assat valua, The hedge accounting entsies of the consolidated
financial statements have also been applied in the company
financial statements by using comblnation 3 (Option 3 R,

The Codperatieve Rabobank LA, and the legal entities and
companies that ferm @art of the groug, |5 an internaticnal
financial services provider operating on the basis of
cooperative principhes, Rab-obank has its reglste red office in
Amstescdarm and is registered under Chamber of commerce
number 30046255,

2. Risk Exposure on Financial
Instruments

abolbuank manages risks ar various levels within the
organication. At the highest level, the Managing Board |under
the superviiion of the Supervisory Board) determines the risk
strategy itwill pursue, therisk appetite, the policy ramework as
well as the limits. The Supervisory Board regulardy assesses the
risks attached to Rabobank's activities and porifolio. The Chief
IRisk Officer, as a Member of the Managhnsg Board, is responsible
far the risk management policy within Rababank.

Rabobank considers risks at company leviel the same as ks al
consolidated level, Please refor to Section 4 "Risk Exposure
on Financial Instruments” of the Consclidated Financial
Statements. Additional remarks on solvency on solo level are
presented below,

Habaobank &nmual Report 2001 - Compary Flnandclal S2atements

Solvency

Codperatieve Rabobank ULA {sala] must camply with a number
of minimum salvency positions as stipulated under law. The
sofvency position is determined on the basis of ratios, These
ratlos compare the qualifying capdtal (total capltal ratio), the
tier 1 capital (ter 1 ratio) and the core capital (common equity
tier 1 ratia] with the total of the ri'!l‘.‘-ldj'u:lﬂtf aisets The
minimum parcentages are determined an the basis of CRD
WACRR and reflect the application of article 1040 of the CARZ to
parthy fulfil the pillar 2 requirement with additional ther 1 and

tier 2 requirements.
Mindmiwm Capite! Buffer
Evredl
capial
CFTH  AFF  Tard T dwpareneni
Filat | requeemens A%%  150% AN 20w i
Fillar 2 requanerrent LA O 1NN Dadw 1
Capital cormmration bufler 159% - 1 - 148
Ceunterics ey LY n01s s
Roiafbaalred A TN AN AT TR

The CET1-ratio of Codperatieve Rabobank WA, [solo] is 16.2%
{2020 16.0%).

Legal and Arbitration Procesdings

Rabobank considers rigks regarding legal and arbitration
procesdings the same at comipany lewel as af condalidatod
level, For a description of these proceedings, see Section
4.10 “Legal and Arbitration Froceedings” in the Consolidated
Financial 5taternents. For legal and arbitration proceedings
related to Cobperatieve Aabobank LA, the following
amounts apply.

dymgasnry n mulbores of earos 2021 2000
Laypa peoeriioans 400 T
Conangera lsbdines 1] 1

235

481/559



EDINETOOOO

O00OO00O000000000000040d0(ee5923)

& Fa b Oher Infcomuation

Notes to the Statement of Financial Position

1. Cash and Balances at Central
Banks

This item consists of legal tender, of balances avallable
on demand with fareign central bhanks bn countries in
wihich Rabobank operates, as well a4 of a balance with De
Mederkandsche Bank (the Dutch Contral Bank) as required
under its minimum roserve policy,

2.  Short-term Government
Papers

This e relates to government securithes with an original
term to maturity of up to two years which the central bank in
the country of origin will redeem at a discount or accept as
collateral. The costand market value of short-term government
papers are virmually the same,

Aot i miiom of pems 0 Mg
Fetagn e in the tadiag polchia 1% 1
Tervogn sed in e mmoit el porilese 15 L]
Tatal shait W [y m 5Té

3. Loansand Advances to Credit
Institutions

This rtem represents loans and advances to other
credit institutions, other than in the form of interest-
Ibearing securities.

Aoty in miliony of paros 203 2000
Rcsaryy ard avargars. o it wed] inalitutiom Iaha) bR
Loans mnd adhanos 10 (U Cermaaries [ T* 1] [E P}
Tatal bsans ied adlviarss 1o oredit indtintions 31184 FLE
0 wrhich wihoerinaed

The ger s ol leana and s B Credit inFlitetion can b Beoken drwr
i lolow:

O dhereand L Fi TL343
£ 1 manthsy TIM BEET
= Jreontha g 1 yoer 887 4019
» 1 e 5 & yany 4578 BELH
» 5 yeary Lo w11
Mo et ity (FTE AT

_'mu"uu:ml sty amsad b oradin Indninstlana 1184 InsaT

Habaobank &nmual Report 2001 - Compary Flnandclal S2atements

The fair vallue of accepted collateral in the form of securities is
EUR 16,400 million 2020: EUR 15965 million],

4.  Loans and Advances to
Customers

This item consists of loans and advances arising in the course
of bustness operations, other than receiva bles from credit
institutions and interest-bearing securities.

Amnes o o of foros ax 200

Erealithoren of loars and sfvasdes 10 Cueilnmern

Pushlc secsoe levding 1,788 1728
Pravaie s o beeing AEAT ML T42
Frofriinnal S e RanG s 14,18 11400
Total keand sl advandes 15 cuslesrs LT TR AN
Totah inchuda:

(0 wich B FOdID TOmpan s ey Tl Lo
©d which martgages VIR TEFATY
Loans recogresed i the radieg postiolia a7 S8
Laany rerngrined m the inssdmend porfolo 151 (h
Laans dlin tha i delin ot faie

g ¥ 3 !

wnlue through profit o low o L
Loans 4 smeetiped cout Ip1A0P 00,019
Total brana sevd advances 1o custemers SAE, b ELEY

Tha fermi of loans and adwances can ba broken

derwn a foliow;

O chemanad aram 0
£ ¥ maiths 16,108 LLANE)
w3 i £ 1 year Fa i .55
v e 5 5y TRAN B3RS
* 5 peary 210452 N0ETY
Me aturity 1141 LELH
Leans af amortized coxt EE 40 400,118

Los= Iexcluding goverterent loam and ievens
wepor] can b classifurd oy Sollows by theh
atian in ypeciin busneis secters

Wscad s gl LFa] ™
Tirdele, rdusiry and wervioe. L %
Privats indievdualy. e ] ™~
Toial (L i

The fair value of accepted collateral in the form of securities is
EUR 12,456 millian (2020 EUR 18087 millivn].
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5. Interest-Bearing Securities Csran i vt i o
Equity nvestments i
Crwct imtriutionm i LT
This item represents inlerest-bearing securities other than Other evvitien 18,240 pLER

shori-term gavernment papers. Total 15,251 13,588

. Changi in equity inveilmenk:
Aoy in midon of eares 2o 2000

Caryineg imoum on Krnary | 13588 14077
ittt Adbdmions, capiial oot Bsains darmg the " P
Fublic stherine, amn oAt ruecial pear
Oother haueey &AL A TEE ‘e, cigponals and eubdations during the i
Tasalbmerest bearing securinies 77678 ST Srrxial prat

Frofit 1374 7H3
Brakdern of inereil Braring securiie Divic pital peimi — 1589 m
Braiing portioii rAZe L8 Beehafion m e
Inwestment porriolio .87 4238 i ' L]
mmmﬂh"hWM , " Carryineg amuting on December 31 18,251 15,988

ETE BT

8. Other Equity Investments

The pordsin sl includes

Soouritien inuserd by group companion [ K+ LT ]
This item Includes participating inberests in associates,
Linted portion of the pertiolo 11810 vue Particularly in Achmea BV,
e I et o R —_—
Amaunty m mdbam of v e
Totalintwrest-baaring secorties 1870 PPETES ¥ jarsn !
Eugully invmil=wnti in.
il PaIUDORS
ﬁ SharES irther prates 1580 151
* Tatsl cther squity e imants 1588 151

This itern consists of shares and other nonrintenest-bearing e =

Fi . I Carrying arnourd on dsuary 1 LEL} [F.EH
Ut mciuding temparary other inwisl b AUl ouerg the hramoal weai 13 4
o B Dzl karing 1he fessasrial yeai 1]

Aty i mikan of eaos Jot o0 Prafit! o e LEL]
This keaaks don 8y InSows; Brvatuation 11] an
rovesimend porticlia 3 ] e . {in
Inssemtient porriol 0 Tar vakee temagh peobt % i Dywidhend 45) L L4}
hakuad Carryissg amount on December 11 1,588 151
Tewfing porifalic 158 (154 -

Towl i i

Lrmed poetion ol Bhe sortiols 133 v

Mo baredd powitioe of e pezrriolo 11 TE

Tatal ¥ I

7. Interestsin Group Companies
This iem includes the interests held directly in
Qroup CHmpanies.,
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9. Intangible Assets

The Intangible assets mainky consist of software,

Aty i Mk of earos

EDINETOOOO
O00OO00O000000000000040d0(ee5923)
Oooooooa

Camying smount on Jarry 1 b1 ] ar
Aggqunliiorn cheing thy finangal year o 3 ¥
o Companies]
Aemqumhtiors during the financisl year e e
Déspenai dhorng the Fransial pear ity
QPO COmpTes|
Mispeeria churng the brascial prar 14 [
Deut ot [ 11
e parrnas vl Foased (20 m
Escharaje dilTerenuey s otier L n
Canryirg armount on December 31 Eii y
Rrrimmulated deprarishnn snd imga rment b [R1F] LI
10. Tangible Fixed Assets
Aty i i of nures B
Ll wrvel balding s 16 Dwh use L0 B
[Equigrmem i nzr
Faghl-of-ine oty e LAE]
Total tangible feed arists 1,233 1424
Liwd el
Aty in midiom of pevas beikdings in
o Frhusge=ssrt

Camyng srmount on Sy 1, 7031 (1] anr
Aegquei o chermg the frangual prar 1" L1
Diugpcriabi choring the b il prai & [#11]
Do el e [i-1) (L))
Frpaarrari boases. L1] i
Fararerial imyuainment lmnary n
il 1o ot st (L) *
Exchavnye differences and ather i &
Casryirsg mmouint on Decembar 31, 2031 e (L]
Accumilsmed depreclalion s gl rment lodsed (¥l 53
A i Al of Purtd
Carryng svount on Jarvaary T, 2000 1,153 Nz
Arquinltiors deeing the hransal year LH »
[ pcnaly chorng the francial year {Fi] (121]
Deprrciaton (L. 5] (L3
BT bosses 1naxm
Tranaiers 1o otheET B15ETH an -
[[acharape dilfferences and ocher 5] i id
Caaryimg ameount on Decembaer 11, 2000 L] nr

d drprecision end impar Lite S5
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11. Other Assets

This ftem relates o current and deferred tax assels and assets
that cannat be dlassified under any ather heading,

Amwounrs in milons of ruros Hn 20
Thiy item gam be brckes dormn a5 Solowy:

Crrer? tan asurty 1 Li:E]
Duiefreoed ik it 44 Pl
Employes besefas 3 3
Corvanadfinies arad warehoue Fecepns o 550 ki
rher LI LM b
Fizcal Unity for Corporate Tax Purposes

For conparate tax purposes Rabobank farms a fiscal unity with
anumber of demestic subsidiaries, Under this fiscal unity, each
participating legal entity is jointly and severally Hable for the
fiscal unity s corporate tax liabilites.
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12. Derivatives dmmacrv sallyry of gt Mosonet  Frvesies

Falared Bh Decisnbee 31, 3031 oy Aiiphi  Liabiltien

Derneatives hetd for neding
At i milice of Furce 0 200 o AANTOR1  fe0dm 11ASD
P Lrided LEET ] ] 1
Thit mermcan bee brcken dow 8 fallowa levteredn Fale ConATACL ASIOTEZ  TROZF 11453
[Derivanree contracts with thisd pamies: 1507 AN
f e : . ey i oTe AMAN 1M AR
Tatal darivatives 20517 32548 hico 1

Currency cortragiy 479,400 21N LK ]
Liakslithry
Thibk e can b becken deowe i Rellows: Cordt dertuatrves L1176 iy n
Dt wat e Contraats withs Theed parties 13577 HEBS
Deeriwativ Craracts with sy Comoan ks L] 1 oT 15873 ] 07
Tatal derivatives 7 mana Lnbert +

Dther contracta 14,873 509 [

The table below shows the national amaunts and the positive

Dot elesigra i @i fodgiog matramion?
and negative fair values of Rabobank's derivative confracts b o o

- dhesguated as kg in tair vilue hedges
Wit Ihed Darties. Interey] rate COMTAC: SH520 29 “
Currerey roniracty mAM 1241 LF3
LESLE ] 1720 ¥
[herivatives deugmaled ay hedying imbrumess in cah fow hedge
CLRTEmCy CORTREL 180 12 1
Total derivatives with thisd pasties EATLEE4  IRSE2  1BSTT
At i Moo of furns Mestoral Fier vl
Balance on Decessber 11, 2020 el dgen Llsddhries
Devfvatives heid for trading
o A0G5 158 LE53 15798
Listead NDEESD . .
Inerean pale conarects AN90,0P0  IOGED 15T
omc Janged 6738 raa]
Lnded =
Curreney contracty HAA bed ETEA Tk
Crecdd dervabiven 1,001 120 13
o A5 Fat i
Liited a
Dher camIradti @57 257 XN
Derfeatives designated as bedging inatrument
Dermvcatived clengmated ai Fedarg mtrment o B vl fedgel
e raiE coniTacs VI3 1,633 162
iy COMIRRCTE 55880 1B 50
LELR ) E7ED a1y
Devnuertives devignated s tedging imirament in oy Bow hedges
Crrray coniracty 175 i i H
Totsl desivatives with thisd pasties ATILTH  BLENY FLAE L
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13. Trading and Investment 14. Due to Credit Institutions
Portfolios

Thisitem represents amounis owed 12 credit institutions, other
than debt securitics and subordinated debit, of which:

Dreakdown af Trading and fnvestment Portfalio

At in miion of svos o) 200
Trading porticli Aemouers in milons of puros 2031 208
Siriiam " 5 e o gt mibiatons 14,053 1188
Losang e BIVANCES 10 CLA LT a7 SE Due togrng companies 4395 L1
Pt i La18 Monetary inctnamaents of eontial kanka EERR 40018
Thares 1% 1y Due toothes BTy HieeIrseilE H &5
Total trasing partiali 2403 2541 Totsl due ta credi naalvations. T 585 B1.TES
Serws et povticl O demand %5 (R
T GV P P i £ 3 maniha, L] B8
Intereibearireg securit 78,183 523810 = 1 manthe 1 year 235 L
- = o = | e 1 Bywans 500 42008
Loans and advances io cus e 15 i >ipmn i 5
Tosslh — T a1 i mmaturity T3 0557
Total dus ta credd imtitation TG 61T
Inchidesd m the isvwestmend portiolony of
ety [AE1L] T
15. Due to Customers
Changes i 1he inwevimeent polibs
[Balance on lanuary 1 a1 LT
Foreign exchange diflerences e (R This item consists of amounts due bo customers othed
Bequahtiarm sheing The frasisl year FIET ] LT than debt securities. Due 1o custemers also includes the
Diszsedafi dhuring the beaerial ymat LRE L] el investmants of central banks amounting to EUR 16 billion
Tan walue changes el 1T 120200 EUR 12 billonk
Onher ELY {18
Hinlance on Drcerber 11 oA LERE
At in milen oF fno 20 g
PRI M) AR D L cither cunlomens ELR TR 134,005
rokeris dhirvti a3 Pl D 12 ety LTS A2 11082
O derrand m by | e o other ety investmes SR A1
& A manths 417 11} Tatsl dus ta customern 64, 5EY A%EEAE
3 A rartha o 1 pear L1 Wi
P PNy g A Do b other custamers comprises all deposits and savings
] T s
;n::'m = accounts of natural persons, non-prafit making associations
1
e A . n i i i
¥ AT and foundations, as wellas nan-transderable savings bonds
Inizment portiolin at fak vabue thicugh profit At i) Ml of fure 200 0%
L O chemman AT s
Interr-bearing secunbes ! b § 2 ot 8373 nal
e 19 . » dmoitha s pear 434 1124
o il e > yeur = Sywans FAT w21
Mh::unipﬂibﬂullwmw e . - =T e
e mrsrturity 1599 i
Total dur bz cusbomen. 384,540 azema
Habobank &nmual Report 2001 - Compary Financial Satements. 0
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16. Debt Securities in |ssue Other Provisians
Prowios
buhrh“ b
Aot m mulam of reanm a“r.l' Db ol

This e redates to nan-subordinated bonds and other

interest-bearing seeuritios, such as certificates of deposit. ittt . SR e
debed ey ad asi aid i
- Wathsdram sl Wi ogm m 0n
Amourni in médfom of paras 203 g Eeeairy e L} an o
Tradeable debt wedurtey BT L Closlng balsnie onDadambes 113 oo o e
Crthver dheit seucities 9 A A=
Tatal dabt sasiritionin linus TR #5571
Openirg balince on linusry 1,300 381 163 ®
Db 4348 178 ions L s bl mn
-4 ot e Adm Witheiramaly e @m BRI
» Imonths s 1 yesr 0998 13435 Reizonry L] Lo UL T
3 1 yaae < S ymany HATE T m""‘““m“ 278 73 8 m
P 21,130 FLAB —
Total dabit sscaiiBes in lisus PTRTTY 95571

19. Subordinated Liabilities
17. Other Liabilities

This represents the loans relating to the issue of

This item includes Nabdlites that cannot be classified subordinated loans.
unider any other heading, such as liabilites associated with
aeciiiitized eslvalbles, cuifent thees, dhift poditiont on St ek of vt o P
securities, labilities lor stall costs, and creditors, A year-end Sislosilantid Hsifi EL ] 13488
030, approximately EUR 54 billign in Rabobank mortgages Batance on 31 Decemmber R 1R
ware sacuritized,

In the following tabde detalls of the issees of subordinated
PO T T e Fer a8 liabilities are shawn:
This ittt Lar b lirsiers dovan a3 ol
Liabities associaed wich seourinized receivables 51574 LTk FY
PR T ity . Suhordinated Liabilities
Oother fuatatitrs 5510 L1685 Hotionel
Tolhdakeshedirinn LT xR ]

Pmsinti o il Canramsiy Lt T ] B it ity

18. Provisions 2 o, I e
e 2004
1500 D Lriw o] e
Amoumts m ik of guras 0 2050 1o i e atar ol
R 1156 150 £ 1e% 2515 A4S
mm'“rﬁff:";.m” o o e 1000 [ AEFEW 4 o
Fromanion for defermed tam labdities - M S0800 Y LA k. L]
p i 1o laan 1and v . s i 1ATI% 2008 Fi
et el e 345 s aarn w3 EeT
e il et i 1258 1550 5T5% M3 1041
Yatal provisloans Ll - 0% R FRFSTY F 21
Ll ] Gobe Lrvw b m¥r
Pravision for Employee Benelits o ush 1w o TH ma
The prowision for employee benefits consiits of a provision for L L dliw ok Hat
pension plans of EUR B4 million (2020: EUR 96 million) and i HE i i i
al ather poit-refiremsnt prowvisions of EUR 84 millian (20H:
EUR 7% million].
Hisbobank Anrual Beport 2031 - Comparry Financlal Saatements 1
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20. Equity Capital Secutities
Awerur in i of rum 2031 2000
Wrrrprme U e as lolbines
Aty in milier of aros o 2000 Ealance o lanuary | 4482 5364
Tl Dbl o as ol hnuance of Capital Securties 150 1000
Fabobank Certcmes 1825 tanr Tty of |untn of C apilad Securitio i =
Capaal Seourmes 1578 danr Redermption of Cagisl Secuities 1,383 10,760
Fevabiatizn re vy i ifa Other 1 nn
Logal rearvers " o6 Badansm om Decembuar 31 L¥78 s
[T 2304 1087
Ex’" oo e Pevaluation Reserves
Aot in milons of rars 2031 2000
Rabobank Certficates The revahustion reaerves can be ipes fied
Rabobank Certificates rapresent participation dghts isswed S
Iy Rababark wia the foundation Sthchting Administratie t:rx [::I ::-'I
Kantoor Rabobank Certificaten |AK Foundation) and belong i el i b ban T i
to Rabohank's Comman Equity Tier 1 capital. Rabobank e . "
Certificates are listed on Evronext Amsterdam, Firial rirvalontien resarves FT e
The total number of certificates Is 313,005461 with a rrmenti miew o ol
mominal value of EUR 25 each. Rabobank's sctual payment Ralance on lanuary | 17 =
paliey puriuant 1o the Participation Rules i respect of 1he Gophangn retn iffeeenca - an
participation issued by Rabobank (and via AK Foundation i s s L
respect of the Rababank Certificates) can be found an the i S o o
Rabobank website, pearpifyc by = i

As 4 result of the announcerment by the ECB that it wauld not
extend the recommendation to limit dividend distributions
bﬂ:.-nnd September 30, 2071, Rabaobank made an excoplional
quarterky distribution of EUR 1.21478 per Rabobank Certificate
on December 29, 2021 and relterated its intention to revert to
lts payment policy thereafter.

Thie cashy distribsution paid per certificate in 2021 was EUR 1 625,
The amaunts listed in the table below ame based an the nominal
vl of EUR 25 por Rabobank Certificate, Cash Mows arising
from changes during the year in the Rabobank Certificates are
inchuded in the consolkdated statement of cash flows,

Rabobank Cerfificates

Aty m miliom of rema ST S0
Charss during e prar

Dp=nineg halance TAZT T
Dastribution in the form of Rabobank Certificates . Ine
Cruanges Btk ardeste, e the pear 1 %
_\'.'Iﬂrghhn TS Tmax

Capital Securities

Forissues and sedemptions, please refer to Section 32 "Capital
Securities” of the Consalidated Financial Statements.

Habaobank &nmual Report 2001 - Compary Flnandclal S2atements

Rabobank's cash flow hedges mainly consist of hedges of the
margin af issued bonds in foreign cumency hedged with cross-
currency Imborest rate swaps to protect against a potential
change in cash flows due to change in foreign currency rates.
Rabobank assesses the hedge effectiveness on the basls of
statlstical regression analysis models, both prospectively and
retraspectively for 145 39 cash flow hedges and analyses the
saunces of ineffectiveness lor IFRS § cash flow hedges. The IFRS
G cash flow hedges ane 100% effective.
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Lagal Reserves

Asmisti i miligai of fard S0 M
Thi beig il #o s raes ¢ B e ified g ol

Bertained profits of investmaents. in ssuockaet &05 oy
Soliware devsoped ivhouse e My
Tranalation difference L] A1
Tatal begal reied v LIS (-
Amoirst m midiern of rercu X 2050
Mazertrean il e ik Pl

Balahie on Laimiaty | L] {106
o othes reserves o egal reserves (L] 4]
Encharapy rate diffimencey a4 e
Balance cn Decornber 3 ir e
Other Reserves

-N;;w.-n o o) of fuTaE 0 Y .‘EN_
The cthee reverves can be ipecifed o fobows:

IR it agon of pendond IEEi] [1Ea}]
mmma—_mmmmmnn 11301 04
(i il habilities deiignatied i Rar vabor

PRetiried sainig 2REEY MWT
Taual other reerves AT. D84 ITaT
il in il of farad JH g
hcsprma i in i pecalihiation of pentierd

[Balsnor om Jarary 1 [ial] ho
Fevalimatn of penege (F] in
Balancs en Decorbrar 51 LREET] (LAl
Mlowprmm it in the lair walue changes due 1o cwn

wredit risk an fnancial lisbdibes devgoated af

Tair value:

Rslsnce on lamuary 1 1109 (i1
Fain wulug rhanges i L3
Fezliration i derecagniiess i i
Balangs o Decersbier 11 113 LhE - o)
Aemirt i e of Farod MH 200
Ly P L P T e o

Balsnoe on Lanuary 1 ey TR
Profit for previows inancisl yoar LEH FAL
Dismrinunies 13 thied parties -] [k o]
Tranatesed o legal reverves nsm o
Tranafemrd o revabiation rearrees a8 ]
Fardempbion of Capial Seourdes an [LF]
Dispccial of adacts an

Dimripution s the foim of Rabobank Cenificates . Lh
Oaher changes F§ Fd]
Balance o Drcamber 31 ar.set iraad

Thie riierwis cannat ba distiibuted amang membars, The
Consolidated Financial Statements of Rabobank include the
financial information of Rabobank and other group companies,

Habobank &nmual Report 2001 - Compary Financial Satements.

Rabobank’s consolidated net profit was EUR 3,652 million
12020 EUR 1,096 millkon): Rabobank's net profit in the
campany financial statements was EUR 3,5% million (2020
EUR 1,055 million), The difference of EUR 96 million (2020;
ELIR 41 milliani represents profit attibuted to the ather nan-
contralling ntorests,

The table below shows the reconcillation betwesn the equity
of Cobperatieve Rabobank ULA. and consalidated equity:

Armearemn mulam of i Jodo

fapuity o abuarik sycosbing b Part Buf Bk 3 of

the Dhach Civ Code i

Sien-rontrodlng ety 0% i

Ay accisbig b IS O LM TMS S as4mr enam
3
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Notes to the Statement of Income

21. Net Interest Income

Aoy in Mo of eares

Isferen incame

Cavh srd Eanh equevalenty

Lo % fanim 1 crm instiutioni

Lwainn i advandes 1 Custamers

Deviwat e wned fov L wabue Feedge sccouning

Wrwnoual aasety b ey vlue through ot
coesprehernlve oo

Arberaan g ges frses inancial mssets auieg the
afective inbereil mathod

Frwniokal sssen held for iradieg
Dervatrers har'd sn sconnm hedges
Merwancial suwrt mandatoridy at fair veher

il il inurie: o frcw el el sl with a
megative interet reie

Drther
Okt irilefesl ihiome
Totsl eest incgms

IstereH qupEniE

Diepueradiy depien vl b iiona
Dwpouity o customent
Dbttt it i i

Franoial batsloies held for rading
WFrwnoid batel sy desgnabed al fae value
Suboenirated abisies

Irilisi will e Pruinial miirts with

Intermas rate

Cher

Tatal intesest rxperns
M interesl incoms

Habaobank &nmual Report 2001 - Compary Flnandclal S2atements

2o

m
1A
1485

e
56

40

22. Net Fee and Commission Income

PuacPuares anvd sabe of othes Snaercial sssetd and
haning e

Uil d Cominian ] 1
Criver COMUMRISIoN INCOIME = QIOUD COManits 2 ]
Dher commetsion income Lh ) (21
Total fve and commiusion ncome Liow 17

Fes and commbiakin expense

Payriwnt wrwe. ]
HareHinag lown 1]
Cunnoukal feed and serwites sehacet "
ither comr T - TR TR F2]
DAher Emimnsn srpsia “
Tatal fes and comminsion expenis ke
unluudmm Lap

Eﬁz':..uﬁ

23. Income from Equity Interests

Aty i o of roros Hxl 2oxa
[Diwithersd i i T ihares

Rt droem Irvteresin. i GroiaD CoeTRanees 13 7HI
Eewitydmm aike equesy inwedmeneh (i1 ] ]
Bttt friom diicssted milermatd - [}
bt onissblcclae s ol deisiaia i s o L8

24, Staff Costs

Armoaanes i Ml of fod 20 20x
‘Wages arcl walanier Lo 1.5
Socisl ity i I eoidy Ik i
Pevisnn cedld m 355
Trabtveng aral raerilng eapesiiey " T
Other ¥ covly L1] are

Total viaff coste L5T® b8

The average number of internal and external employees 35,372
{2021 35,920), of which outside the Nethedands 3,002 | 2020
3,363), Expiessed in FTEs, the average number of internal and
ectornal emplayess was 33,563 (2020: 14,484).
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25. Regulatory Levies

The regulatory kevies consit of bank tax, bank levies and

contributions to the Single Resslution Fund and the Depasit

Gaarantes Scheme,

it i Pl of Paros

Bark taw Wetherlandds

[Barrib taw other coumines
Lentringon Singte PrichAon Fusd
L s, Depenit L Fund
Regulitory bevhes

Habobank &nmual Report 2001 - Compary Financial Satements.
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26, Income Tax
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The major camponents of the incoms tax are included below.

PR ——
e 1an

Rporting periosd
Srprinmerny of v ous peart
Defereed tax

Toisl ssome tax

[ifective taw eabe
Apploatile tax rake

S0 o

AT an
] i
143 naa
A L]
s T
s Fel

The ellective tax rate differs frorm the applicable ax mte in
2021 mainly because of the net inclusion of income fram
group entities and the deduction of interest payments an

Capital Securities.

The effective tax rate was | 1.2% (2020: 7.0%} and differs from
the theoretical rate that would srise using the Dutch corposate
tax rate. This difference i explained as fallows:

ey in mutons of fos
Dparwtng prof belose tazatinn
Appleatie b iabs

it v | e fedrion i Nikiorn
srsubiinag tram:

Tayauremd oo
g of furrign Lan gabey
Hen-deduibie eapermici

Secogrinon of previcasty
wrrmLog i Lax knsea

Dty permanent diflerences
Addpatmany of peevous years
Acpttmen cho to change m

Nl WS

Weske-dhown defermed i therms
Cither non-reusring L e
Tatal income tax
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Other Notes to the Financial Statements

27. Professional Securities
Transactions and Assets Not
Freely Available

Ravarse repurchase tramsactons and securithes bomowing
agrecments concleded h,r Rabobank are included under
“Loans and advances ta credit institutions” or "Loans and
advances o customerns”,

ey i milon of faros 0 20
Lowny wnd advances o credit institubon 15511 15.200
Lsany and advances 0 cus lomens ACAF 1140
Total 30041 3271

Rapurchase transactions and securitios lending agreements
concluded by Rabobank are included wnder “Due to credit
imstinatbons® and “Due to customerns”

srouchmmibem cfeses 01 e
D 1w Lol bt bty 1:1] an
Dt 1 CUMIETEES {F] (1]
Total ¥ oM

The assets referred to in the table below [with exception

of professional securities transactions) were pravided to
counterpartieg as spcunty tor (contingent] lakidlites, If
Rabobankwould enterinte default, the counterpartics may use
the security to settle the debt.

it i il of rero X M
Ausets pot Beely avellabibs:  Rabated to type of Kabilities
Lowny wrad advances o

B i Derivatieri T44) 204
Lioany @l advanoe [ b rusinmers. Oebe
o iy wetutithes i haue b L
nberest-bearing seoarites Do B0 CUSIDMER, 168 1074
Taital 2, 580 LD

Habaobank &nmual Report 2001 - Compary Flnandclal S2atements

28. Contingent Liabilities

Rabobank enters into irrevocable loan commitments as well
as contingent labilities consksting of finandal guarantees and
standiy letters of cradit on behalf of its customers, Under
theds contracts Rabobank is required to |:|¢lf|:m‘|‘| under an
obligation agreement or to make payments to the beneficiary
on third party's failure fo meet its obligations, The fallowing
table shows the amount of the maximum poteniial wilization
of contingent Habdlities,

Aimgurity i mlians of nems o 008
Costingn Rabdlites consist of:

Feraraial guarariesy (22 2] 3977
Loan commitmenty ALI5 e
Other commetrmaniy Har FIR T
Tutal contingent lishilities FTRIE] BB, 184
O e By

S e s Pl

Liatility Undertakings

Pursuant to Section 403 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Codae,
Rabobank has assumed lability lor the debts arksing from the
legal ransactions of the fellowing group companies:

Hodemgoed BV

D Lagge Landen America Holdings B

Dbe byt Latscten Do pimate: Frrisos B

e Lagee Landen intemationsd B,

e Laage Landlen Mencdoriesas BV

Fideaal 1LY,

Rl Dzt Finawcbering B Y

Raba Factaing B4

Rabo Financial Solutions Hodding &Y.

Habs Finarcieringurastar hapys) L7
«  Raboe Groes Bink BV,

Rabo Leawe BY.

Rabio Meschant Bank MV,

Habo Wartgoed Lesae .

ik bedeimi ool Hel i 100

Rabobank issued a liquidity guarantoe for Rabo GroonBank BV,

Fiscal Unity for Corporate Tax Purposes

Far conporate Lax purposes Rabobank farms a fiscal ity with
a numbed of damedtic subildiarias. Undor the fseal unll‘r_. fach
participating legal entity is jointly and severally Rakde for the
fiscal unity s corporate tax liabilities.
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29. Principal Group Companies

I 2021, none af this groug companies expersnced any
significant restrictions in the payment of dividends ar the
redemption of loans and repaymant of advances. The option
of group companies to pay dividend to Rabobank depends
on various factors, including lodal regulatory regquirements,
statutony reserves and financial performance.

O Covcmrer &1, 3631 Shars Vatingrighty
Frine il prongy cormpervars

The Betheslands

DLL Intesmational BV 100%: 100
P Fympe Y 00 0
Direacon fAL 100 A
e ith America

Utrechs Amewica Holdings Inc. 100 100
Rustralls snd Maw Dealand

kabotank Auyvrsia Limaed 1007 100%
Fabobank Mew Tealand Limited [0 i

30.Remuneration of the Supervisory
Board and the Managing Board

The members of the Managing Board and the Supervisory
Board are listed in Section 33, The infermation on
remuneration of the members of the Managing Board and
the Supervisary Board is included in Section 43 Remuneration
al thie SIJpclru'lanl Board and the Managing Boand™ in the
Consolidated Financial Statements,

31. Proposals Regarding the
Appropriation of Available Profit
for Rabobank

OF the profit of ELIR 3,556 million, EUR 686 million is payable to
the holders of Capital Securities in accordance with Managing
Board resolutions, Rabobank proposes to add the remalnder of
the prafit to the general reserves beld by Rabobank

32.Events Afterthe Reporting Period

Rabotank s closely manltoring the siuationwith regard 1o the
Russla-Ukraine conflict It is ta be deeply regretted that, after
decades, the European continent is once again laced with such
vighence, the heart-breaking tituations and inttability that this
lbrings. Like all other Ewropean banks, Rabobank implements
sanctions, focuses on continuity in its operatiens and supports

Hababank Anrissl Aepart 2001 - Compary Financial Satements

Impacied clients to the best of its abilities. There will be Impact
on global econamy, Dutch econamy, Rababank's clients and
Rabobank's financial pasitien, The severity of the impact is
currently whsune.
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33. Authorization of the
Financial Statements

The financial statements were signed by the Supervisary
Baard and Managing Board on March 7. 2022, The financial
statements will be presented for adoption te the General
Meeting, to be held on Apeil 13, 2022, With regard to the
adoption of the financial statements of Rabobank, the Articles
of Asiociation state: "The resalution to adopt the fmancial
slatements will be passed by an absolute majority of the voles
validly cast by the General Members” Counci”

Managing Board

‘Wiebe Draljer, Chaimman

IRas Brauwers, CFO

[Els de Groot, CRO

Kirsten Konst. Member

Bart Lours, Wember

Mariglle Lichtenbery, Member
Barry Marttin, Member
Janine Vos, Member

Supervivory Board

Marjan Trampetter, Chair
Jan Neoitgedagt, Vice Chair
Gart-lan van den Akker
Arian Kamp

Petri Hofsté

Pascal Visde

Annaot Aris

Mark PFensaert

Jahan van Hall

Habaobank Anriual Report 2001 - Comparny Rinancial Seatements
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(IFRS)
(IFRS) ( N
2021 12 31
2021 12 31
@
(1AS1.38, 38A)
[O) 1 2 1
(1AS1.10)
2
3 i3
H 1
1
IFRS
2
2
3
(©))
(1AS1.87)
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(IFRS)

()
(IFRS10.7) 6

IFRS10, B22, B47
IFRS 10

IFRS10, B41, B42

IFRS10, 18, B58

5) IFRS10 A 14
IFRS 10

Y
>

25
BA

IFRS10, 31-33

IFRS

roll-

up
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(IFRS)
(
6) 7-2
SPE —
SE
— SE
(IFRS10.7)
)
/
IFRS11.20, 24
®
1)
IFRS3.19, 32
20
2)
IFRS
(©)] 20

(IFRS3.B63(a),
1AS36.88,90)

(10)

(1AS38.52-62)
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(IFRS)

( )
1y
(1AS23.5,8)
12) 1AS 37

IAS 37

(1AS16.16(C), 18,
1AS37.10, 14, 19,
45, 47, 1FRIC1.3,
8) CF

13)

(1AS16.29-31,
1AS38.72, 75)

(14)

(1AS40.30)

(15)

(1AS40.33, 35,
53A, 53B, 54)
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(IFRS)

(16)

(1AS36.59)

an

(1AS36.110, 117,
124)

502/559



EDINETOOOO
O000DO00oDO000o0Oo00oOodnoE.s23)

OooooOodd
(IFRS)
( )
(18)
(IFRS 16.6,8,23,
24, 26)
90
12 H
75
G
300
19
IAS 16
(IFRS 16.31)
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(IFRS)

(20)

(IFRS 16.32)

@1

(IFRS 16.61-65)

18
(22)
(IFRS 16.67, @
A)
@
A
(23)
(IFRS 16.81)
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Independent auditor’ s report

To: The General Members Council and Supervisory Board of Codperatieve Rabobank U.A.

Report on the financial statements 2021

Our opinion

In our opinion:
the consolidated financial statements of Codperatieve Rabobank U.A. together with its subsidiaries (‘the Group’, ‘ Rabobank’ or ‘the
Bank’) give atrue and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and of its result and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (‘ EU-IFRS') and
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; and
the company financial statements of Codperatieve Rabobank U.A. (‘the Company’) give atrue and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and of its result for the year then ended in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch
Civil Code.

What we have audited
We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2021 of Cotperatieve Rabobank U.A., Amsterdam. The financial statements include
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the company financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements comprise:
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;
the following statements for 2021: the consolidated statement of income, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows; and
the notes to the consolidated financia statements, comprising accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The company financial statements comprise:
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
the statement of income for the year then ended; and
the notes to the company financial statements, comprising the accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework applied in the preparation of the financial statementsis EU-IFRS and the relevant provisions of Part 9 of
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for the consolidated financial statements and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for the company
financial statements.

The basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. We have further described our
responsibilities under those standards in the section ‘ Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of Codperatieve Rabobank U.A. in accordance with the European Union Regulation on specific requirements regarding
statutory audit of public-interest entities, the *Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the ‘Verordening
inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assuranceopdrachten’ (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, aregulation with
respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the *
Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).
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Our audit approach

We designed our audit procedures with respect to the key audit matters, fraud and going concern, and the matters resulting from that, in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as awhole and in forming our opinion thereon. The information in support of our opinion, like
our findings and observations related to individual key audit matters, the audit approach fraud risk and the audit approach going concern was
addressed in this context, and we do not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Overview and context

Rabobank is an international bank operating on the basis of cooperative principles. Rabobank operates globally in 37 countries with afocus
on universal banking in the Netherlands and food and agricultural financing in the Netherlands and abroad. Its operations include domestic
retail banking, wholesale banking, international rural banking, leasing and real estate. As the Group comprises multiple components, we
considered our group audit scope and approach as set out in the section ‘ The scope of our group audit’.

Rabobank operates in a challenging environment due to the continuing low interest environment, the financial and operational impact of the
coronavirus pandemic (‘ Covid-19'), increasing inflation, geopolitical tensions, changes to customer preferences (partly prompted by Covid-
19 lockdowns) which require ongoing investments in digitization and high expectations from society towards compliance with laws and
regulations. The reliability of information processing is significant to the Group’s operational, regulatory and financial reporting processes
and we have therefore identified the design and effectiveness of IT general controls as a key audit matter.

Furthermore, there is an industry risk that emerging compliance areas have not or not sufficiently been identified and/or addressed by
management for financial statement purposes. This includes considerations regarding the need for the recognition of a provision or a
contingent liability disclosure on the future outcome of further punitive enforcement procedures following the instruction that was received
from De Nederlandsche Bank NVV. (DNB) on 23 December 2021 in which DNB determined that Rabobank did not meet the requirements of
the Dutch Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorist

Financing Act (Wet ter voorkoming van witwassen en financiering van terrorisme, Wwft). We also identified matters relating to client care
exposures. The Bank identified that it did not consistently adjust the interest rate of certain consumer credit products in accordance with the
reference rate selected by Kifid. Consequently, we have identified regulatory and client care exposures as a key audit matter.

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In
particular, we considered where the Managing Board made important judgements, for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. In paragraph ‘ Judgements and Estimates in
note 2.1 to the financial statements, the Bank describes the areas of judgement in applying accounting policies and the key sources of
estimation uncertainty. Of the estimates and judgements mentioned in this paragraph, we considered the impairment allowances on loans and
advances to customers a key audit matter, given the significant estimation uncertainty in combination with the magnitude. The continuing
economic uncertainty due to Covid-19 has heightened the impact of certain estimations and judgements made by the Group, specifically
towards forward-looking assumptions applied to the probability of default and the associated macroeconomic scenarios across the Group’'s
loan portfalio.

Other areas of focus, that were not considered to be key audit matters, were revenue recognition, management override of controls, fair value
of financial instruments (more specifically level 2 and level 3 financial instruments including debit/credit valuation adjustments), hedge
accounting, recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets, investments in associates and buildings, taxation (more specifically
valuation of deferred tax assets), litigation and other provisions , and accounting for the Bank’s benefits from participating in Targeted
Longer-Term Refinancing Operations (‘ TLTRO- [11"). Though these are areas of focusin our audit, they were not the matters of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period.
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The uncertainty within the current environment and the unprecedented impact of the Covid-19 pandemic continued to add complexity and

challenges when auditing accounting estimates such as impairment allowances on loans and advances to customers, impairment assessments
on goodwill, buildings, the Bank’s equity investment in AchmeaBV. and accounting for the benefits from the Bank's participation in
TLTRO-III. Our procedures include assessments of these accounting matters and the relevant disclosures in the financial statementsin
accordance with the financial reporting framework applied by the Bank. We refer to the section on key audit matters for procedures
performed on impairment allowances on loans and advances to customers.

The engagement team considered the impact of risks resulting from climate change on the audit. These risks impact the financia statements
mostly as one of the potential drivers of credit risk exposures of the Group. We therefore did not identify climate-related risks as a separate
key audit matter but took this into account as part of the key audit matter on impairment allowances on loans and advances to customers.

We ensured that the audit teams, both at group and at component levels, collectively contain the appropriate skills and competences which
are needed for the audit of abank. We therefore included specialists and experts in the areas of 1T, taxation, forensics, valuation of financial
instruments, real estate and employee benefits, macroeconomic forecasting and hedge accounting in our team.

The outline of our audit approach was as follows:

Materiality
Overall materiality: €175 million (2020: €120 million).

Aijdif-éb'dbé ........................................................................................
We conducted audit work on 15 components.
Video conferencing meetings with the component teams and |ocal Rabobank
management in the following locations: the Netherlands, USA, Australia,
New Zealand and Brazil.
For the significant components, we have gained digital access to component
files and performed aremote review of selected working papers of the work
performed by component auditors. With respect to Achmea, we performed a
physical review of selected working papers of the work performed.
Audit coverage: 93% of total assets, 94% of profit before tax and 94% of net
interest income.

Key s
Impairment allowances on loans and advances to customers.
Regulatory and client care exposures.
Design and effectiveness of IT general controls.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by the application of materiality, which isfurther explained in the section * Our responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall materiality for the
financial statements as awhole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and to evaluate the effect of
identified misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the financial statements as awhole and on our opinion.
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Overall group materiality €175 million (2020: €120 million).
" Basisfor determining We used our professional judgement to determine overall materiality. Asabasisforour
materiality judgement, we used 5% of the weighted average of profit before tax of the current and

previous two years with the current year receiving higher weight in the measurement of
materiality aswe consider the current year to be more relevant.
Therefore, 2019 and 2020 profit before tax each represent 25% of the weighted average,
whereas 2021 profit before tax represents 50%. Compared to last year, our basis for
determining materiality remained unchanged.

" Rationalefor benchmark We used profit before tax as the primary benchmark, a generally accepted auditing practice,

applied based on our analysis of the common information needs of users of the financia statements.

On this basis, we believe that profit before tax is an important metric for the financia
performance of the Bank and is widely used within the industry. We applied a three-year
average of profit before tax as outlined above. Applying a multi-year average benchmark
for materiality responds to adverse economic trends and volatility in profit before tax from
year to year attributable to the impact of Covid-19, which also reflects the Bank’s scale of
operations.
Furthermore, we utilised a 5% threshold, based on our professional judgement, noting itis
within the range of commonly acceptabl e thresholds and the predominant threshold used
for abank with similar characteristics.

Component materiality To each component in our audit scope, we allocated, based on our
judgement, materiality that islessthan our overall group materiality. The
range of materiality allocated across components was between €32.5
million and €80 million.

We also take misstatements and/or possible misstatements into account that, in our judgement, are material for qualitative reasons. Examples
of areas that we focused on due to qualitative reasons are the accuracy of disclosures on impairment allowances on loans and advances to
customers, fair value, recoverability of investments in associates, impairment of goodwill, regulatory exposures and the remuneration of the
Supervisory Board and the Managing Board.

We agreed with the Supervisory Board that we would report to them any misstatement identified during our audit above €8.75 million (2020:
€6 million) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

The scope of our group audit
Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. isthe parent company of a group of entities. The financial information of this Group isincluded in the
consolidated financial statements of Cotperatieve Rabobank U.A.

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we, in aggregate, provide sufficient coverage of the financial statements for usto be ableto
give an opinion on the financial statements as awhole, considering the management structure of the Group, the nature of operations of its
components, the accounting processes and controls, and the markets in which the components of the Group operate.

In establishing the overall group audit strategy and plan, we determined the type of work required to be performed at component level by the
group engagement team and by each component auditor.

In determining the scope of the group audit, we first assessed the components that are individually financialy significant to the Group (i.e.,
significant component), namely Domestic Retail Banking Netherlands (not including Obvion and other associated entities), Wholesale and
Rural in the Netherlands (W& R) and De Lage Landen (DLL). These components were subjected to audits of their complete financial
information (full scope audit). To achieve appropriate audit coverage over the consolidated financial statements, we further selected twelve
additional components for full scope audit, audit of certain specific account balances, and specified procedures.
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In total, in performing these procedures, we achieved the following coverage on the financial statement lineitems:

Revenue 94%
Total assets 93%
Profit before tax 94%

None of the remaining components represented individually more than 2% of total group assets, profit before tax or net interest income. For
those remaining components, we performed, amongst other procedures, analytical proceduresto corroborate our assessment that there were
no significant risks of material misstatements within these components.

Group components in the Netherlands include the significant components Domestic Retail Banking, W& R, DLL, but also include Property
Development, Obvion, the Bank’s equity investment in Achmea and some other smaller components (including group components). The
group engagement team utilised the work of component teams for these entities. For componentsin the USA, Australia/New Zealand and
Brazil, we used component auditors who are familiar with the local laws and regulations to perform the audit work. Except for Achmea, all
components in scope for group reporting are audited by PwC member firms.

Where component auditors performed the work, we determined the level of involvement we needed to have in their audit work to be able to
conclude whether sufficient and appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the financial statementsasa
whole.

We issued instructions to the component audit teamsin our audit scope. These instructions included amongst others our risk assessment,
materiality and scope of the work. We explained to the component audit teams the structure of the Group, the main developments that are
relevant for the component auditors, the risks identified, the materiality levels to be applied and our global audit approach. We were in active
dialogue throughout the year with all component audit teams in scope for group reporting including upon the conclusion of their work.
During these dia ogues, we discussed the planning, risk assessment, significant accounting and audit issues identified by the component
auditors, the reports of the component auditors, the findings of their procedures and other matters which could be of relevance for the
consolidated financial statements. For the significant components, we have gained digital access to component files and performed aremote
review of selected working papers of the work performed by component auditors. With respect to Achmea, we performed a physical review
of selected working papers of the work performed.

Since the Covid-19 outbreak limited our ability to physically visit componentsin scope of group reporting this year, we conducted a series of
video conference meetings with local management along with component audit teamsin the Netherlands, USA, Australia/New Zealand and
Brazil instead of our annual physical site visits. During these meetings, we discussed the strategy and financia performance of the local
businesses, as well as the audit plan of the component auditors and execution thereof, significant audit risks and other relevant audit topics.
The active dialogues, clear communication and effective use of technology have allowed usto direct and supervise the performance of our
component teams.

The group engagement team performed the audit work on the group consolidation, IT general controls, central cost centre, financial statement
disclosures, certain specific accountsin scope and a number of complex items such as impairment allowances on loans and advances to
customers, hedge accounting, and certain other accounting matters, such as the valuation of investments in associates, part of the Bank’s
goodwill, income tax on the Dutch fiscal unity, regulatory matters and the legal provisions at the head office.

Through the procedures performed by component teams, combined with the additional procedures at group level, we have been able to obtain

sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on the Group'’s financial information, as awhole, to provide abasis for our opinion on the financial
statements.
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Rabobank has an internal audit department (Audit Rabobank) that performs operational audits, compliance audits, IT audits, loan (valuation)

audits and audits on internal control on financial reporting. We considered, in the context of Dutch Standard 610 ‘ Using the work of internal
auditors, whether we could make use of the work of Audit Rabobank and we concluded that this was appropriate in the testing of design and
operating effectiveness of certain controls (mainly relating to IT general controls, group functions, loan impairment provisioning, Domestic
Retail Banking Netherlands, Wholesale and Rural in the Netherlands), and procedures performed over individually assessed credit- impaired
loans. To arrive at this conclusion, we evaluated the competence, objectivity as well as the systematic and disciplined approach applied by
Audit Rabobank. Subsequently, we developed a detailed approach and model to make use of work of Audit Rabobank in our financial
statement audit. We were substantially and independently involved in the higher risk areas and/or in areas or procedures that require
significant judgement. During the audit process we worked closely with Audit Rabobank, had frequent status meetings and reviewed and
reperformed some of their work which confirmed our initial assessment and reliance approach.

Audit approach fraud risks

We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements due to fraud. During our audit we obtained an
understanding of the Group and its environment and the components of the system of internal control, including the risk assessment process
and the Managing Board's process for responding to the risks of fraud and monitoring the system of internal control and how the Supervisory
Board exercises oversight, as well as the outcomes. We refer to note 4.8 * Operational Risk’ in the financial statements on how the risk of
fraud is managed and mitigated by the Bank. This includes the risk assessment process and the Managing Board' s process for responding to
the risks of fraud and monitoring the system of internal control and how the Supervisory Board exercises oversight, as well as the outcomes
thereof.

As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to financial reporting fraud, misappropriation of
assets and bribery and corruption. Together with our forensic specialists, we evaluated the risk of material misstatement due to fraud to the
financial statements. We conducted interviews with both members of the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board and of others within
the Bank, including the internal audit, legal and compliance departments, to obtain an understanding of the Bank’s fraud risk assessment and
of the processes for identifying and responding to the risks of fraud and the internal controls that the Managing Board has established to
mitigate these risks. As described in the auditing standards, management override of controls and risk of fraud in revenue recognition are
presumed risks of fraud. Inherently, management of a company isin aunique position to perpetrate fraud because of management’s ability to
manipul ate accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating
effectively. We addressed this risk of management override of controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of biasin
management’s estimates and judgements that may represent arisk of material misstatement due to fraud (we refer in this respect to the key
audit matters ‘impairment allowances on loans and advances to customers and ‘regulatory and client care exposures).

The audit procedures to respond to the assessed risks include, amongst others, evaluation of the design and the implementation of internal
controls that intend to mitigate fraud risks (such as processing and review of journal entries), back testing of prior year's estimates, and
procedures on unexpected journal entries with the support of data analytics. Furthermore, we paid attention to significant transactions outside
the normal course of business. With regards to the risk of fraud in revenue recognition, based on our risk assessment procedures, we
concluded that thisrisk isrelated to revenue recognition in areas that are more complex, non-systematic or manual in nature such as fee and
commission income in the Wholesale and Rural segment and Domestic Retail Banking segment, property development incomein the
Property Development segment and the valuation of equity investments held by Rabo Corporate Investments. We instructed our component
auditors to perform procedures over thisrisk, including evaluation of the design and implementation of relevant internal controls, and
procedures over revenue recognition such as testing a sample of fees and commissions to ensure that the income recorded is accurate and had
occurred, cut-off proceduresto identify potential shifts in property development income, and the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies, inputs and assumptions applied in the valuation of equity investments. We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our
audit. We also considered the outcome of our other audit procedures and evaluated whether any findings were indicative of fraud or non-
compliance.
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Finaly, as part of our procedures we had dial ogues throughout the year with the Rabobank Financial and Economic Crime (FEC) team. The

FEC team investigates, amongst others, reported internal integrity, whistleblowing and fraud matters. We assessed the process which the
Bank hasin place. This assessment included: assessing the skills of the investigators, the investigation approach and based on risk-based
criteriawe selected a number of these individual cases, and reviewed the documentation, conclusions, reporting and responses from the FEC
team. We involved our forensic speciaistsin these procedures.

This did not lead to indications of fraud potentially resulting in material misstatements.

Audit approach to non-compliance with laws and regulations

The objectives of our audit, with respect to non-compliance with laws and regulations are:
to identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements due to non- compliance with laws and regulations;
and
to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements, taken as awhole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error when considering the applicable legal and regulatory framework.

In line with Dutch Standard 250 we made in our audit approach a distinction between those laws and regulations which:
have adirect effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosuresin the financia statements. For this category, we
obtained amongst others audit evidence regarding compliance with the provision of those laws and regulations; and
do not have adirect effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, but where compliance
may be fundamental to the operating aspects of the business. Those include amongst others the Bank's ability to continue its business
or to avoid materia penalties. For this category, we performed specific audit procedures to identify non- compliance with those laws
and regulations that may have amaterial effect on the financial statements, as described in the key audit matter: ‘regulatory and client
care exposures.’

The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of non-compliance with laws and regulations lies with the Managing Board with
the oversight of the Supervisory Board.

Audit approach on going concern
Asdisclosed in paragraph ‘ Going concern’ in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the Managing Board performed their assessment of the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern for the foreseeabl e future and has not identified events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern (hereafter: going concern risks). Our procedures to evaluate management’s going
concern assessment include, amongst others:
Considering whether the Managing Board' s going concern assessment includes all relevant information of which we are aware asa
result of our audit.
Understanding and evaluating the Bank’s medium-term planning and budget process (including the Group’s funding plan),
specifically for the next twelve months.
Understanding and evaluating the Group's financial position and stress testing of liquidity and regulatory capital requirements,
including the severity of the stress scenarios that were applied.
Considering the results of our (other) risk assessment procedures and related activities performed to identify events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Performing inquiries of the Managing Board as to their knowledge of going concern risks beyond the period of their assessment.
Reading and evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures in paragraph ‘ Going concern’ in note 2.1 to the financial statementsin
relation to going concern.

Our procedures did not result in outcomes contrary to the Managing Board' s assumptions and judgements used in the application of the going
concern assumption.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance to the audit of the financial statements. We
have communicated the key audit matters to the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive
reflection of all matters that were identified by our audit and that we discussed. In this section we described the key audit matters and
included a summary of the audit procedures we performed on those matters.

As compared to last year, there have been no changes in key audit matters, except that the key audit matter
on regulatory exposures this year also covers client care exposures. The key audit matters described below
are mostly related to the nature of the Group and are therefore expected to occur every year. We took the
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic into consideration in the audit procedures we performed on these key
audit matters. These are described in more detail in the individual key audit matters below.

Key audit matter Our audit work and observations
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Impairment allowances on loans and advances to customers
Refer to note 2.16 ‘ Impairment allowances on financial assets
', note 4.3.4 ‘Impairment alowances on financial assets and
credit related contingent liabilities and note 11 ‘Loans and
advances to customers.

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9, Rabobank
calculated the impairment allowances on loans and advances
to customers using a three-stage expected credit loss
impairment model. Rabobank determined loan impairmentsin
stage 1 and 2 on a modelled basis whereas the |oan
impairments in stage 3 are determined on either amodelled
basis or on a specific loan-by-loan basis.

Modelled loan impairments

For the modelled loan impairments, Rabobank utilised point
in time probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD)
and exposures at default (EAD) models for the mgjority of the
loan portfolio. Three macro economic scenarios (consisting of
abasdline, abaseline minus and a baseline plus scenario)
were incorporated into these models and probability weighted
in order to determine the expected credit losses. The increased
degree of estimation uncertainty due to economic impacts of
Covid-19 in devel oping macroeconomic scenarios including
the associated weightings given the range of potential
economic outcome and suitability of models used during
Covid-19 have led to a high degree of management
judgement.

To date Rabobank’s models do not (yet) specifically measure
or quantify the impact of risk resulting from transitional or
physical climate change impact into the credit risk provisions.
Furthermore, the Bank does consider the impact of
transitional or physical climate risks on the credit rating
setting of certain counterparties. Also, the Bank considers the
need for top level adjustmentsin specific sectors and regions
in response to extreme climate conditions.

In case of data quality issues, or when unexpected external
developments were not sufficiently covered by the outcome
of the impairment models, adjustments were made (so called
top level adjustments). This year, in addition to other
adjustments, top level adjustments are recognized in relation
to Covid-19 and climate exposure for the following matters:

An adjustment of €458 million to reflect the risk of
expected further defaults related to Covid-19. Based on
management’s judgement, the IFRS 9 model outcome
related to business loans did not appropriately reflect the
increase in credit risk as the government support
measures have postponed to a certain extent the direct
financial impact of the lockdown measures for most of
the clients;

An adjustment of €30 million for sectors which are
assessed as vulnerable sectors by Rabobank, based on a
post Covid-19 credit risk sector assessment. All
exposures are moved to stage 2 to reflect the long-term
challenging conditions and reflect the significant
increase in credit risk (‘SICR’); and

Control design and operation effectiveness

We evaluated the design and tested the operating

effectiveness of key controls over:
Theinternal credit management process to assess the
loan quality classification to identify impaired loans;
The assessment of the future cash flows and existence
and valuation of collateral, based on the appropriate use
of key parameters for the specific impairment allowance;
The methodology and controls applied in measuring and
determining significant increase in credit risk;
The governance over development, validation,
calibration and implementation of the PD, EAD and
LGD impairment models; and
Thereview and approval process that management hasin
place for the outputs of the impairment models, and the
top level adjustments that are applied to model outputs.

The majority of these controls were designed and operated
effectively. For certain controls, remedial control activities
and impact assessments were performed by management.
Based on the testing of controls and additional testing of
remedial actions, we determined that it was appropriate to
place reliance on the above controls for the purpose of our
audit.

Assessment of model-based impairment allowances

We have tested management’s process for model-based
impairment allowance, including their consideration of the
economic disruption caused by Covid-19. We (together with
our internal model experts) have:

Evaluated the reasonableness of PD and LGD model
methodology;

Assessed model validation reports prepared by Rabobank
’s model validation department;

Together with our internal economist office, evaluated
the reasonabl eness of management’ s inputs and
assumptions used in the design of multiple future
macroeconomic scenarios, the forecasted
macroeconomic variables, the probability weights
assigned to the scenarios including evaluation of the
consistency of these assumptions with external market
and industry data;

Performed back testing procedures on key model
parameters as at 31 December 2020; and

Evaluated the reasonableness of the prepayment rate
applied in the EAD calculations based on historical
prepayments.

Based on the above we assessed the methodology in line with
industry practice and the inputs to be reasonable.

Finally, we evaluated the top level adjustments as at 31
December 2021 by obtaining supporting evidence, evaluating
alternative and contradictory information that these
adjustments were necessary to balance underlying model and
datalimitations. Specificaly, for thetop level adjustments
recognized in relation to Covid-19, we have exercised
professional scepticism in our audit given the significance and
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An adjustment of €3.6 million for additional credit risks
due to changing climate conditions.
In addition, two other important top level adjustments have
been recognized: one as aresult of IFRS 9 model back test
results and one for the expected impact of new legislation
(Wet Homol ogatie Onderhands Akkoord) .

Individually assessed credit-impaired loans

For credit-impaired loans that are assessed on an individual
basis, the impairment allowance is based on the weighted
average of the net present value of expected future cash flows
(including forward looking information and the valuation of
underlying collateral) in three different scenarios: a
sustainable cure, an optimizing scenario and aliquidation
scenario.

Judgements and estimation uncertainty
The judgement and estimation uncertainty in the impairment
allowance of loans and advances is primarily linked to the
following aspects:
Judgement is required to determine significant increase
in credit risk which is applied to transfer assets from
stage 1 to stage 2;
Judgement is required in complex models such as the
probability of default (PD) and loss given default (LGD)
that are used to estimate expected credit losses,
Judgement is required to determine exposures at default
(EAD) which takes into account expected changes due to
prepayments;
Judgement is required as part of preparing the probability
weighting used in the macroeconomic scenarios applied
in the modelled loan impairments, including impacts
from Covid-19;
Judgement isrequired as part of determination of top
level adjustments to the outcome of models due to
unexpected external developments or data quality or to
reflect therisk of expected further defaults due to Covid-
19;
Judgement is required in estimating the impact of
transitional or physical climate related risks on expected
future cash flows; and
Judgement is required for the estimation of the expected
future cash flows and the weighting of the three
scenarios for credit-impaired loans and advances that are
assessed on an individual basis.

Given the significance of the number of accounting policy
choices, judgements taken by management, the complexity
and the inherent limitations to the inputs required by the loan
impairment models, this areais subject to a higher risk of
material misstatement due to error or fraud. Therefore, we
considered this a key audit matter in our audit.
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subjective nature of these top level adjustments. In doing so,

we challenged management to consider multiple scenarios and
information such as historical analysis, sensitivity analysis
and liquidity analysis per sector. Also, together with our
internal economist office, we evaluated the reasonableness of
management’s assessment of vulnerable sectorsincluding
evaluation of the consistency with external market and
industry data. We found the provided supporting evidence to
be reasonable in the determination of the impairment
alowances on loans and advances to customers. As part of
our audit procedures, we considered the risk of management
bias, for this estimation but also together with other
estimations, and concluded that the resulting impairment
alowances are not indicative of such bias.

In response to the impact of risk resulting from climate
change on credit risk, we evaluated both corroborative and
contradictory information on whether climate related
adjustments were necessary to balance underlying model and
data limitations. For that purpose, we evaluated managements
risk analysis of the potential impact change on certain client
sectors. Furthermore, we performed inquiry with both
management at group level and management in the main
territories. We also evaluated other information gathered from
our audit procedures, such as the assessment of the top level
adjustments relating to climate risk, and our assessment of
client rating settings on certain client exposures.

Assessment of individually assessed credit- impaired loans
Considering the inherent estimation risk of individually
credit-impaired loans, we selected appropriate samples and
analysed the |latest developments at the borrowers and
considered whether the key judgements and significant
estimates applied in the impairment allowance were
acceptable for 31 December 2021. Thisincluded the
following procedures:

Evaluating the reasonableness of the forecasted cash
flows (including the use of forward-looking information)
for each scenario by comparing them to historical
performance of the customer and evidence (such as
collateral values) to support forecasted cashflows;
Assessing the external collateral valuator's credentials
that we challenge with an independent valuation
performed by our valuation experts, for a sample of
loans; and

Assessing management’ s analysis of the probability
allocation of each individual scenario for each credit-
impaired loan, corroborate with the actual facts and
circumstances.

Based on the above, we assessed the methodology and inputs
to bein line with market and industry practice in the
determination of the impairment allowances on loans and
advances to customers.

We also evaluated whether the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements are adequate and in accordance with
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IFRS-EU. We found the disclosures to be appropriate in this
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Regulatory and client care exposures
Refer to note 4.10 ‘Legal and Arbitration Proceedings.

Completeness of identification of emerging compliance areas
We identified that the risk of non-compliance with laws and
regulations on one hand relates to laws and regulations which
have an indirect impact on the financia statements, such as
Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorist Financing Act
(Wwft) (inclusive regulations onAnti-Money Laundering
(AML) in other territories relevant for Rabobank, Counter
Terrorist Financing (CTF) and sanctions, Know Y our
Customer (KYC)), Market Abuse Regulation, Marketsin
Financial Instruments Directive Il (MiFID Il —including
transaction reporting),the General Data Protection Regulation
(GDPR), the Capital Requirements Regulations (CRR) and
Capital Requirements Directive IV (CRD 1V).

On the other hand, the risk of non-compliance with laws and
regulations may also have a direct effect on the financial
statements. In this respect, Rabobank disclosed in note 4.10
Legal and Arbitration Proceedings that on 23 December 2021
the Bank received an instruction from DNB in response to the
Bank’s ongoing non-compliance with AML and KYC
regulations. DNB informed the Bank that a separate punitive
enforcement procedure would commence in this respect.
Furthermore, the Bank recorded a provision of €249 million
to cover for the incremental costs to resolve backlog filesin
client due diligence and transaction monitoring.

Also, the Bank disclosed in note 4.10 ‘ Legal and Arbitration
Proceedings that it did not consistently adjust the interest rate
of certain consumer credit products in accordance with the
reference rate selected by Kifid. Therefore, Rabobank
recorded a provision of

€333 million to compensate part of its clients with certain
consumer credit products with avariable interest rate.

Management judgement

The recognition and measurement of provisions and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities require considerable
management judgement around the future outcome of further
punitive actions, client care and regulatory investigations,
including the provision of €249 million to cover for the
incremental costs to resolve backlog files in client due
diligence and transaction monitoring and the provision of €
333 million in relation to client compensation for certain
consumer credit products with avariable interest rate.

Given the inherent uncertainty and the judgemental nature, we
determined the provisions and disclosures on contingent
liahilities due to non-compliance with laws and regulations to
be of particular importance to our audit, since thisareais
subject to a higher risk of material misstatement due to error
or fraud including to what extent there is evidence of
management bias. Therefore, we determined this to be akey
audit matter in our audit.
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General

We obtained an understanding of the significant laws and
regulations with which the Bank must follow to comply and
how it isinstituting and operating appropriate systems of
internal control to comply with those laws and regulations.

Soecific audit procedures to identify non-compliance with
those laws and regulations that may have a material effect on
the financial statements.

We had dialogues with members of the Managing Board on a
regular basis to understand emerging and potential regulatory
exposures. We challenged management’s view on these
regulatory exposures based upon our knowledge and
experience of emerging industry trends and the regulatory
environment.

To identify potential regulatory investigations that could lead
to the need for potential new provisions or disclosuresin the
financial statements, we read the Bank's relevant
correspondence with its key regulators being: the Autoriteit
Financiéle Markten (AFM), the DNB, the Federal Reserve
Bank (FRB) and the European Central Bank (ECB). Also, we
met on atrilateral and bilateral basis with the joint
supervisory team of DNB and ECB during the year.

We read the minutes of the Managing Board and the
Supervisory Board meetings and attended all Risk and Audit
Committee meetings throughout the year up to the signing
date of our auditor's report. We held regular bilateral
meetings with the chairs of the Supervisory Board, Audit
Committee and Risk Committee.

We inquired with the internal compliance department to
understand the risk position of each new as well as existing
regulatory investigations and reviewed reports and
assessments of the Bank’s internal audit department relating
to compliance with laws and regulations.

From our audit work, we noted that there are specific
programs in place that aim to improve AML and KYC
processes throughout the Group. These programs are also
connected to the regulatory investigations related to AML and
KY C in the Netherlands (including the instruction received
from the DNB) and the USA. We obtained an understanding
of the initiatives which are part of these programs through
reading of program deliverables, inquiry of the program
owners, Managing Board, Audit Committee, reading
correspondence with AFM, DNB, Federal Reserve and ECB
related to these matters and discussed the outcomes of audits
performed by the Bank’s internal audit department with
respect to AML and KYC.

With respect to the provision to cover for the incremental
costs to resolve backlog files in client due diligence and
transaction monitoring and the provision in relation to client
compensation for certain consumer credit products with a
variable interest rate we performed audit procedures to assess
the accuracy and completeness of these provisions, including
validating key assumptions and source data. Also, we
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Design and effectiveness of IT general controls

The Bank’s operations and financial reporting system are
heavily dependent on IT systems, including automated
accounting procedures and IT dependent manual controls. The
Information Technology general controls (ITGCs) over IT
systems include:

the framework of governance over IT systems;

controls over program development and changes;
controls over access to programs, dataand IT operations;
and

governance over generic and privileged user accounts.

ITGCs help determine the continued reliability of information
generated by applications and ensure automated applications
operate effectively in aconsistent manner. Effective ITGCs
are conditional for reliance on automated controlsin the Bank
's operations, and in our audit approach. Deficienciesin
ITGCs could have a pervasive impact across the Bank’s
internal control framework and may provide opportunities to
commit fraud.

The Bank has a number of long-term strategic regulatory and
transformation projects, with important 1 T-components to
continue to meet the high reporting standards and
expectations from stakeholders relating to operating
effectiveness, efficiency and data quality.

During system transitions there is an increased risk that
ITGCs are not operated as intended. With the shift from
working on-site to a remote working environment, the Bank
managed to enhance its security policies supporting a larger
workforce working remotely.

Therefore, we identified the Bank’s IT general controlsas a
key audit matter.
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assessed to what extent there was evidence of bias by

management in determining both these provisions.

Finally, we assessed the disclosures that were made in
highlighting the uncertainties and exposures of contingent
liabilities due to non-compliance with laws and regulations.
When doing so, we paid specific attention to the disclosure on
the further punitive action in response to the instruction
received from DNB and the disclosure on application

of the variable interest rate conditions for certain products
included in note 4.10 ‘Legal and Arbitration Proceedings of
thefinancia statements.

Our procedures included evaluating and testing the design and
operating effectiveness of certain controls over the continued
integrity of the IT systemsthat are relevant to financial
reporting, focusing on:
Entity level controls over information technology in the
IT organisation, including I'T governance, IT risk
management and cybersecurity management;
Management of access to programs and data, including
user access to the network, access to and authorizations
within applications and privileged access rightsto
applications, databases and operating systems. Asthe
Bank uses automated tools to manage access rights, we
have evaluated the appropriate use of these tools and
tested the correct operation of these tools;
Governance over the strategic I T transformation projects
and assessment of the impact on our 2021 audit;
Management of changes to applicationsand IT
infrastructure, including the change management process
and the implementation of changes in the production
systems using automated deployment mechanisms;
Computer Operations, including monitoring of batch
processing, back-up and disaster recovery testing and
incident management; and
Management of cybersecurity, through understanding of
Rabobank’ s approach to enhancing cybersecurity and
evaluating the status of the implementation in certain
critical areas.

We focused on the ITGCs to the extent relevant for the
purpose of our audit of the financia statements. Most of these
controls operated effectively. For certain controls,
specifically relating to privileged accessrightsto alimited
number of systems, remedial control actions were taken by
management. Based on the testing of controls and additional
testing of remedial control actions, we determined that we
could place reliance on these controls for the purpose of our

Report on the other information included in the annual report

The annual report contains other information. Thisincludes all information in the annual report in addition to the financial statements and our

auditor's report thereon.

Based on the procedures performed as set out below, we conclude that the other information:
is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements;
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contains al the information regarding the directors report and the other information that is required by Part 9 of Book 2 and
regarding the remuneration report required by the sections 2:135b and 2:145 subsection 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and the understanding obtained in our audit of the financial statements or
otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements.

By performing our procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 and section 2:135b subsection 7 of the Dutch Civil
Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of such procedures was substantially less than the scope of those procedures performed in our
audit of the financia statements.

The Managing Board is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the directors report and the other information in

accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board are responsible for ensuring that
the remuneration report is drawn up and published in accordance with sections 2:135b and 2:145 subsection 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements and ESEF

Our appointment

We were appointed as auditors of Cotperatieve Rabobank U.A. on 18 June 2015 by the Supervisory Board following the passing of a
resolution by the members at the General Members Council held on 18 June 2015. Thiswas our sixth year as auditors of Cobperatieve
Rabobank U.A., with an annual renewal subject to approval by the General Members Council.

European Single Electronic Format (ESEF)

Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. has prepared the annual report, including the financial statements, in ESEF. The requirements for this format
are set out in the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 with regard to regulatory technical standards on the specification of a
single electronic reporting format (these requirements are hereinafter referred to as: the RTS on ESEF).

In our opinion, the annual report prepared in XHTML format, including the partially marked-up consolidated financial statements as included
in the reporting package by Cotperatieve Rabobank U.A., complies, in al material respects with the RTS on ESEF.

The Managing Board is responsible for preparing the annual report, including the financial statements, in accordance with the RTS on ESEF,
whereby the Managing Board combines the various components into a single reporting package. Our responsibility isto obtain reasonable
assurance for our opinion on whether the annual report in this reporting package, complies with the RTS on ESEF.

Our procedures, taking into account Alert 43 of the NBA (Royal Netherlands I nstitute of Chartered Accountants), included amongst others:
Obtaining an understanding of the entity’s financial reporting process, including the preparation of the reporting package.
Obtaining the reporting package and performing validations to determine whether the reporting package, containing the Inline XBRL
instance document and the XBRL extension taxonomy files, has been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
technical specifications asincluded in the RTS on ESEF.
Examining the information related to the consolidated financial statements in the reporting package to determine whether all required
mark-ups have been applied and whether these are in accordance with the RTS on ESEF.

No prohibited non-audit services
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in article 5(1) of the European
Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities.

Services rendered
The services, in addition to the audit, that we have provided to the Bank and its controlled entities, for the period to which our statutory audit
relates, are disclosed in note 48 ‘ Cost of external independent auditor’ to the financial statements.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board for the financial statements

The Managing Board is responsible for:
the preparation and fair presentation of the financia statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code; and for
such internal control as the Managing Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the Managing Board is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Based on the financia reporting frameworks mentioned, the Managing Board should prepare the financial statements using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Managing Board either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations or has no
realistic alternative but to do so. The Managing Board should disclosein the financial statements any event and circumstances that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
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Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our responsibility isto plan and perform an audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for our opinion. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assuranceis a high but not absolute level of assurance, which makes it possible that we may not detect all material misstatements.
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our
opinion.

A more detailed description of our responsibilitiesis set out in the appendix to our report. Amsterdam, 8 March 2022
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.

Original has been signed by J.M. de Jonge RA
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Appendix to our auditor’s report on the financial statements 2021 of Codperatieve Rabobank
UA.

In addition to what isincluded in our auditor's report, we have further set out in this appendix our responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements and explained what an audit involves.

The auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

We have exercised professiona judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit in accordance with Dutch

Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit consisted, among other things of the following:
Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designing and
performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
Therisk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the intentional override of internal control.
Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.
Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Managing Board.
Concluding on the appropriateness of the Managing Board's use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based on the audit
evidence obtained, concluding whether a material uncertainty exists related to events and/or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ahility to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosuresin the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report and are made in the
context of our opinion on the financia statements as awhole. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease
to continue as a going concern.
Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financia statements, including the disclosures, and evaluating
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Considering our ultimate responsibility for the opinion on the consolidated financial statements, we are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. In this context, we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures for
components of the Group to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financia statements as awhole.
Determining factors are the geographic structure of the Group, the significance and/or risk profile of group entities or activities, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit
or review of financia information or specific balances was considered necessary.

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficienciesin internal control that we identify during our audit. In this respect, we also issue an additional
report to the Audit Committee in accordance with article 11 of the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding the statutory audit of
public-interest entities. The information included in this additional report is consistent with our audit opinion in this auditor’s report.

We provide the Supervisory Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financia statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the matter isin the
public interest.
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